


800 North Lindbergh Boulevard 
St. Louis, Missouri 63167 
U.S.A. 
www.monsanto.com



MONSANTO COMPANY

A clear focus
ANNUAL 2003 REPORT



Monsanto’s 2003 performance reflects 
our fundamental strength: 

delivering the benefits of seed and trait 
improvements to farmers. 

We’re focusing on the factors we can control and 
taking decisive steps to shape our future. 

The company has a clear focus on the businesses, 
the technologies, and the performance goals that 

will drive future performance and growth. 

CUSTOMERS

Monsanto’s focus on 
customers is driving our 
transition to a business 
based on seeds and traits 
that deliver solutions 
to farmers.
page 6

MARKET LEADERSHIP

To maintain market 
leadership for our seeds,
traits, and Roundup
herbicide, we’re focusing 
on key markets, products, 
and crops.
page 8

PIPELINE

Our genomics-based research
and development program 
is generating a rich product
pipeline, which allows us to
focus on the most promising 
product candidates.
page 10
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FINANCIAL YEAR CHANGES
In July 2003, Monsanto’s board of directors changed Monsanto’s
fiscal year end from Dec. 31 to Aug. 31. This change aligns 
our fiscal year with the seasonal nature of our business. In 
this annual report (pages 1–16), in order to provide com-
parable 12-month data, we present financial information for 
12-month periods ended Aug. 31. In accordance with guidelines
established by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
our Form 10-K (which follows page 16) provides financial 
information for the eight-month transition period, Jan. 1 to 
Aug. 31, 2003.
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Dear Shareowners: This has been a milestone year for our company.
Like other years, this year included some significant developments
and highlights. But 2003 has been especially important for
Monsanto shareowners because this was the year we saw our busi-
ness make the transition from a company led by Roundup herbicide
to a company based on seeds and traits. 

This evolution of our business was carefully planned; we’ve been
working toward it for some time. In 2003, the concept became 
reality. 

Importantly, the transition has also brought a
clear focus on implementation. We’ve been deci-
sive: We have taken action that reduces uncertainty
in our business. We’ve been strategic: We have
concentrated on the priorities to drive growth in
the mid-term. We’ve been disciplined: We have
set goals and delivered on them. 

The result was a milestone year — one that
established a benchmark for growth in the years
to come.

A CLEAR FOCUS

LETTER TO SHAREOWNERS

GROSS PROFIT TRANSITION
in millions for years ended Aug. 31

■ Seeds and traits
■  Roundup herbicide
■  All other products
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DECISIVENESS DRIVES 
OUR BUSINESS EVOLUTION

The goals we set for ourselves — both strategic and financial
— were intended to drive our evolution and to reinforce the
discipline required to guide a company in transition. 

The logical question, then, is: How are we doing? 

With 2003, we’re off to a good start. Our gross profit from
seeds and traits passed that of Roundup — a clear milestone.
Even more significantly, our seeds and traits business gener-
ated positive EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes). For the
first time, this business paid its own SG&A (selling, general and
administrative) and R&D (research and development) costs

and demonstrated its growth
potential.

Part of making our transi-
tion a reality was the decision
to change our fiscal year end
from Dec. 31 to Aug. 31.
With our current evolution
well under way, it became
clear that our business would
benefit from better synchro-
nizing our finances with the
natural flow of the major agri-
cultural markets. 

Importantly, our business
evolution has been underpinned with an emphasis on financial
discipline. This approach encompasses our commitment to
making tough, strategic decisions that turn our business strat-
egy into solid financial results. 

We’ve taken a mid-term (three- to five-year) view, focusing
on generating cash and reducing our SG&A costs on Roundup
while delivering on our EPS (earnings per share) goals. 

In fiscal year 2003, our free cash flow (the total of cash
flows from operations and investing activities) was $646 mil-
lion, compared with $581 million in fiscal year 2002. A technol-
ogy company with solid cash flow is a rare thing. With some of
the cash generated this year, we were able to help settle Solutia
Inc.’s long-running PCB (polychlorinated biphenyl) litigation in
Anniston, Alabama, while still
increasing dividends and initi-
ating a three-year $500 million
share repurchase program.

We also went back to
basics. We scrutinized our
cost structures across our
product lines in every world
region. In October, we
announced actions that are
designed to bring our costs
for the Roundup business —
as a percentage of sales —
from the low 20s to the high

teens by the end of fiscal year
2006. This decision was not
easy, but we believe it will 
be worthwhile in reducing
risk and helping to maximize
the mid-term prospects for
Roundup. 

We renewed our focus on
our technology platform. Our
success in generating poten-
tial product leads in our
pipeline has given us the flex-
ibility to focus on the ones
that offer the best commer-
cial potential. We decided to exit a few areas that posed unac-
ceptable capital risks or no longer fit our company
strategically. These were difficult choices, but they ensure that
our research and development dollars get the most return.

During 2003, we also made decisions that are intended to
allow our business to move forward despite uncertain mar-
kets. We re-examined the situations in Brazil and the European
Union. We are now focusing on the processes we can affect
rather than waiting for rulings that are often delayed and dis-
appointing. This is something we will continue to do. We will be
proactive, rather than reactive to legal or political maneuvers.

STRATEGY TURNS 
PRODUCTS INTO PROFITS

In the mid-term, our growth will come from successfully man-
aging the maturing Roundup business while accelerating our
technology-rich seeds and traits business. 

We believe that our business can achieve a compounded
annual growth rate of 10 percent in fiscal years 2005 and
2006. We consider this an achievable goal, and a significant
growth rate for a business that sits at the intersection of a
mature industry and a specialized technology sector. 

Here are a few measures of success we’ve focused on to
drive this mid-term growth:

MAINTAINING GROWTH IN THE SEEDS AND TRAITS BUSINESS. In fis-
cal year 2004, we expect this business sector to generate
$1.2 billion in gross profit, which will drive continued
EBIT growth in 2004 and beyond. The growth in the seeds
and traits business will be driven primarily by products
with two or more stacked traits and important second-
generation biotech products. Recently, YieldGard Plus
corn — combining protection against the European corn
borer and corn rootworm — became the first product with
stacked insect-protection traits to be granted a commer-
cial registration in the United States.

MANAGING THE EXPECTED CONTINUED DECLINE OF THE ROUNDUP
BUSINESS TO STABILIZATION. In the next year, we believe that
there will be further price and share declines for Roundup
in the United States. During the mid-term, our priority is

LETTER TO SHAREOWNERS

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
for years ended Aug. 31

01 02 03

0

$0.26

$(6.67)

$1.15

FREE CASH FLOW (1)

in millions for years ended Aug. 31

$646

$581

$75

01 02 03

NET SALES
in millions for years ended Aug. 31

01 02 03

$4,936

$4,940

$5,333
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LETTER TO SHAREOWNERS

2003 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years ended Aug. 31 (in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 Change

Operating Results
Net Sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,936 $ 4,940 0 %
EBIT (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 183 $ 137 34 %
Net Income (Loss)  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68 $(1,756) NM
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.26 $ (6.67) NM
Income Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change  . . . . . . . . $ 80 $ 66 21 %
Diluted Earnings per Share Before Cumulative Effect 

of Accounting Change . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.31 $ 0.25 24 %
Other Selected Data

Free Cash Flow (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 646 $ 581 11 %
Capital Expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 206 $ 257 (20)%
Depreciation and Amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 453 $ 490 (8)%
Diluted Shares Outstanding  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 261.8 263.3 (1)%

See inside back cover for footnotes 1 and 2 above and in charts on pages 2 and 6.
NM = Not Meaningful

managing the Roundup business to achieve U.S. market
price and market share stability.

IMPLEMENTING COST-REDUCTION ACTIONS. The cost-manage-
ment actions in our Roundup business and realignment of
pipeline priorities will be fully accounted for by the end of
fiscal year 2004. These actions should help achieve cost
savings of $0.31 to $0.36 per share in fiscal year 2005, and
$0.34 to $0.40 per share in fiscal year 2006.

LEVERAGING OUR RICH PIPELINE. Our pipeline continues to be
a core strength. Our research into second-generation
products and consumer-oriented output traits is gaining
momentum. We expect to launch traits with improved
health benefits in this mid-term range.

DISCIPLINE KEEPS OUR 
FOCUS ON THE FUTURE

We don’t take growth for granted. For instance, it’s clear that
controversy continues to surround biotechnology in many
parts of the world. There is concern with potential risks and
fear of the unknown. We accept that. However, we also believe
very strongly in the benefits biotechnology has to offer — to
farmers, to consumers, to the environment, and to our com-
pany and shareowners. 

We thoroughly understand that companies operating in
areas of new technology have a societal responsibility in addi-
tion to technological and financial responsibilities. At
Monsanto, we recognize that the technologies we develop to
help farmers are more likely to be successful if they deliver
broader benefits to society.

We accomplished a lot in 2003. That work sets the stage
for us to move forward as a focused, technology-driven seeds
and traits company. Our culture will inevitably shift as our
business evolves, but our core values and commitment to our
Pledge principles — dialogue, transparency, respect, sharing,
benefits — remain constant. 

As we wrap up our fiscal year 2003, I want to thank Frank
AtLee for his service to our company as the interim president
and chief executive officer for several months this year. I’m
personally indebted to Frank for the guidance he offered and
the discipline he brought to our company during that transi-
tional time.

Our company is on the leading edge of a technology that is
revolutionizing agriculture. Right now, Monsanto is squarely in
the midst of a transition that will see greater emphasis on our
seeds and traits business — a technology portfolio that we
believe has finally come into its own and will be the future of
this company. 

On behalf of Monsanto’s more than 13,000 employees, 
I want you to know that we will keep that promise for our
business and for agriculture. Thank you for investing in our
company.

Hugh Grant
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Nov. 25, 2003



MONSANTO AT A GLANCE

®

SALES BY 
BUSINESS 
SEGMENT
by percent

Seeds and 
Genomics
Agricultural
Productivity

SALES BY 
GEOGRAPHIC 
REGION
by percent

North America
Latin America
Europe-Africa
Asia-Pacific

BIOTECHNOLOGY
TRAIT ACREAGE
BY CROP 
by percent

Soybean traits
Corn traits
Cotton traits
Canola traits

MONSANTO AT A GLANCE

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

SEEDS AND GENOMICS
The Seeds and Genomics
segment consists of global
businesses in seeds and
related biotechnology traits,
and technology platforms
based on plant genomics, the
science of studying and using
the genes in living plants. 

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY
Our Agricultural Productivity
segment consists of
Roundup and other herbi-
cides, our lawn-and-garden
herbicide business, and our
animal agriculture business. 

Monsanto branded and 
licensed seeds hold the 

No.1 or No.2
position in key corn and 
soybean seed markets in 

North America, Latin America, 
and Asia. 

Monsanto is the world leader 

in biotechnology crops. 

Seeds with 

MONSANTO TRAITS 

ACCOUNTED FOR 

MORE THAN 90 PERCENT OF 

THE ACRES WORLDWIDE 

planted with herbicide-tolerant or 

insect-protected crops in 2003.

Monsanto’s acetanilide-based 

SELECTIVE HERBICIDES HOLD

THE NO. 2 U.S. POSITION

for control of grassy weeds in corn.

ROUNDUP REMAINS 
THE WORLD’S 

NO. 1
SELLING HERBICIDE. 

Monsanto products increase the
productivity and meat quality of
swine genetics lines. 

KEY MARKET POSITIONS

Monsanto is a leading provider of agricultural products and solutions. We use unparalleled innovation
in plant biotechnology, genomics and breeding to improve productivity and to reduce the costs of
farming. We produce leading seed brands, including DEKALB and Asgrow, and we develop biotech-
nology traits that integrate insect control and weed control into the seed itself. We make Roundup,
the world’s best-selling herbicide, and other herbicides, which can be combined with our seeds and
traits to offer farmers integrated solutions. Through our Holden’s/Corn States business, we also pro-
vide other seed companies with genetic material and biotechnology traits for their seed brands. We
manage our business in two segments: Seeds and Genomics, and Agricultural Productivity.
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POSILAC bovine somatotropin is the 
LARGEST-SELLING DIARY-RELATED PRODUCT
in the animal health industry worldwide.



MONSANTO AT A GLANCE
KEY PRODUCTS

BUSINESS POSITION
2003 HIGHLIGHTS

OUTLOOK

Monsanto serves farmers 
with high-quality, brand-name
seeds, such as DEKALB and
Asgrow. We also use a broad,
high-quality collection of
genetic material called
germplasm to develop 
new varieties that we license
through our Holden’s/Corn
States business.

Monsanto develops and pro-
duces seeds with top per-
formance and quality.
Monsanto’s branded and
licensed seeds hold leading
positions in key corn and soy-
bean seed markets. Our plant
breeding, including genomics-
based marker-assisted breed-
ing (MAB), drives strong yield
gains in seeds. Farmers rate
Monsanto seed No. 1 in over-
all quality.

Monsanto’s brands of corn
gained one point in U.S. mar-
ket share in 2003, after a 
two-point gain in 2002. MAB
continued to produce yield
gains in corn at double the
conventional breeding rate.
We launched corn hybrids
that yield more ethanol per
bushel than ordinary corn.

Monsanto’s seed business 
will continue to focus on 
major crops, including corn,
soybeans and cotton. MAB is
expected to have an increas-
ing effect on yield gains in
commercial corn and soybean
seeds. We intend to continue
to support strong seed brands
and to license germplasm 
and traits to seed partners.

Biotechnology traits, such 
as herbicide tolerance in
Roundup Ready soybeans
and insect protection in
YieldGard corn, enable 
farmers to produce crops 
more efficiently. Monsanto
traits help farmers reduce
their tillage and their 
pesticide use.

Having set the industry stand-
ard for insect-protection and
herbicide-tolerance traits, we
hold the competitive advan-
tage in delivering improved,
second-generation traits, as
well as seeds with two or
more traits. Our strong germ-
plasm base in both branded
and licensed businesses
allows us to launch our trait
products in the varieties and
hybrids farmers want most.

Launches included 
Bollgard II cotton in
Australia and the United
States, YieldGard Corn Borer
corn in the Philippines, and
YieldGard Rootworm corn 
in the United States. U.S.
acreage of Roundup Ready
corn grew by 50 percent.

Our plan for mid-term growth
involves both second-genera-
tion and stacked-trait prod-
ucts (including the first
triple-stack product) and 
the expansion of existing
products in approved mar-
kets. The pipeline includes
output traits that produce
healthier foods and other 
consumer benefits. 

Roundup is a nonselective
herbicide widely used
because of its efficacy and
environmental profile. It is
the herbicide of choice for
conservation tillage and for
use over the top of Roundup
Ready crops, which are
improved through biotechnol-
ogy to tolerate Roundup.

Monsanto is focused on main-
taining the market leadership
and brand position of
Roundup. We’re responding
to intense competition 
by continuing to develop
improved formulations and 
by reducing marketing infra-
structure commensurate with
price and share declines.

Roundup Original MAX was
launched for the 2004 growing
season. It offers both Roundup
brand quality and service 
and certain elements of the
Roundup Rewards extended
benefits package. It comple-
ments premium Roundup
WeatherMAX, which was
introduced for 2003.

The postpatent performance
of Roundup in the United
States is expected to follow
the global pattern, where 
we have maintained market
leadership in the face of
intense competition. We
intend to support Roundup
through expansion of
Roundup Ready crops.

Selective herbicides, such as
Harness Xtra, Machete, and
Maverick, control specific
weeds in corn, rice and wheat.
Animal agriculture products
improve dairy cow productiv-
ity and swine genetics. We
also produce lawn-and-garden
herbicide products for the
residential market.

Posilac bovine somatotropin
is the largest-selling product
in its field. It makes a signifi-
cant contribution to gross
profit. Our selective herbi-
cides complement our ability
to offer integrated solutions,
particularly in corn produc-
tion. Most crop protection
chemicals face declining 
markets and competitive
pressures. 

The new bulk powder pro-
duction facility for Posilac
was approved by the U.S.
Food and Drug Administra-
tion. New retail outlets and
national television advertising
helped drive lawn-and-garden
sales higher.

We believe that new product
formulations and more effi-
cient manufacturing capacity
can support the growth of
Posilac. We expect our lawn-
and-garden herbicide busi-
ness to remain a strong 
cash generator and to support
Monsanto’s brand equity 
in the marketplace.

SEEDS AND GENOMICS AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY

SEEDS TRAITS ROUNDUP HERBICIDE
OTHER AGRICULTURAL
PRODUCTIVITY PRODUCTS
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Monsanto has a clear focus
on the businesses, the technologies, 

and the performance goals 
that will drive growth.

A CLEAR FOCUS

Monsanto is transforming agriculture by harnessing the power
of biotechnology, genomics, and breeding to create new solu-
tions for farmers. Our business is increasingly focused on
seeds and traits as a means of delivering these solutions to our
customers. We’re continually improving our products to main-
tain market leadership and to support near-term performance.
Our biotechnology research is generating a rich product
pipeline that will drive long-term growth.

CUSTOMERS
OUR SEEDS AND TRAITS MODEL FOCUSES

ON FARMERS’ DECISIONS.

Monsanto built its business model on the way farmers make
decisions. We’re developing technology that is helping them
transform the way they manage their farms. That strategy is
leading Monsanto’s transition to a business based on seeds
and traits.

Farmers demand products that provide value and that are
effective and simple to use. Monsanto has led the industry in
developing seeds improved with traits to meet multiple
grower needs. For example, we integrate insect protection
and weed control into the seed itself. These seeds not only
simplify farming; they reflect and reinforce the fact that far-
mers are making more of their decisions for the growing sea-
son when they purchase seed. In the United States and other
key markets, we can provide farmers with integrated solutions
that include our seeds, traits, and Roundup herbicide. 

We built our seeds and traits strategy on the advanced
genomics capabilities that we’ve developed to identify crop
traits and accelerate plant breeding. Then we market the new
products through the seed businesses we acquired in the late
1990s. Following this strategy, we achieved industry-leading
genetic and trait performance while reducing seed production
costs.

We offer seeds and traits to growers through our leading
DEKALB and Asgrow brands. Our skill in developing
germplasm — the genetic material used to develop new seed
varieties — drives market share gains for our seed brands and
provides a vehicle for introducing new trait products. In addi-
tion, we make germplasm and traits widely available by licens-
ing them to seed partners in markets around the world.
Monsanto germplasm is now used on more than 45 percent of
U.S. corn acres and 60 percent of U.S. soybean acres, in the
form of our branded seeds and seeds licensed through our
Holden’s/Corn States business. (See page 7.)

Seven years ago, Monsanto had the opportunity to partici-
pate in only one purchase decision made by farmers — how to
control weeds. Now that we can provide farmers with solu-
tions that address their seed, insect-control, and weed-control
needs, we can earn more of their business. Monsanto’s share
of U.S. corn farmers’ input expenditures grew from 7 percent
in 1996 to 20 percent in 2003. 

Our seeds and traits business produced positive EBIT
(earnings before interest and taxes) for the first time in fiscal
year 2003. (See graph.) As an EBIT-positive segment, the seeds
and traits business is more than covering its SG&A 
(selling, general and administrative) and R&D (research and

development) expenses. Our
focus on creating value for
farmers in seeds and traits
means that we have set
Monsanto on a path designed
to provide sustainable
growth. Increasing gross prof-
it from seeds and traits will
more than offset a declining
contribution from agricultural
chemicals.

Customers around the
world continue to value our
Roundup herbicide. Roundup

SEED AND TRAITS — EBIT (2) 
(earnings before interest 
and taxes)
in millions for years ended Aug. 31

01 02 03

0

$183

$(302)

$(423)
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A CLEAR FOCUS

MONSANTO BIOTECHNOLOGY TRAITS EARN
STRONG CUSTOMER RATINGS

ROUNDUP READY SOYBEANS 
farmers who report that they are very satisfied
or somewhat satisfied in percent
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The market success of Monsanto
biotechnology traits is exemplified by
consistently strong customer satisfac-
tion with Roundup Ready soybeans. 
In 2003, 95 percent of U.S. farmers 
surveyed who planted Roundup Ready
soybeans said they were very satis-
fied or somewhat satisfied. 

95%
CUSTOMER 
SATISFACTION

YIELDGARD ROOTWORM CORN HELPS FARMERS
CONTROL A BILLION-DOLLAR PEST 

In 2003, Monsanto was the first company to market a biotech-
nology solution for the corn rootworm, which costs U.S. farmers
about $1 billion every year. YieldGard Rootworm corn contains 
a protein from Bacillus thuringiensis (Bt), a common soil microbe
that targets corn rootworm larvae. This allows the corn plant 
to protect its roots naturally from the damaging pest. The 
in-seed solution provides better, more consistent performance
than chemicals. It produces higher yields, and it reduces farmers’
exposure to conventional insecticides. Gary Johnson (above) 
of Slayton, Minnesota, was among the U.S. farmers who 
planted 400,000 acres of YieldGard Rootworm corn in the first
commercial growing season. “In this first year with YieldGard
Rootworm, the results look very encouraging. I really like not 
having to use insecticides, and I’ve been very happy with the
yield,” said Mr. Johnson, who plans to plant YieldGard Rootworm
corn again in 2004.

MORE THAN 300 SEED PARTNERS 
PROVIDE FARMERS WITH BROAD CHOICES
Through our Holden’s/Corn States
business, Monsanto licenses seed
germplasm or biotechnology traits to
more than 300 seed partners. Our
broad licensing program ensures that
farmers can get the traits they want in
the seed varieties and hybrids they
prefer. We applied our successful corn
and soybean licensing model to cotton
— for which we currently license the
Bollgard and Roundup Ready traits —
with the establishment of our Cotton
States business in 2003. 
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A CLEAR FOCUS

remains the world’s largest-selling crop protection product,
four times as big as the next-largest. The cash generated by
Roundup helps to fund R&D and product innovations, particu-
larly in seeds and traits.

OUTLOOK

Monsanto expects to maintain near-term growth by continu-
ously improving the products we offer farmers. Key near-term
growth opportunities in seeds and traits include:

continued growth in Monsanto’s branded and licensed
seed shares through successful breeding of high-perform-
ance germplasm and continuous improvement in the quality
of our seeds; and

expansion of existing traits, especially in corn, and stack-
ing of additional traits in current biotechnology products. 

At the same time, we’ll continue to reduce seed production
costs by getting higher yields on seed production acres and by
carefully managing our seed product portfolio. 

To enhance the value of Roundup for farmers, we’ll
develop additional improved formulations. We’re introducing
Roundup Original MAX for the 2004 growing season.
Roundup Original MAX offers farmers the quality and service
they expect from the Roundup brand and certain elements of
the Roundup Rewards extended benefits package, as a com-
plement to our premium Roundup WeatherMAX.

MARKET LEADERSHIP
TO MAINTAIN OUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE, WE FOCUS ON

TECHNOLOGY, BRANDS AND RELATIONSHIPS.

We won market leadership by using our advanced technology
to develop high-value products ahead of the competition and
by reinforcing the strong brands and customer relationships
that speed their introduction into the marketplace. 

Monsanto has unparalleled experience in developing
biotechnology products, from identifying a valuable plant gene
to testing the trait in plants, to producing and commercializing

elite varieties and hybrids with
the trait. Our leadership in
biotechnology gives us a consid-
erable first-mover advantage. 

In addition, we’ve estab-
lished Monsanto as the leader in
the technology that makes it pos-
sible for farmers to produce more
food on fewer acres and to adopt
practices that preserve soil and
water quality.

SEEDS AND TRAITS. Monsanto’s successful plant breeding pro-
grams are driving strong improvement in germplasm perform-
ance and market share gains for Monsanto’s seed business.
Our branded corn seed in the United States gained one more
share point in 2003 after a two-point gain in 2002. 

Our strong seed market positions facilitate adoption of
Monsanto technology. Biotechnology crops continued to
expand in 2003, with more traits on more acres. In the United
States, corn acres with Monsanto biotechnology traits grew by
more than 20 percent. This growth included the successful
U.S. launch of YieldGard Rootworm corn (see page 7) and a
50 percent increase in acreage of Roundup Ready corn. 

Monsanto is the world leader in agricultural biotechnology.
Our traits are on more than 90 percent of global acres planted
with biotechnology crops. Global acreage of crops with our
traits grew by 11 percent in 2003, and by 56 percent over the
past three years. Biotechnology crops continue to face public
concerns and regulatory barriers in a number of countries, but
we have made progress in gaining acceptance and regulatory
approval for our products. YieldGard Corn Borer corn became
the first commercially grown biotechnology food crop in Asia,
following approval in the Philippines in 2002. 

Monsanto set the industry standard for input traits — crop
traits such as herbicide tolerance and insect protection, which
increase productivity and reduce costs for farmers. Our early
success provides a significant competitive advantage when we
deliver improved, second-generation traits and stacked-trait
products. 

Monsanto has earned a unique market position by demon-
strating that it has the complex capabilities necessary to stack
more than one trait in a seed product. With our stacked-trait
products, growers can control a broader spectrum of pests or
combine superior weed control and pest control. Farmers get
“all-in-the-seed” solutions when they make their seed purchase
decision. In 2003, acreage of stacked-trait Bollgard/Roundup
Ready cotton exceeded acreage of any of our single-trait 
cotton products. (See page 9.)

We’re commercializing second-generation traits well in
advance of competitors’ first-generation me-too products. The
first of these second-generation products is Bollgard II insect-
protected cotton. (See page 11.) Other second-generation
traits in the pipeline include:

Roundup Ready Flex cotton, which allows farmers to spray
Roundup over their cotton during more of the growing sea-
son, to enhance crop safety, yields, and grower convenience;

YieldGard II corn, which broadens the spectrum of insect
control and reduces insecticide use; and

second-generation Roundup Ready/YieldGard Rootworm
corn, which will make the insect-protection and herbicide-
tolerant traits more readily available for new hybrids and
will make it easier for our licensed seed partners to offer
farmers these stacked traits in the newest seeds available.

Monsanto is commercializing second-
generation traits — beginning with
Bollgard II insect-protected cotton —
well in advance of competitors’ first-
generation me-too products. 
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A CLEAR FOCUS

ROUNDUP READY CORN
ACREAGE GREW IN 2003 

BY APPROXIMATELY

50%
(8 million acres in 2002 to 
12 million acres in 2003). 

TRAIT STACKING
MULTIPLIES VALUE FOR
FARMERS, EXTENDS
MONSANTO’S MARKET
LEADERSHIP 

Farmers are choosing stacked-trait products to provide simple, 
all-in-the-seed solutions to their insect- and weed-control needs. 
Ben Robertson (above) plants stacked-trait Bollgard/Roundup
Ready cotton on his farm in Indianola, Mississippi. “The use of
Bollgard/Roundup Ready cotton has improved our operation 
by making it more efficient and increasing profits,” says 
Mr. Robertson. “The stacked system yields better in our area
than just having one trait.” Trait stacking is a key growth driver
in our seeds and traits business. Monsanto’s unique capabilities
in trait stacking are a competitive advantage. Other seed com-
panies are just now bringing me-too insect-control products to
market. Stacking also allows Monsanto to earn a greater share 
of the farmer’s expenditures on each acre. 

COTTON DEMONSTRATES POWER 
OF TRAIT STACKING

Stacked-trait cotton, which has
both Roundup Ready herbicide
tolerance and Bollgard insect
protection, surpassed all single-trait
cotton products in Monsanto’s product
mix in acres planted in 2003. Stacked
Bollgard/Roundup Ready cotton accounted for 
42 percent of Monsanto’s cotton trait acres, up from 
4 percent in 1997. Cotton is the bellwether for trait
stacking. The same pattern is being repeated in our
corn seed business. Overall corn trait acres grew 
25 percent in 2003, while stacked-trait acres grew
126 percent.

97 00 03

15
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9

6

3

U.S. COTTON  
WITH MONSANTO TRAITS
acres in millions

Roundup Ready cotton
Bollgard and Bollgard II

cotton
Monsanto stacked cotton
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A CLEAR FOCUS

ROUNDUP. In the United States,
the market share and the price 
of Roundup have declined as
expected since the patent expired
in 2000. In postpatent markets
around the world, Roundup has
maintained market leadership
and a premium brand position. 

We’re supporting the contin-
ued U.S. market leadership of
Roundup with product innova-

tions, superior customer service, unparalleled logistics, and
further expansion of Roundup Ready crops. We’re differenti-
ating Roundup with innovations such as more concentrated
formulations that provide greater convenience for farmers
while reducing production and logistics costs. We’re reinforc-
ing strong distribution relationships and maintaining the bulk
tank infrastructure that supports our retailers.

At the same time, we’re reducing the marketing infra-
structure for Roundup commensurate with pricing and share
declines. The actions we’re taking now will be negligible to 
our customers — who will still get the high level of service
they expect from the Roundup brand — but significant in
reducing costs. 

Monsanto remains the primary global producer of
glyphosate, the active ingredient in Roundup. With our high
volume, we maintain the lowest production cost per gallon.
We continue to drive down unit costs. We’re improving manu-
facturing performance through more efficient use of raw
materials, enhanced equipment reliability, capacity rationaliza-
tion, and introduction of additional low-cost formulations. We’re
also saving working capital by carefully managing the many
different products we market and the inventories we keep. 

OUTLOOK

We see significant potential for continued growth in our pri-
mary market, the United States, chiefly through expansion
and stacking of existing traits and the introduction of second-
generation biotechnology products. 

We’re focusing on our top agricultural markets, where we
can bring together a broad complement of our products and
technologies. Key factors contributing to success in a particular
market are intellectual property protection, an operative regu-
latory structure, and a functioning seed distribution system. 

To achieve the full potential of our biotechnology solutions
around the world, we must earn the confidence of government
regulators, the food and feed industry, and ultimately con-
sumers. We’ve made considerable progress in demonstrating
the benefits of agricultural biotechnology — including reduced
pesticide use and expansion of conservation tillage techniques
that reduce soil erosion — and the safety of food and feed
from biotechnology crops. 

Given the uncertainty of the regulatory environment,
we’re focusing on factors that we can control. We’re prioritiz-
ing our efforts to gain approvals for biotechnology crops and
advancing penetration of products in markets where they are
approved. For example, as U.S. farmers continue to use effec-
tive systems to sell grain into markets not affected by
European Union (EU) import restrictions, we see the potential
for significant growth in Roundup Ready and YieldGard
Rootworm acres, even without EU approval.

We’re following through on last year’s tough decisions
aimed at maintaining market leadership and restoring prof-
itability in Brazil and Argentina. Economic and market uncer-
tainties remain, particularly in Argentina, but we’re making
progress in both countries. For example, in Brazil we changed
our marketing and distribution approach to reduce signifi-
cantly the corn seed returned by farmers in 2003 from the lev-
els returned in the previous growing season. In addition, we
continue to focus on reducing inventories and receivables in
both Brazil and Argentina.

Monsanto will maintain a focused approach to managing
the mature Roundup business, taking into account all aspects
of its market performance — share, pricing and margins. We’ll
continue to reduce costs while enhancing the value of
Roundup for customers.

PIPELINE
WE’RE FOCUSING OUR ROBUST GENOMICS-BASED 

PIPELINE TO DRIVE LONG-TERM GROWTH.

Monsanto’s investment in genomics — the world’s most
advanced technology for studying and using genes in living
organisms — is paying big dividends sooner than we antici-
pated. Our R&D is generating more gene leads for specific
traits, and more leads that we successfully test in crop plants.
(See page 13.)

With such a robust pipeline, we can focus on product can-
didates that have the highest probability of success, moving
them toward commercialization to drive mid- and long-term
growth. This focus allows us to make an even greater invest-
ment in our core crops. We direct more than 80 percent of our
R&D spending to the growing seeds and traits business.
Although we’re committed to reducing costs, we won’t sacri-
fice the competitiveness of our pipeline. We continue to invest
approximately 10 percent of sales revenues in R&D.

We’re focusing our product development on four crops
grown on significant acreage — corn, soybeans, wheat and
cotton. To the extent that we engage in product development
in other crops, it will be primarily through partnerships. Our
initial focus in wheat is on the Roundup Ready trait, which
has been successfully commercialized in the three other focus
crops. Although we’ve decided to exit our wheat seed breed-

Farmers such as Dan Schmitz of

Slayton, Minnesota, use Roundup over

the top of Roundup Ready crops.
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A CLEAR FOCUS

YIELDGARD PLUS CORN
with the ROUNDUP READY TRAIT
is in the final phases of development

for U.S. commercialization.

This corn is Monsanto’s 

FIRST TRIPLE-STACK PRODUCT,
with traits that provide both above- and below-ground

insect protection, as well as herbicide tolerance. 

IMPROVED SOYBEANS
PRODUCE HEALTHIER
VEGETABLE OILS

Monsanto is developing a 
better soybean. We’re improving soybeans
through breeding and biotechnology to 
produce healthier oils. We’re using marker-
assisted breeding (MAB) to produce a 
soybean low in linolenic acid, a precursor 
to transfats in the hydrogenation process.
Hydrogenation is used to produce mar-
garine and shortening and to improve 
the shelf life of many foods. Transfats
increase total blood cholesterol and
levels of low-density lipoprotein
(LDL, or “bad”) cholesterol, and may
contribute to cardiovascular disease.
Reducing the linolenic content of soybean oil
reduces the need for hydrogenation, so
processors can avoid producing transfats. 

We’re also breeding soybeans to produce
oil high in the healthy monounsaturated fat
that lowers LDL cholesterol. In the future,
Monsanto plans to use biotechnology to
develop a soybean that will yield soy oil that 
is free of saturated fats and transfats. 

Another long-term project is to enrich
soybeans with higher levels of omega-3 fatty
acids. Omega-3 fatty acids are the compo-
nents most people traditionally associate
with the fish oil that helps make seafood
diets heart-healthy. Amy Martens (left) is a
plant breeder in our omega-3 soybean proj-
ect in Chesterfield, Missouri. 

BOLLGARD II: 
WORLD’S FIRST  

SECOND-GENERATION 
TRAIT PRODUCT

When we introduced Bollgard II insect-protected cotton in
Australia and the United States in 2003, Monsanto became

the first company in the world to launch a second-
generation biotechnology trait. Bollgard II offers farmers

an expanded spectrum of insect control and enhanced
insect resistance management, compared with the original

Bollgard, and a reduction in insecticide applications. 
The commercial U.S. launch included a stacked version

with the Roundup Ready trait.



PRODUCT PIPELINE

INPUT CANDIDATES(1)

INCREASING FARMER PRODUCTIVITY

Grain yield
— Seed size and number
— Nitrogen use
— Tolerance for higher-

density planting
— Carbon assimilation

Environmental stress tolerance

Insect control
— Corn rootworm II
— Nematode control

Roundup Ready
— Enhanced tolerance

Disease resistance

PROGRESS IN THE PRODUCT PIPELINE

This chart describes our breeding and technol-
ogy product development, which accounts for
more than 80 percent of Monsanto’s R&D invest-
ment. We apply our integrated capabilities in
genomics, biotechnology, and plant breeding to
develop seeds with improved input and output
traits. The pipeline includes biotechnology traits
and improved germplasm, which we use to pro-
duce new branded seed products and sometimes
license to other seed companies.

12

Protein enhancements
— Increased protein
— Improved amino acid balance

Lipid enhancements
— Increased oil
— Improved fatty acid balance

Carbohydrate enhancements

Bioactive compounds

OUTPUT CANDIDATES(1)

PROVIDING CONSUMER/PROCESSOR BENEFITS

ing business in Europe, we remain committed to gaining mar-
ket acceptance and regulatory approvals for Roundup Ready
wheat in Canada and the United States. 

We’re improving crops both through biotechnology and
through plant breeding. Biotechnology products launched in
2003 included Bollgard II cotton and YieldGard Rootworm
corn. Near-term biotechnology crops include second-genera-
tion and stacked-trait products. 

Marker-assisted breeding (MAB) uses molecular markers
in addition to physical measurement of traits in plant breeding
programs. Our genomics capabilities continue to boost our
industry-leading breeding program as we capitalize on our
database of corn, soybean and cotton traits. Our ability to
interpret and apply this information using MAB allows us to
breed economically important traits into these crops more 
efficiently.

Field trial data from 2003 have confirmed that MAB can
double the rate of improvement in corn germplasm across our
North American breeding program. Thus MAB is helping us
offer our customers superior seed products for all growing
conditions. MAB is now used in all of Monsanto’s global corn
breeding programs. 

We’re also using MAB to breed soybeans with increased
yield and improved oil quality for consumers. And we’re mak-
ing progress in applying MAB to cotton breeding. Our success
to date indicates that we can expand the U.S. cotton
germplasm base to boost yields in a crop that has seen little
gain in recent years.

OUTLOOK

We’re building on our leadership in first- and second-genera-
tion input traits to develop output traits that provide con-
sumer benefits and create value for the food industry. 

Output traits are the key value drivers in our long-term
product pipeline. They include:

the first high-lysine corn products that improve the nutri-
tional value of animal feed from Renessen LLC, our joint
venture with Cargill Inc., currently in field tests; and 

improved soybeans and canola for healthier oils and pro-
tein (see page 11), with low-linolenic soybeans currently
in seed production for commercialization.

In 2003, Monsanto researchers achieved a breakthrough
in biotechnology research on soybeans by dramatically
increasing omega-3 content in soybean oil. Soybeans offer a
potential alternative to fish as an omega-3 source that offers
neutral taste, cost-effective production, and abundant supply. 

Our pipeline also includes crop plants with improved 
tolerance of environmental stress, such as cold and drought;
disease resistance; and nitrogen efficiency.

DISCOVERY
GENE/TRAIT IDENTIFICATION

Conduct high-throughput screening 
of genetic database to identify valu-
able plant traits that can be used in
conventional breeding and valuable
genes that can be used to improve
plants through biotechnology. Apply
screens to broad categories of inter-
est, identifying multiple leads that
can be investigated.

AVERAGE DURATION (3)

24 to 48 months

AVERAGE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS (4)

5 percent
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Healthier oil II for food uses

Improved-energy corn III 
for feed (2)

Improved-protein corn for feed (2)

Omega-3 soybeans for food uses

Improved-protein soybeans 
for food

Improved-protein soybeans 
for feed (2)

Improved-oil soybeans for
processing (2)

Low-linolenic soybeans

Improved-energy II corn 
for feed (2)

High-fermentable starch corn 
for ethanol

Processor Preferred elite
germplasm in key crops 

PHASE IV
FINAL REGULATORY SUBMISSION

Produce bulk seed for potential sale,
develop plans for commercialization/
launch, and respond to regulatory
process as appropriate.

AVERAGE DURATION (3)

12 to 36 months

AVERAGE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS (4)

90 percent

PHASE III
ADVANCED DEVELOPMENT

Demonstrate performance of
hybrid/variety developed through 
conventional breeding or demonstrate
efficacy of biotechnology trait in elite
germplasm. Develop regulatory 
data as appropriate.

AVERAGE DURATION (3)

12 to 24 months

AVERAGE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS (4)

75 percent

PHASE II
EARLY PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

For conventional breeding, conduct
field trials of plants bred from parents
with desired traits; for biotechnology
products, conduct lab and field testing
of genes in plants to select commer-
cial product candidates and to meet
regulatory requirements.

AVERAGE DURATION (3)

12 to 24 months

AVERAGE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS (4)

50 percent

PHASE I
PROOF OF CONCEPT

For conventional breeding, breed
plants from parents with desired
traits; for biotechnology products, 
test gene configurations in plants 
to screen for desired performance.
Determine which product leads show
the most promise for application to
core crop plants.

AVERAGE DURATION (3)

12 to 24 months

AVERAGE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS (4)

25 percent

DISCOVERING DIVERSE LEADS AND ADVANCING PROJECTS TOWARD COMMERCIALIZATION 
Monsanto’s genomics-based R&D pipeline is generating diverse leads. We’re looking
at plant and microbial genes with potentially valuable traits for farmers and con-
sumers, and we’re having better-than-expected success in translating leads to more
advanced stages of product development. For example, our 2002 annual report
listed a discovery program to identify genes that might provide “environmental
stress tolerance.” That program continues, and it has also led to some new projects
that have advanced to phase I testing of specific genes, such as drought-tolerant
corn and soybeans. Finding more leads produces more opportunities, allowing us 
to focus on the most promising candidates. While that also means that more leads
drop out, it enhances the value of the product pipeline. In 2003, we made significant
progress in all phases of our pipeline, either moving projects to advanced phases or
making significant scientific breakthroughs within a particular phase.

(1) Candidates include research platforms in the discovery phase
and specific product projects in phases I through IV with
higher-than-average probability of success and/or market
potential. The assessment is based on available information
and technical progress to date.

(2) These product candidates are in the Renessen pipeline.
Renessen is a Monsanto/Cargill joint venture.

(3) Time estimates are based on our experience; they can overlap.
Total development time for any particular product can be
shorter or longer than the time estimated here.

(4) This is the estimated average probability that the traits 
will ultimately become commercial products, based on our
experience. This figure applies to all product candidates in
each phase, not just the candidates listed here. These
probabilities may change over time.

Higher-yielding corn

Higher-yielding soybeans

Drought-tolerant corn

Drought-tolerant soybeans

YieldGard II insect-protected corn

Roundup Ready and insect-
protected soybeans

Second-generation Roundup
Ready/YieldGard Rootworm corn

Roundup Ready Flex cotton

Roundup Ready wheat

Hybrid Roundup Ready canola

Conservation tillage elite
germplasm — corn

YieldGard Plus
insect-protected corn

YieldGard Rootworm corn stacks

PRODUCT PIPELINE
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FRANK V. ATLEE III, 63, is a retired president of the former
American Cyanamid Company and chairman of the former
Cyanamid International. Both companies were involved in the
discovery, development, manufacturing and marketing of 
medical and agricultural products. Mr. AtLee served Monsanto
as chairman of the board and chair of the Executive
Committee from June 2000 to October 2003. He was
Monsanto’s interim president and chief executive officer from
December 2002 to May 2003. He continues to serve Monsanto
as a director. He is also on the boards of Antigenics Inc. and
Nereus Pharmaceuticals Inc.

HUGH GRANT, 45, is chairman of the board, president and chief
executive officer of Monsanto. He joined the former Monsanto
as a product development representative for the company’s
agricultural business in 1981. Since 1991, he has served
Monsanto in a variety of management positions, most recently
as executive vice president and chief operating officer. 
Mr. Grant chairs the Executive Committee. 

GWENDOLYN S. KING, 63, is president of Podium Prose, a speakers
bureau. Mrs. King was senior vice president, corporate and
public affairs, for PECO Energy Company, a diversified utility
company. From 1989 through 1992, Mrs. King served as the
11th Commissioner of Social Security. In 2001, she was
appointed to President George W. Bush’s Commission to
Strengthen Social Security. Mrs. King has served as a director
on the Monsanto board since February 2001. She chairs 
the board’s Public Policy and Corporate Responsibility

Committee, and she is a member of the People and
Compensation Committee and the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee. Mrs. King also serves on the boards of
Lockheed Martin Corporation, Marsh and McLennan
Companies Inc., and Countrywide Financial Corporation. 

SHARON R. LONG, PH.D., 52, is professor of biological sciences and
dean of the School of Humanities and Sciences at Stanford
University. Dr. Long was also an investigator for the Howard
Hughes Medical Institute. She is a member of the National
Academy of Sciences, the American Academy of Arts and
Sciences, and the American Philosophical Association. Dr.
Long has served as a director on the Monsanto board since
February 2002. She chairs the board’s Science and Technology
Committee, and she is a member of the Public Policy and
Corporate Responsibility Committee. 

C. STEVEN MCMILLAN, 57, is chairman of the board, president and
chief executive officer of Sara Lee Corporation, a global con-
sumer packaged goods company whose brands include Sara
Lee, Earth Grains, Jimmy Dean, Douwe Egberts, Chock full
o’Nuts, Hanes, and Playtex. He has served as a director on the
Monsanto board since June 2000. Mr. McMillan chairs the
board’s People and Compensation Committee, and he is a
member of the Restricted Stock Grant Committee, the Audit
and Finance Committee, and the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee. He also serves on the board of Bank
of America Corporation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Hugh Grant

Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer 
Robert T. Fraley, Ph.D.

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Terrell K. Crews

Executive Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel
Charles W. Burson

Executive Vice President, North America Commercial
Carl M. Casale

Executive Vice President, International Commercial
Brett D. Begemann

Executive Vice President, Manufacturing 
Mark J. Leidy

Executive Vice President, Commercial Acceptance
Gerald A. Steiner

Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy
Cheryl P. Morley

Vice President and Controller 
Richard B. Clark

Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Janet M. Holloway

Vice President and Treasurer
Robert A. Paley

This list includes executive officers as defined by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission. It is current as of 
Nov. 1, 2003. Additional information about the executive 
officers appears in Monsanto’s Form 10-K in Part III, Item 10.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

WILLIAM U. PARFET, 57, is chairman of the board and chief 
executive officer of MPI Research Inc., a preclinical toxicology
research laboratory. He has served as a director on the
Monsanto board since June 2000. Mr. Parfet chairs the board’s
Audit and Finance Committee, and he is a member of the
People and Compensation Committee and the Executive
Committee. He also serves on the boards of CMS Energy
Corporation, PAREXEL International Corporation, and Stryker
Corporation. 

GEORGE H. POSTE, PH.D., 59, is chief executive of Health
Technology Networks. In May 2003, he was named director of
the Arizona Biodesign Institute at Arizona State University. 
Dr. Poste is a member of the Defense Science Board of the U.S.
Department of Defense, and he chairs that group’s Task Force
on Bioterrorism. He has served on the Monsanto board since
February 2003. Dr. Poste also serves on the boards of
AdvancePCS and Orchid BioSciences Inc. 

ROBERT J. STEVENS, 52, is president and chief operating officer
of Lockheed Martin Corporation, a firm engaged in the
research, design, development, manufacture and integration
of advanced-technology systems, products and services.
During 2001 and 2002, he served on President George W.
Bush’s Commission on the Future of the United States
Aerospace Industry. Mr. Stevens has served as a director on
the Monsanto board since August 2002. He chairs the board’s
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and he is a
member of the Audit and Finance Committee. He also serves
as Monsanto’s presiding director. Mr. Stevens also serves on
the board of Lockheed Martin Corporation. 

Note: Ages are current as of Nov. 1, 2003.

From left to right: Hugh Grant, Robert J. Stevens, 
Frank V. AtLee III, George H. Poste, Gwendolyn S. King, 
C. Steven McMillan, William U. Parfet, and Sharon R. Long.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration and payment of quarterly dividends is made at
the discretion of Monsanto’s board of directors. The dividend
is reviewed by the board quarterly.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

To request or send information contact:
Mellon Investor Services LLC
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, New Jersey 07606
U.S.A.

Telephone:
(888) 725-9529 
Toll free within the United States and Canada

(201) 329-8660 
Outside the United States and Canada

For the hearing-impaired:
(800) 231-5469
Toll free within the United States and Canada

(201) 329-8354
Outside the United States and Canada

On the Internet:
If you are a registered shareowner, you can access 
your Monsanto account online by using the Investor
ServiceDirect feature at Mellon Investor Services. Go to
https://vault.melloninvestor.com/isd/.

ELECTRONIC DELIVERY AND PROXY VOTING

Monsanto offers its shareowners the opportunity to receive
proxy statements, annual reports, prospectuses, and other
shareowner materials electronically through the Internet,
instead of by mail.

If you are a registered shareowner, you can start electronic
delivery by (1) marking and returning your consent on your
proxy card, (2) submitting your consent when you vote over
the Internet by accessing the Mellon Investor Services Web
site at http://www.eproxy.com/mon, or (3) submitting your
consent when you vote by telephone via Mellon Investor
Services at 1-800-435-6710. In addition, you may see 
these materials on the Internet at any time by accessing 
your Monsanto shareowner account online. Contact Investor
ServiceDirect, a feature of Mellon Investor Services, at
https://vault.melloninvestor.com/isd/.

If your shares are held in street name by a bank or broker
you nominated, you can choose electronic delivery over the
Internet at http://www.proxyvote.com through your bank 
or broker.

ADDITIONAL SHAREOWNER INFORMATION

Shareowner, financial and other information about Monsanto
is available to you free of charge from several sources through-
out the year. These materials include quarterly earnings state-
ments, significant news releases, and Forms 10-K and 10-Q,
which are filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission.

On the Internet: 
You can find financial and other information, such as signifi-
cant news releases, Forms 10-K and 10-Q, and the text of this
annual report, on the Internet at http://www.monsanto.com.

By writing:
You can also request these materials by writing to: 
Monsanto Company — Materialogic
800 North Lindbergh Boulevard
St. Louis, Missouri 63167
U.S.A.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT MONSANTO

Report on the New Monsanto Pledge
You can read a report summarizing Monsanto’s progress in 
fulfilling the Pledge by visiting our Web site:
http://www.monsanto.com.

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of Monsanto shareowners will be held 
at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, Jan. 29, 2004, in K Building of the
company’s offices at 800 North Lindbergh Boulevard, 
St. Louis, Missouri. A formal notice of the meeting and a proxy
statement are sent to each shareowner.

Monsanto’s stock is traded principally on the 
New York Stock Exchange. Our symbol is MON. 

Investor ServiceDirect is a registered service mark of Mellon
Investor Services.

SHAREOWNER INFORMATION
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INTRODUCTION

This year, we have chosen to combine our Annual Report to Shareowners with our Form 10-K, which is a document that U.S.
public companies file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) every year. Many readers are already familiar with
‘‘Part II’’ of the Form 10-K, as it contains the business information and financial statements that were included in the financial
sections of our past Annual Reports. However, other parts of the Form 10-K will be new to many of our readers. These portions
include information about our business that we believe will be of interest to investors. We hope investors will find it useful to
have all of this information available in a single document.

On July 23, 2003, we announced a change in our fiscal year-end from December 31 to August 31. As required by the SEC’s
rules, our Form 10-K covers the ‘‘transition period’’ beginning Jan. 1, 2003, and ending Aug. 31, 2003. We have also included
results for the 12-month periods ended December 31 for calendar years 2002 and 2001, where appropriate.

The SEC allows us to report information in the Form 10-K by ‘‘incorporating by reference’’ from another part of the
Form 10-K, or from the proxy statement. You will see that information is ‘‘incorporated by reference’’ in various parts of our
Form 10-K. The proxy statement will be available on our Web site after it is filed with the SEC in December 2003.

A more detailed table of contents for the entire Form 10-K follows.
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Item 1. Business 4
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Available Information 15
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 15
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS. 

Monsanto Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a global Pharmacia. Unless otherwise indicated, trademarks owned or
provider of agricultural products and integrated solutions for licensed by Monsanto or its subsidiaries are shown in special
farmers. We produce leading seed brands, including DEKALB type. Unless otherwise indicated, throughout this Form 10-K,
and Asgrow, and we develop biotechnology traits that assist references to ‘‘Roundup herbicides’’ mean Roundup branded
farmers in controlling insects and weeds. We provide other and other branded glyphosate-based herbicides, excluding all
seed companies with genetic material and biotechnology traits lawn-and-garden herbicides; references to ‘‘Roundup and
for their seed brands. We also make Roundup herbicide and other glyphosate-based herbicides’’ mean both branded and
other herbicides. Our seeds, related biotechnology trait non-branded glyphosate-based herbicides, excluding all lawn-
products and herbicides can be combined to provide growers and-garden herbicide products.
with integrated solutions that improve productivity and In July 2003, Monsanto’s board of directors approved a
reduce the costs of farming. We also provide lawn-and-garden change to Monsanto’s fiscal year end from December 31 to
herbicide products for the residential market and animal August 31. In view of this change, this Form 10-K is a
agricultural products focused on improving dairy cow produc- transition report, and includes financial information for the
tivity and swine genetics. eight-month transition period ended Aug. 31, 2003, and for

Monsanto Company was incorporated in February 2000 the 12-month periods ended Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001. In Part I
as a subsidiary of Pharmacia Corporation (Pharmacia), which of this Form 10-K, years refer to calendar years, unless
is now a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. (Pfizer), and is comprised of otherwise specified or apparent from the context.
the operations, assets and liabilities that were previously the Information in this Form 10-K is current as of Nov. 19,
agricultural division of Pharmacia. On Sept. 1, 2000, the 2003, unless otherwise specified.
assets and liabilities of the agricultural business were trans- Monsanto reports its business in two segments: Seeds
ferred from Pharmacia to Monsanto, pursuant to the terms of and Genomics, and Agricultural Productivity.
a Separation Agreement dated as of that date (as amended, The following information, appearing in other parts of
the Separation Agreement). In October 2000, Monsanto sold this Form 10-K, is incorporated herein by reference:
approximately 15 percent of its common stock at $20 per

( Item 7 — ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
share in an initial public offering (IPO). On Aug. 13, 2002, Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) —
Pharmacia completed a spinoff of Monsanto by distributing its Seeds and Genomics Segment’’ — the segment
entire ownership interest to Pharmacia shareowners by means description
of a tax-free dividend. For more information on our history as

( Item 7 — ‘‘MD&A — Agricultural Productivity Seg-a company, please see ‘‘Relationships Among Monsanto Com-
ment’’ — the segment description, and the tabular infor-pany, Pharmacia Corporation and Solutia Inc.,’’ below.
mation regarding net sales of Roundup and other‘‘Monsanto’’ and the ‘‘company,’’ and ‘‘we,’’ ‘‘our’’ and ‘‘us,’’
glyphosate-based herbicidesare used interchangeably to refer to Monsanto Company or to

Monsanto Company and its subsidiaries, as appropriate to the ( Item 8 — Note 23 — Segment and Geographic Data — the
context. With respect to the time period prior to Sept. 1, 2000, segment information
these terms also refer to the agricultural business of
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PRINCIPAL PRODUCTS

Monsanto’s principal products, categorized by our two segments, include the following:

SEEDS AND GENOMICS

Major Products End-Use Products and Applications

Roundup Ready trait in soybeans, corn, canola and cotton(1) Weed control system for crops tolerant of Roundup and other
glyphosate-based herbicides

Bollgard and Bollgard II traits in cotton;(1) Crops protected against certain insects
YieldGard Corn Borer and YieldGard Rootworm traits in corn(1)

Agroceres, Asgrow and DEKALB branded seeds; Holden’s Foundation Corn hybrids and foundation seed; soybean varieties and foundation
Seeds; Monsoy foundation seed seed; sunflower hybrids; sorghum grain hybrids and forage hybrids;

wheat varieties and foundation seed; oilseed rape and canola varieties;
barley varieties; alfalfa varieties

(1) Monsanto also offers growers stacked-trait products, where more than one trait is combined in a single seed product.

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY

Major Products End-Use Products and Applications

Roundup herbicide and other glyphosate-based herbicides Nonselective agricultural, industrial, ornamental and turf applications
for weed control

Harness, Degree and Guardian acetanilide-based herbicides Control of pre-emergent annual grass and small seeded broadleaf
weeds in corn

Other selective herbicides, such as: Lasso acetanilide-based herbicides; Control of specific weeds in wheat, corn, grain sorghum, turf, cotton,
Leader, Monitor, Maverick, Sundance, Outrider and Apyros sugarcane, rice, and barley; and control of specific weeds on roadsides
sulfosulfuron herbicides; Permit, Manage and Sempra halosulfuron
herbicides; and Machete butachlor herbicide

Lawn-and-garden herbicides Residential lawn-and-garden applications for weed control

Posilac bovine somatotropin Increase efficiency of milk production in dairy cows

Monsanto Choice Genetics swine genetics lines Increase productivity and meat quality of swine

Enviro-Chem engineering, procurement and construction EPC services for processing plants for fertilizer producers, basic
management (EPC) services; proprietary equipment and process metals production, oil refining and ethanol production; proprietary
technologies equipment and process technologies related to sulfuric acid catalysts,

mist eliminators, air pollution abatement and heat exchangers

Elemental Phosphorus (produced by P4 Production, LLC, an entity Production of high quality food, pharmaceutical, and agricultural
99 percent owned by, and operated by, Monsanto (P4 Production)) phosphorus compounds

Products may be sold under different brand names in non-royalty-bearing right and license to our and Cargill’s
different countries. respective patents and intellectual property relevant to Renes-

We are subject to extensive laws and regulations gov- sen’s activities in the grain processing and animal feed
erning pesticides, new plant varieties, biotechnology traits and industries; (3) receive rights to use intellectual property
food and feed safety in the countries in which we manufac- developed by Renessen in other specified areas; and
ture or sell our products. In virtually all countries, we must (4) receive preferential rights to provide specified services to
obtain regulatory approvals prior to marketing our products. Renessen. This joint venture combines our seed assets and

technology capabilities with Cargill’s global grain processing,
marketing and risk management infrastructure. Renessen’sPRINCIPAL EQUITY AFFILIATES
products under development include seeds designed to

In September 1998, we entered into an agreement (as enhance processing efficiency and grain products designed to
amended from time to time, the Renessen Agreement), to deliver better nutrition in animal feed. Pursuant to the
form the Renessen LLC joint venture with Cargill, Incorpo- Renessen Agreement, we perform the bulk of Renessen’s
rated (Cargill) to develop and market enhanced crops for the research and development (R&D) activities. For the
grain processing and animal feed industries. Renessen began eight-month transition period ended Aug. 31, 2003, we
operations in January 1999 and has no specified term. We and charged Renessen $33 million for R&D expenses. The
Cargill each have a 50 percent interest in Renessen. A expenses that were charged to Renessen are not included in
governance board on which we and Cargill have equal the $330 million of Research and Development Expenses
representation manages Renessen. With respect to Renessen, reflected in our Statement of Consolidated Operations for the
we and Cargill: (1) have committed to make equal contribu- transition period. Our equity affiliate expense related to
tions to fund Renessen’s approved business plan; (2) have Renessen was $26 million in the eight-month transition
granted Renessen a worldwide, fully paid-up, non-exclusive,
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period, $41 million in the 12-month periods ended Dec. 31, national competitors, and a larger number of regional compet-
2002 and 2001, and $31 million in the 12-month period ended itors, in the United States. We are the only supplier of bovine
Dec. 31, 2000, all of which is reflected in Other Expense — somatotropin in the United States. The United States is our
Net in our Statement of Consolidated Operations. See infor- largest market for our lawn-and-garden herbicides and our
mation regarding Renessen in Item 8 — Note 25 — Equity bovine somatotropin products.
Affiliates and in the Schedule to this Form 10-K as filed with

CUSTOMERS; DISTRIBUTION OF PRODUCTSthe U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).

We have a worldwide distribution and sales and marketing
COMPETITION

organization that consolidates the sales forces of our seeds
The global markets for our products are highly competitive. and traits and crop protection operations.
We expect competition to intensify as a result of continuing We license a broad package of our germplasm and trait
industry consolidation, the expiration of our patent for technologies to seed companies that do business in the United
glyphosate herbicide in the United States in 2002, and States and certain international markets. The seed companies
continued expenditures by our competitors on the develop- pay a royalty to Monsanto for the germplasm or traits and
ment and commercialization of new technologies and prod- then market these products to growers. We also market our
ucts, including biotechnology traits. branded germplasm and traits to growers through distributors,

There are relatively few global competitors for our seed independent retailers and dealers, agricultural cooperatives
business; however, we compete with hundreds of local and and agents. In most cases, growers are required to sign a
regional companies, to many of which we supply base technology agreement that acknowledges our patents, grants
germplasm and/or access to our biotechnology traits. In limited patent licenses, and requires appropriate product
certain countries we also compete with government-owned stewardship. In certain circumstances, depending on the type
seed companies, and may also compete with growers who use of trait and the geographic location, trait license agreements
seed saved from one year to the next. Product performance may also require royalty payments or trait fees from growers.
(in particular, crop yield), customer service, intellectual We sell our crop protection products through distributors,
property and price are important determinants of market independent retailers and dealers, agricultural cooperatives,
success. In addition, strong distributor and grower relation- and, in some cases outside the United States, through joint
ships have been important in the United States and many ventures or directly to growers. We also sell our crop
other countries. protection products to other major agricultural chemical

Our traits compete directly with agricultural chemicals as producers.
well as with traits developed by other companies. Other We sell and ship our Posilac bovine somatotropin directly
agrichemical and seed marketers produce chemical and seed to dairy farmers in the United States. Outside of the United
products that compete with our Roundup Ready and insect- States, we rely on a single exclusive distributor for these
protected systems. Competition for the discovery of new products. We deliver our swine genetics products directly to
agricultural traits based on biotechnology and/or genomics is swine producers, who pay for the use of the genetics in
likely to come from major global agrichemical companies. upfront fees and/or royalties.
Enabling technologies may also come from academic research- We market our lawn-and-garden herbicide products
ers and a wide array of biotechnology research companies. through The Scotts Company (Scotts). Scotts receives a
The primary factors underlying the competitive success of commission for its services as our agent based on a varying
traits are performance and commercial viability, timeliness of percentage of the earnings before interest and taxes related
introduction, value, governmental approvals, public accept- to the lawn-and-garden herbicide business. Scotts also is
ance, and environmental characteristics. responsible for contributing annually to the expenses of this

Competitive success in crop protection products depends business. For additional information, see the information in
on price, product performance, the quality of solutions offered Item 7, under the heading ‘‘MD&A — Agricultural Productivity
to growers, market coverage, and the quality of service to Segment — Our Agreement with The Scotts Company,’’ which
distributors and growers. We have between five and 10 major is incorporated herein by reference.
global competitors for our agricultural herbicide products. We support our products in all global markets with a
Competition from local or regional companies may also be sales and product development organization that educates
significant. For additional information on competition for growers about our newest products, innovative farming prac-
Roundup herbicide, see Item 7 under the headings: tices and the integration of new products with existing ones.
‘‘MD&A — Outlook — Agricultural Productivity’’; and We seek to build strong partnerships with our customers, and
‘‘MD&A — Cautionary Statements: Risk Factors Regarding we have signed multiyear contracts and supply agreements
Forward-Looking Statements — Competition for Roundup with many of our larger customers. We also use marketing
Herbicides.’’ programs to promote our products.

Our lawn-and-garden herbicides compete on the basis of While no single customer (including affiliates) represents
product performance. We have fewer than five significant more than 10 percent of our consolidated net sales, our
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three largest U.S. agricultural distributors and their affiliates chemicals business of Pharmacia, assumed from Pharmacia in
represented, in aggregate, 16 percent of our worldwide net connection with its spinoff on Sept. 1, 1997, to the extent
sales in the eight-month period ended Aug. 31, 2003, and that Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge those liabilities.
27 percent of our net sales in the United States. During this See ‘‘Relationships Among Monsanto Company, Pharmacia
period, one major U.S. distributor and its affiliates repre- Corporation and Solutia Inc.,’’ below, and Item 8 — Note 22 —
sented approximately 11 percent of the net sales for our Commitments and Contingencies, for additional information
Agricultural Productivity segment, and approximately 7 per- relating to Solutia and related risks to Monsanto’s financial
cent of the net sales for our Seeds and Genomics segment. position, profitability and/or liquidity.

See information regarding remediation of waste disposal
EMPLOYEE RELATIONS sites and reserves for remediation, appearing in Item 8 —

Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies, which is incorpo-As of Aug. 31, 2003, Monsanto had approximately
rated herein by reference. For information regarding certain13,200 employees worldwide. On Oct. 15, 2003, we announced
environmental proceedings, see ‘‘Legal Proceedings,’’ below.plans for strategic actions that are expected to reduce the

size of our global workforce by approximately 7 to 9 percent.
INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Satisfactory relations have prevailed between Monsanto and
its employees. See information appearing in Item 7 under the heading

‘‘MD&A — Cautionary Statements: Risk Factors Regarding
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS Forward-Looking Statements — Operations Outside the United

States;’’ and information appearing in Item 8 — Note 23 —Our operations are subject to environmental laws and regula-
Segment and Geographic Data. That information is incorpo-tions in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Some of these
rated herein by reference. Over 40 percent of Monsanto’slaws restrict the amount and type of pollutants that can be
sales, and 40 percent of each segment’s sales, are madereleased from our operations into the environment. Other
outside the United States.laws, such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq.
PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, LICENSES, FRANCHISES AND CONCESSIONS

(Superfund), can impose liability for the entire cost of
cleanup upon any former or current site owners or operators Monsanto has a broad portfolio of patents in the United
or parties who sent waste to these sites, without regard to States and many foreign countries which provide intellectual
fault or the lawfulness of the original disposal activity. These property protection for its products and processes. Plant
laws and regulations may be amended from time to time and Variety Protection Act Certificates in the United States, and
become increasingly stringent. We are dedicated to long-term equivalent plant breeders’ rights in other countries, as well as
environmental protection and compliance programs that variety registrations in countries that require registration, are
reduce and monitor emissions of hazardous materials into the also significant to the Seeds and Genomics segment. Monsanto
environment, as well as to the remediation of identified routinely obtains patents and/or plant variety protection for
existing environmental concerns. Consistent with a consent its commercial varietal products and for the parents of its
order with the State of Idaho, we have embarked on a commercial hybrid products, and routinely obtains registration
multiyear project to design and install state-of-the-art air for its commercial products in registration countries.
emission control equipment at the P4 Production facility at Monsanto’s insect protection traits (including YieldGard

Soda Springs, Idaho. While the costs of compliance with Corn Borer and YieldGard Corn Rootworm traits in corn seed
environmental laws and regulations cannot be predicted with and Bollgard trait in cotton seed) are protected by patents
certainty, such costs do not have a material adverse effect on which extend until at least 2011. Based on patent applications
our earnings or competitive position. Because of our invest- filed in 2001 and 2002, it is anticipated that the Bollgard II

ment in the Soda Springs project, our capital expenditures for insect protection trait will be patent-protected in the United
environmental control facilities will be higher than usual in States, and in other geographies in which patent protection is
the next few years. Current estimates indicate that total sought, through 2022. Monsanto’s herbicide tolerance prod-
company-wide capital expenditures for environmental compli- ucts (Roundup Ready traits in corn seed, soybean seed,
ance will be approximately $35 million in fiscal year 2004, and cotton seed and canola seed) are protected in the United
$19 million in fiscal year 2005. States by patents which extend until at least 2014. Posilac

In addition to potential liability for our own manufactur- bovine somatotropin is protected by a United States patent
ing locations and off-site disposal and formulation facilities, that expires in 2008, and by corresponding patents in other
under the terms of the Separation Agreement we were countries, most of which expire in 2005. Other patents
required to indemnify Pharmacia for any liability it may have protect various aspects of bovine somatotropin manufacture in
for environmental remediation or other environmental respon- the United States and expire at varying dates ending March
sibilities primarily related to Pharmacia’s former agricultural 2012; corresponding patents in other countries have varying
or chemical businesses. This includes, but is not limited to, terms.
environmental liabilities that Solutia Inc. (Solutia), the former
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Patents protecting the active ingredient in Roundup A considerable number of Monsanto’s patents and
herbicide expired in the United States in 2000, and have licenses are currently the subject of litigation; see ‘‘Legal
expired in all other countries. Monsanto has several patents Proceedings’’ below.
on its glyphosate formulations and manufacturing processes in

RAW MATERIALS AND ENERGY RESOURCESthe United States and other countries, some of which extend
until 2015 and beyond. We are a significant purchaser of a variety of basic and

Monsanto also holds licenses from other parties relating intermediate raw materials. Our major raw materials and
to certain products and processes. The company has obtained energy requirements are typically purchased through long-
perpetual licenses to chemicals for Harness herbicide and to term contracts. We are not dependent on any one outside
chemicals for Maverick herbicide, and to manufacturing supplier for a significant amount of any raw material require-
technology for Posilac bovine somatotropin. Monsanto has ments, but certain important raw materials are obtained from
also in-licensed gene transformation technology for producing a few major suppliers. Additional capacity exists for all major
transformed plant products, including Roundup Ready raw materials either from different suppliers or from alternate
soybean and Roundup Ready corn products; this license lasts manufacturing locations. Different catalysts are used in
until the licensor’s patent expires, after which no license will various intermediate steps in the production of glyphosate.
be required to use the patented technology. Monsanto also These are produced by two major catalyst manufacturers
has a license to chemicals for its halosulfuron herbicides, using our proprietary technology at various sites globally.
including Permit, Manage and Sempra; the license expires in These suppliers have additional capacity at other manufactur-
2004 but is automatically extended unless terminated. In ing locations.
addition, Monsanto has obtained various licenses in order to Energy is available as required but pricing is subject to
protect certain of its technologies used in the production of market fluctuations from time to time. We engage in hedging
Roundup Ready seeds, and certain of its technologies transactions to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings
relating to pipeline products, from claims of infringement of fluctuations that may arise from volatility in natural gas prices.
patents of others. These licenses last for the lifetimes of the We purchase most of our global supply of elemental
applicable patents, after which no licenses will be required to phosphorus, a key raw material for the production of
use the respective patented technologies. The company holds

Roundup herbicide, from P4 Production, which, as noted
numerous licenses in connection with its genomics program, above, is 99 percent owned by, and operated by, Monsanto.
for example: a perpetual license to certain genomics technolo- We buy additional elemental phosphorus from the global
gies for use in the areas of plant agriculture and dairy cattle; market.
perpetual licenses to classes of proprietary genes for the Prior to August 2003, Sandoz GmbH (formerly Biochemie
development of commercial traits in crops, to patents expiring GmbH) a wholly owned subsidiary of Novartis, was our only
from 2018 to 2023; perpetual licenses to functional characteri- supplier of Posilac bovine somatotropin. In August 2003, we
zations of the company’s proprietary genes; perpetual licenses obtained approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administra-
to certain genomics sequences; and certain genomics tion (FDA) to manufacture the powder, which is the active
technologies. ingredient, for Posilac at our new plant in Augusta, Georgia.

Monsanto owns a considerable number of established We are also seeking approval to manufacture the finished dose
trademarks in many countries under which it markets its formulation of Posilac at this facility. Until that approval is
products. The company owns trademark registrations and files obtained, powder manufactured at this facility will be shipped
trademark applications for the names and many of the designs to Sandoz for formulation and final product preparation. After
used on its branded products. Important company trademarks we receive approval to manufacture the finished dose formu-
include Roundup (for herbicide products), Roundup Ready, lation at Augusta, both powder and the finished dose
Bollgard and YieldGard (for traits), DEKALB and Asgrow formulation will be produced at both facilities.
(for agricultural seeds) and Posilac (for dairy productivity We produce directly, or contract with third-party growers
products). for the production of, corn seed, soybean seed, oilseed rape

P4 Production holds (directly or by assignment) numer- varieties, wheat seed, sunflower seed and sorghum seed in
ous phosphate leases, which were issued on behalf of or growing locations throughout the world. The availability and
granted by the United States, the State of Idaho and private cost of seed primarily depends on seed yields, weather
parties. None of these leases taken individually is material, conditions, grower contract terms, commodity prices and
although the leases in the aggregate are significant because global supply and demand. We manage commodity price
elemental phosphorus is a key raw material for the production fluctuations through the use of futures contracts and other
of glyphosate herbicide. The phosphate leases have varying hedging mechanisms. We attempt to minimize the risks
terms, with leases obtained from the United States being of related to weather by producing seed at multiple growing
indefinite duration subject to the modification of lease terms locations, where practical.
at 20-year intervals.
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In general, where we have limited sources of raw While the results of litigation cannot be predicted with
materials or fuels, we have developed contingency plans to certainty, we do not believe that the resolution of the
minimize the effect of any interruption or reduction in supply. proceedings that we are defending or prosecuting (which
These include supplier inventories, consigned inventories, exclude the Solutia matters discussed below), either individu-
dedicated excess manufacturing capacity, substitute materials ally or taken as a whole, will have a material adverse effect on
and approved alternate sources of supply. While temporary our financial position, profitability or liquidity. We have
shortages of raw materials may occasionally occur, these meritorious legal arguments and will continue to represent
items are generally sufficiently available to cover current and our interests vigorously in all of the proceedings that we are
projected requirements. Global sourcing strategies for key defending or prosecuting.
materials help ensure that new capacity is installed by our

Patent and Commercial Proceedingssuppliers in time to meet our requirements at competitive
The following proceedings involve Mycogen Plant Science Inc.prices. However, to some extent availability and price are
(Mycogen Plant Science), now part of Dow AgroSciences LLC,subject to unscheduled plant interruptions caused by
a subsidiary of The Dow Chemical Company:shortages of energy and petrochemical supplies.

( On May 19, 1995, Mycogen Plant Science filed suit
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT against the former Monsanto Company in the U.S.

District Court in California alleging infringement of itsMonsanto’s expenses for research and development were
patent involving synthetic Bt genes, and seeking unspeci-$330 million for the eight-month transition period ended
fied damages and injunctive relief. Monsanto prevailed onAug. 31, 2003; and $527 million, $560 million, and $588 mil-
summary judgment in dismissing all claims. On May 30,lion, for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.
2001, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit

SEASONALITY AND WORKING CAPITAL affirmed the summary judgment finding that current
products of Monsanto do not infringe the Mycogen PlantFor information on seasonality and working capital practices,
Science patent. The appellate court also determined thatsee information in Item 7, under the heading ‘‘MD&A —
certain factual issues prevented complete entry of sum-Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources,’’ incor-
mary judgment on the issue of prior invention byporated herein by reference.
Monsanto and remanded the matter to District Court.
Monsanto is defending the litigation on the basis ofLEGAL PROCEEDINGS
patent invalidity, prior invention and other defenses

This portion of the Report on Form 10-K describes material including collateral estoppel. We believe that a prior
legal proceedings that we are defending or prosecuting. These judgment won by the former Monsanto Company against
include proceedings to which we are party in our own name, Mycogen Plant Science, in U.S. District Court in Dela-
as well as proceedings to which Pharmacia is a named party, ware, is dispositive of all claims asserted by Mycogen
but for which we have assumed responsibility pursuant to the Plant Science. The District Court in California has
Separation Agreement between ourselves and Pharmacia, scheduled a pretrial conference on this matter for
effective Sept. 1, 2000. Under that agreement, we assumed Feb. 24, 2004, at which time it is expected to set a trial
responsibility for legal proceedings primarily related to the date.
agricultural business that Pharmacia transferred to us on that

( Monsanto is also involved in interference proceedingsdate. As a result, although Pharmacia may remain the named
against Mycogen Plant Science in the U.S. Patent anddefendant or plaintiff in some of these cases, we manage and
Trademark Office to determine the first party to inventare responsible for the litigation. In the following discussion,
certain inventions related to the synthetic Bt technologywe may use the phrase ‘‘the former Monsanto Company’’ to
at issue in the California case. Under U.S. law, patentsrefer to Pharmacia prior to the date of the Separation
issue to the first to invent, not the first to file for aAgreement. As required by the Separation Agreement, in the
patent on, a subject invention. If two or more partiesproceedings where Pharmacia is the named defendant, we will
seek patent protection on the same invention, as is theindemnify Pharmacia for costs, expenses and any judgments
case with our synthetic Bt technology, the U.S. Patentor settlements; and in the proceedings where Pharmacia is
and Trademark Office must hold interference proceedingsthe named plaintiff, we will pay the fees and costs of, and
to identify the party who first invented the particularreceive any benefits from, the litigation. We are also defending
invention in dispute. In prior litigation between theor prosecuting other legal proceedings, not described in this
parties Monsanto has been determined to be the priorsection, which arise in the ordinary course of our business.
inventor of patent claims associated with synthetic BtThe litigation that we are defending or prosecuting does
technology. The Board of Patent Appeals held its finalnot include litigation that Solutia assumed from Pharmacia,
hearing on this interference on Sept. 26, 2003, and isand which is discussed in ‘‘Relationships Among Monsanto
expected to issue its decision in December 2003.Company, Pharmacia Corporation and Solutia Inc.,’’ below.
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The following proceedings involve Bayer CropScience AG corn. Bayer CropScience counterclaimed to request royal-
(formerly Aventis CropScience S.A., previously Rhone Poulenc ties for prior sales of YieldGard corn and injunctive
Agrochimie S.A.) (Bayer CropScience), a subsidiary of Bayer relief. On Dec. 27, 2002, Monsanto’s motion for summary
AG, and its affiliates: judgment was granted. Bayer CropScience has appealed

the District court’s judgment to the U.S. Court of Appeals
( On Oct. 14, 2003, Monsanto announced the settlement of

for the Federal Circuit and oral argument is scheduleda number of lawsuits involving affiliates of Bayer Crop-
for Dec. 4, 2003. Monsanto has requested award of itsScience. This settlement included a lawsuit filed on
substantial legal fees in this matter in light of the DistrictJan. 10, 2003, by Bayer BioScience N.V. (Bayer Bio-
Court’s finding of inequitable conduct against BayerScience) in the U.S. District Court for the District of
CropScience.Delaware (subsequently transferred to the U.S. District

Court for the Eastern District of Missouri), contending The following proceedings involve affiliates of Syngenta
that a patent assigned to it by PGS and Bayer Crop- AG:
Science was infringed by Monsanto’s development and

( On July 25, 2002, Syngenta Biotechnology, Inc. (Syngenta
potential future sale of corn protected from corn root- Biotechnology) filed suit against Monsanto and Delta and
worm. Monsanto filed suit the same day in the U.S. Pine Land Company (Delta and Pine Land) in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri to District Court for Delaware alleging infringement of a
declare this patent invalid, non-infringed and unenforce- patent issued in April 2000, under which Syngenta
able. Dismissal papers have been filed with the court. Biotechnology is a licensee, and which allegedly relates to

( On Nov. 20, 1997, Bayer CropScience filed suit in U.S. certain agro-transformed cotton technology products,
District Court in North Carolina against the former including all of our current biotechnology cotton traits.
Monsanto Company and DEKALB Genetics Corporation Monsanto also is defending Delta and Pine Land, and will
(subsequently acquired by us) (DEKALB Genetics), indemnify Delta and Pine Land for any damages, pursu-
alleging that because DEKALB Genetics had failed to ant to its license agreement. Syngenta Biotechnology
disclose a research report involving the testing of plants seeks injunctive relief and monetary damages. Trial is
to determine glyphosate tolerance, Bayer CropScience scheduled for Oct. 4, 2004. Monsanto has substantial
had been induced by fraud to enter into a 1994 license defenses to the claims, including Syngenta Biotechnol-
agreement relating to technology incorporated into a ogy’s inequitable conduct in securing the patent, non-
specific type of herbicide-tolerant corn. Jury trial of the infringement and invalidity of the patent on multiple
fraud claims ended April 22, 1999, with a verdict against bases, including failure to invent or make the subject
DEKALB Genetics for $15 million in actual damages and matter claimed in the patent.
$50 million in punitive damages. The damage awards

( On July 25, 2002, Syngenta Seeds, Inc. (Syngenta Seeds)
have been paid in full. DEKALB Genetics appealed the also filed a suit against Monsanto, DEKALB Genetics,
jury verdict and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Pioneer Hi-Bred International, Inc. (Pioneer), and Dow
Circuit upheld the judgment. The U.S. Supreme Court Agrosciences, L.L.C., Mycogen Plant Science and
vacated the punitive damage award and remanded the Agrigenetics, Inc., collectively d.b.a. Mycogen Seeds, in
case to the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit to the U.S. District Court for Delaware alleging infringement
reconsider the issue in light of the Supreme Court’s of three patents issued between June 2000 and June
punitive damages decision in State Farm Mutual Auto- 2002. The patents allegedly pertain to insect resistant
mobile Insurance Co. v. Campbell. On Sept. 29, 2003, transgenic corn, including our insect-resistant corn traits.
the Federal Circuit once again affirmed the judgment of Syngenta Seeds seeks injunctive relief and monetary
the District Court, stating that the central holding of damages. The defendants have substantial defenses to
State Farm had no bearing on the case. Monsanto will the claims, including non-infringement, non-enforceability
again request that the U.S. Supreme Court overturn the of the patents due to inequitable conduct before the U.S.
decision of the Federal Circuit. Patent Office during the procurement of the patents, and

( On Dec. 4, 2000, in view of threats of patent infringe- invalidity of the various patents. Trial is scheduled for
ment made by Bayer CropScience against Monsanto’s Nov. 29, 2004.
licensees for its YieldGard corn, Monsanto filed suit in Monsanto is defending several lawsuits which allege that,
the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of beginning in 1988, Monsanto and the former Monsanto
Missouri, for a declaratory judgment against Bayer Crop- Company conspired with competitors, through a series of
Science to invalidate four patents that had been assigned negotiations and legal settlements, to fix the price of
to Bayer CropScience by Plant Genetics Systems, N.V. glyphosate-based herbicides and paraquat-based herbicides at
(PGS). Monsanto successfully maintained that the pat- prices higher than the market would otherwise bear. These
ents, which involve claims to truncated Bt technology,
were invalid and not infringed by MON810 in YieldGard
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lawsuits all seek monetary damages. The following two cases damages, resulting from alleged failure to exercise reasonable
have been consolidated and are currently pending in U.S. efforts to complete a merger between the two companies. The
District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, and were amended complaint alleges that the former Monsanto Com-
filed alleging claims on behalf of all direct purchasers of pany tortiously interfered with Delta and Pine Land’s prospec-
glyphosate-based herbicides or paraquat-based herbicides in tive business relations by feigning interest in the merger so as
the United States from March 1, 1988, to the present: (i) a to keep Delta and Pine Land from pursuing transactions with
suit filed by S&M Farm Supply, Inc. on Nov. 21, 2001, in U.S. other entities. On Sept. 9, 2003, the Court granted Monsanto’s
District Court for the Northern District of California; and motion to file a counterclaim seeking to set aside the merger
(ii) a suit filed by Orange Cove Ag-Chem and Sidehill Citrus agreement on the basis of Delta and Pine Land’s fraudulent
Grove, Inc., on March 11, 2002, in U.S. District Court for the nondisclosure of material information, and substantial dam-
Eastern District of California. On Oct. 16, 2003, the District ages including recoupment of the $83 million breakup fee
Court denied plaintiffs’ motion to certify these actions as class previously paid to Delta and Pine Land. The court has
actions. Plaintiffs have asked for immediate appellate review scheduled April 15, 2005, as the due date for final pretrial
of the District Court’s decision. In addition, three other filings. No trial date has been set. We have substantial
purported class action lawsuits alleging the same facts have defenses to this litigation and the claimed damages, including:
been filed by individuals, and are pending in state courts in our payment of the break-up fee; Delta and Pine Land’s
California and Tennessee. contemporaneous disclosures that it was unaffected by the

failed merger; and representations by the U.S. Department of
Grower Lawsuits Justice that the merger would have been opposed by the
Two purported class action lawsuits by farmers, concerning agency.
our biotechnology trait products, have been consolidated in
U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri. The Agent Orange
suits were initially filed against the former Monsanto Company Various manufacturers of herbicides used by the U.S. armed
by two groups of farmers: one on Dec. 14, 1999, in the U.S. services during the Vietnam War, including the former
District Court for the District of Columbia; and the other on Monsanto Company, have been parties to lawsuits filed on
Feb. 14, 2002, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern behalf of veterans and others alleging injury from exposure to
District of Illinois. In March 2001, plaintiffs amended their the herbicides. In the United States this litigation has been
complaint to add Pioneer, Syngenta Seeds, Syngenta Crop assigned to Judge Weinstein of the U.S. District Court for the
Protection, and Bayer CropScience as defendants. The com- Eastern District of New York, as part of In re Agent Orange

plaints included both tort and antitrust allegations. The tort Product Liability Litigation, MDL 381, a multidistrict litiga-
claims included alleged violations of unspecified international tion proceeding established in 1977 to coordinate Agent
laws through patent license agreements, alleged breaches of Orange-related litigation in the United States (MDL). In 1984,
an implied warranty of merchantability, and alleged violations a settlement in the MDL proceeding concluded all class action
of unspecified consumer fraud and deceptive business prac- litigation filed on behalf of U.S. and certain other groups of
tices laws, all in connection with the sale of genetically plaintiffs. Approximately 22 suits filed by individual
modified seed. The antitrust claims included allegations of U.S. veterans contesting the denial of their claims subsequent
violations of various antitrust laws, including allegations of a to the class action settlement have been consolidated in the
conspiracy among defendants to fix seed prices in the United MDL and are currently pending in the District Court. On
States in violation of federal antitrust laws. Plaintiffs sought Feb. 14, 2000, the District Court dismissed claims by two of
declaratory and injunctive relief in addition to antitrust, these plaintiffs, on the ground that they were barred by the
treble, compensatory and punitive damages and attorneys’ 1984 settlement. On Nov. 30, 2001, the U.S. Court of Appeals
fees. On Sept. 22, 2003, the District Court granted Monsanto’s for the Second Circuit vacated the District Court’s dismissal,
motion for summary judgment on all tort claims, and denied and on June 9, 2003, the U.S. Supreme Court failed to
plaintiffs’ motion to allow the tort claims to proceed as a class overturn the judgment of the Court of Appeals, thereby
action. On Sept. 30, 2003, the District Court denied plaintiffs’ allowing these two claims to proceed notwithstanding the
motion to allow their antitrust claims to proceed as a class 1984 class action settlement. The District Court has sched-
action. Plaintiffs have asked for immediate appellate review of uled a hearing on Jan. 12, 2004, on the issue of whether it
the District Court’s decision denying class certification of their retains jurisdiction over the two cases. Defendants have
antitrust claims. stated that they will file a motion to dismiss on the basis of

the government contract defense, which has led to the
Proceedings Related to Delta and Pine Land Company dismissal of other Agent Orange-related suits.
On Jan. 18, 2000, Delta and Pine Land reinstituted a suit Certain Korean veterans of the Vietnam War have filed
against the former Monsanto Company in the Circuit Court of suit in Seoul, South Korea, against The Dow Chemical
the First Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi, Company and the former Monsanto Company. Plaintiffs allege
seeking unspecified compensatory damages for lost stock that they were exposed to herbicides, and that they suffered
market value of not less than $1 billion, as well as punitive injuries or their children suffered birth defects as a result. 
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Three separate complaints filed in October 1999 are being ment the recommended remedy was estimated at $1.5 million,
handled collectively and currently involve approximately and funds were reserved for this amount. The EPA has
16,700 plaintiffs. The complaints fail to assert any specific approved the EE/CA Report. As of this time, the EPA has not
causes of action but seek damages of 300 million won identified elevated dioxin levels at the Poca Strip Mine or
(approximately $250,000) per plaintiff. On May 23, 2002, the Manila Creek landfills. Also with regard to the EPA’s focus on
Seoul District Court ruled in favor of the manufacturers and dioxin in the Kanawha River, in May 2002, the EPA sent
dismissed all claims of the plaintiffs on the basis of lack of Monsanto, as well as Solutia, a ‘‘notice of potential liability
causation and statutes of limitations. Plaintiffs have filed an and offer to negotiate for removal action’’ regarding the
appeal de novo with the Seoul High Court and the parties Kanawha River Site in Putnam and Kanawha counties, West
have started the briefing process required by that Court. Virginia. This communication was premised on Pharmacia’s
Other ancillary actions are also pending in Korea, including a former operations at the Nitro plant. Pharmacia, Solutia, and
request for provisional relief pending resolution of the main Monsanto have all been in communication with the EPA
action. regarding the notice and offer. Monsanto believes that the

Kanawha River Site is the responsibility of Solutia under the
Activities of Foreign Affiliates terms of the Distribution Agreement between Pharmacia and
During an internal audit and follow-up review conducted by Solutia, and has tendered responsibility for it to Solutia,
management and outside counsel, management learned of which has declined to accept the matter. Until responsibility
certain books and records and compliance irregularities for this matter is resolved with Solutia, Monsanto is managing
involving the company’s Indonesian affiliate companies and it. The EPA and Monsanto are negotiating a consent order
certain of their foreign national employees. The employment under which, if executed, Monsanto would prepare an EE/CA
of those employees involved in the irregularities has been Report, which would contain the results of our investigation
terminated. The company notified the SEC of this matter on of dioxin contamination in the Kanawha River, an evaluation
Nov. 12, 2002, and thereafter provided a full report of its of removal options, and our recommended removal approach.
internal review to the SEC, and provided a copy to the At this point, the degree to which Monsanto/Solutia/
U.S. Department of Justice. The company will continue to Pharmacia, as opposed to third parties, will ultimately be
cooperate with further review of this matter. For the responsible for costs associated with this matter is unclear.
eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003, and for the years ended
Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001, the net combined revenues of the OTHER INFORMATION
company’s Indonesian operations were less than 0.8 percent

The company continues to cooperate with the U.S. Depart-
of total company revenues. Their net income (loss) for these

ment of Justice, Antitrust Division, in connection with an
periods was ($7 million), $4 million and ($10 million),

inquiry regarding possible anticompetitive conduct in the
respectively, excluding restructuring charges of approximately

glyphosate-based herbicide industry.
$5 million in each of 2002 and 2001. Neither the commercial
impact nor any action resulting from these matters is RELATIONSHIPS AMONG MONSANTO COMPANY, PHARMACIA CORPORATION
expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial AND SOLUTIA INC.
position, profitability or liquidity.

Prior to Sept. 1, 1997, a corporation that was then known as
Environmental Proceedings Monsanto Company (Former Monsanto) operated an agricul-
Since the late 1990s, the U.S. Environmental Protection tural products business (the Ag Business), a pharmaceuticals
Agency (EPA) has focused attention on the presence of and nutrition business (the Pharmaceuticals Business) and a
dioxin in the Kanawha River in West Virginia. As part of its chemical products business (the Chemicals Business). Former
efforts in this regard, the EPA is conducting preliminary Monsanto is today known as Pharmacia Corporation.
assessments at more than 20 sites identified as potential Pharmacia is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer, which
sources of dioxin in the Kanawha River. Among these sites together with its subsidiaries operates the Pharmaceuticals
are three landfills — the Heizer Creek landfill, the Poca Strip Business. Our business consists of the operations, assets and
Mine landfill, and the Manila Creek landfill — that Pharmacia liabilities that were previously the Ag Business. Solutia Inc.
used in the late 1950s to dispose of plant waste from its comprises the operations, assets and liabilities that were
former Nitro, West Virginia, manufacturing location. Through previously the Chemicals Business. The following table sets
the preliminary assessment work, the EPA identified an forth a chronology of events that resulted in the formation of
elevated dioxin level in one soil sample taken at the Heizer Monsanto, Pharmacia and Solutia as three separate and
Creek landfill, and notified Pharmacia of its potential liability distinct corporations, and provides a brief background on the
at that landfill. Pursuant to a September 1999 consent order relationships among these three corporations.
with the EPA, Pharmacia and (after Sept. 1, 2000) Monsanto
prepared and submitted to the EPA an Engineering Evalua-
tion/Cost Analysis (EE/CA) Report, which contained, among
other things, our recommended remedy. The cost to imple-
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Date of Event Description of Event

Sept. 1, 1997 ( Pharmacia (then known as Monsanto Company) entered into a Distribution Agreement with Solutia related to the transfer
of the operations, assets and liabilities of the Chemical Business from Pharmacia (then known as Monsanto Company) to
Solutia.

( Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, Solutia assumed and agreed to indemnify Pharmacia (then known as Monsanto
Company) for certain liabilities related to the Chemicals Business.

Dec. 19, 1999 ( Pharmacia (then known as Monsanto Company) entered into an agreement with Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. (PNU) relating
to a merger (the Merger).

Feb. 9, 2000 ( We were incorporated in Delaware as a wholly owned subsidiary of Pharmacia (then known as Monsanto Company) under
the name ‘‘Monsanto Ag Company.’’

March 31, 2000 ( Effective date of the Merger.

( In connection with the Merger, (1) PNU became a wholly owned subsidiary of Former Monsanto (now Pharmacia);
(2) Former Monsanto changed its name from ‘‘Monsanto Company’’ to ‘‘Pharmacia Corporation’’; and (3) we changed our
name from ‘‘Monsanto Ag Company’’ to ‘‘Monsanto Company.’’

Sept. 1, 2000 ( We entered into a Separation Agreement with Pharmacia related to the transfer of the operations, assets and liabilities of
the Ag Business from Pharmacia to us.

( Pursuant to the Separation Agreement, we were required to indemnify Pharmacia for any liabilities primarily related to the
Ag Business or the Chemicals Business, and for liabilities assumed by Solutia pursuant to the Sept. 1, 1997 Distribution
Agreement, to the extent that Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge those liabilities.

Oct. 23, 2000 ( We completed an initial public offering in which we sold approximately 15 percent of the shares of our common stock to the
public. Pharmacia continued to own 220 million shares of our common stock.

July 1, 2002 ( We, Pharmacia and Solutia amended the Sept. 1, 1997 Distribution Agreement, to provide that Solutia will indemnify us for
the same liabilities for which it had agreed to indemnify Pharmacia, and to clarify the parties’ rights and obligations.

( We and Pharmacia amended the Sept. 1, 2000 Separation Agreement, to clarify our respective rights and obligations relating
to our indemnification obligations.

Aug. 13, 2002 ( Pharmacia distributed the 220 million shares of our common stock that it owned to its shareowners via a tax-free stock
dividend (the Monsanto Spinoff).

( As a result of the Monsanto Spinoff, Pharmacia no longer owns any equity interest in Monsanto.

April 16, 2003 ( Pursuant to a merger transaction, Pharmacia became a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer.

The liabilities for which we were required to indemnify Solutia is defending all litigation relating to the liabilities
Pharmacia, pursuant to the Sept. 1, 2000, Separation Agree- it assumed from Pharmacia, pursuant to powers of attorney
ment, include the liabilities that Solutia assumed from granted by Pharmacia and by us. The litigation that Solutia is
Pharmacia in connection with the spinoff of Solutia on defending pursuant to the Distribution Agreement is
Sept. 1, 1997, to the extent that Solutia fails to pay, perform described by Solutia in its Reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q,
or discharge those liabilities. In general, this indemnification filed with the SEC; since Solutia is defending this litigation,
obligation applies to Pharmacia liabilities that were assumed we do not participate in the preparation of those filings.
by Solutia and which Pharmacia would otherwise be required The litigation that Solutia is defending has included
to pay. These liabilities may include, among others, litigation, litigation in state and federal courts in Alabama alleging
environmental remediation, and certain retiree liabilities relat- personal injury, emotional distress and property damages
ing to individuals who were employed by Pharmacia prior to arising from exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs),
the Solutia spinoff. These include liabilities that were which were discharged from an Anniston, Alabama, plant site
Pharmacia liabilities prior to the spinoff of Solutia, and from that was formerly owned by Pharmacia and that was trans-
which Pharmacia could not be released, either by operation of ferred to Solutia as part of the Solutia Spinoff. That litigation
law, because of the unavailability of third-party consents, or included, but is not limited to, Sabrina Abernathy, et al. v.

otherwise. Solutia has agreed to indemnify both Pharmacia
and us for any liabilities that we incur in connection with the
liabilities that Solutia assumed.
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Monsanto Company, et al., in state court in Alabama; and the Pennsylvania Supreme Court. Under Pennsylvania law, a
Antonia Tolbert, et al. v. Monsanto Company, et al., in the bond in the amount of 120 percent of the judgment, or
U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Alabama. In $71.4 million in this case, must be posted in order to stay
September 2003, the state and federal courts approved a execution of the judgment pending appeal of the judgment.
global settlement of the Abernathy and Tolbert cases. Solutia Pharmacia and Solutia requested our assistance to facilitate
will provide $50 million over time, and Solutia and Pfizer Inc., the posting of an appeal bond in this action. Pursuant to an
the parent company of Pharmacia, will also participate in an agreement entered into with Pharmacia and Solutia on
array of community initiatives. We provided $150 million to Nov. 15, 2002, as amended on March 3, 2003, we posted the
the settlement fund during August 2003, and $400 million required appeal bond, collateralized with a $25 million letter
during September 2003, and expect to receive approximately of credit, and Solutia provided letters of credit to us in the
$155 million in reimbursement from Pharmacia’s commercial aggregate amount of $59.9 million to secure a portion of our
insurance. We and the insurer responsible for approximately obligations in connection with the appeal bond. Solutia also
$140 million of the reimbursement have agreed to mediation paid our out-of-pocket expenses in connection with obtaining
of a dispute regarding the amount due. The finalization of the the bond. Pursuant to a second amendment, dated Aug. 4,
settlement is contingent upon receipt of releases from 2003, we agreed to release one of the letters of credit in the
plaintiffs in the Abernathy case, in numbers satisfactory to aggregate amount of $39.9 million, in exchange for the right
Solutia, Pharmacia and us. to settle this litigation, including the right to access any

In consideration of our participation in the settlement, applicable insurance policies related to a resolution of the
Solutia agreed to issue warrants to us for the purchase of up underlying matter. Solutia continues to provide a $20 million
to 10 million shares of Solutia common stock, at a per share letter of credit to secure a portion of our obligations in
exercise price equal to $1.104 (the average closing price for connection with the appeal bond.
the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the Notwithstanding the settlement of the Anniston litigation,
five trading days immediately prior to the announcement of Solutia has stated that it still faces significant business and
the settlement). The warrants will be exercisable upon the liquidity risks. Therefore, we may still be called upon to
execution of a Solutia change in control agreement, or when indemnify Pharmacia; and may also determine that it is in our
Solutia’s average closing stock price during a 30-day period best interest to take additional action to reduce the likelihood
exceeds $10 per share. The warrants will expire upon the or amount of any indemnification. Therefore, it is still
earlier of 10 years after issuance, or seven days after a reasonably possible that our obligation to indemnify
change in control of Solutia. The warrants will be issued upon Pharmacia could result in a material adverse effect on our
the execution of a final warrant agreement between Solutia financial position, profitability and/or liquidity.
and us. At the time of Solutia’s 1997 spinoff from Pharmacia,

On Oct. 27, 2003, a motion was filed in U.S. District Solutia and Pharmacia entered into raw material supply
Court for the Northern District of Alabama, contending that contracts, including a 10-year requirements contract for the
the recent global PCB settlement also requires the payment of supply of formalin by Solutia. Because formalin is a raw
additional funds to plaintiffs in Owens v. Monsanto, another material used in the production of glyphosate, this formalin
Anniston-related PCB case previously settled by Solutia. supply contract was assigned to us when we separated from
Monsanto, Solutia and Pharmacia believe that this motion is Pharmacia in 2000. In September 2003, Solutia and we
without merit and that no additional sums are owed to those amended this contract upon mutually beneficial terms. Pursu-
plaintiffs. ant to this amendment, we made a $25 million prepayment to

Solutia is currently defending itself and Pharmacia in Solutia for formalin. The prepayment must either be
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Department of General exhausted or the remainder returned to us in cash or credit
Services, et al. v. United States Mineral Products, et al., a against other product sales by Sept. 30, 2004. In consideration
property damage suit currently pending in state court in for making the prepayment, the duration of our obligation
Pennsylvania. The trial court has entered judgment in the under the formalin supply contract was reduced.
amount of $59.5 million and Solutia has filed an appeal with
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Our Web site also includes the following corporate

Our Internet Web site address is http://www.monsanto.com. governance materials, at the tab ‘‘Our Pledge’’: our Code of
We make copies of our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly Business Conduct; our Code of Ethics for Chief Executive and
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and Senior Financial Officers; our Board of Directors’ Charter and
amendments to those reports available free of charge through Corporate Governance Guidelines; and charters of Board
our Internet Web site, as soon as reasonably practicable after committees. These materials are available in print to any
they have been filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to shareowner upon request by contacting the Office of the
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of General Counsel, Monsanto Company, 800 N. Lindbergh Blvd.,
1934 (1934 Act). Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed with respect to our St. Louis, Mo. 63167.
equity securities under Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act are also Information on our Web site does not constitute part of
available on the Web site, by the end of the business day after this Report.
filing. All of these materials are located at the ‘‘Investor
Information’’ tab.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES. 

Our general offices are located in St. Louis County, Missouri. Zarate, Argentina. Most of these properties are owned in fee.
We also lease additional research facilities in St. Louis County. However, we lease the land underlying the facilities that we
These office and research facilities are principal properties. own in Alvin, Texas and in Texas City, Texas. In addition, we
We and our subsidiaries own or lease manufacturing facilities, lease the manufacturing facility at Augusta, Georgia, with an
laboratories, seed production and other agricultural facilities, option to buy, pursuant to an industrial revenue bond
office space, warehouses and other land parcels in North financing.
America, South America, Europe, Asia, Australia and Africa. Our principal properties are suitable and adequate for

Principal properties used by the Seeds and Genomics their use. Utilization of these facilities may vary with seasonal,
segment include seed conditioning plants at: Constantine, economic and other business conditions, but none of the
Michigan; Grinnell, Iowa; Kearney, Nebraska; Peyehorade, principal properties is substantially idle, with the exception
France; Rojas, Argentina; Uberlândia, Brazil, and Villagran, of the manufacturing facility at Texas City, Texas. This is
Mexico. The Seeds and Genomics segment also uses seed one of the facilities that manufactures a key raw material
foundation and production facilities at various locations, for glyphosate herbicide, and was built in order to utilize
breeding facilities, and genomics and other research byproduct from a neighboring plant owned by another
laboratories. company. However, the neighboring plant currently is not

The Agricultural Productivity segment has principal supplying the byproduct. The facilities generally have suffi-
chemicals manufacturing facilities at the following locations: cient capacity for existing needs and expected near-term
Alvin, Texas; Antwerp, Belgium; Augusta, Georgia; Camaçari, growth, and expansion projects are undertaken as necessary
Brazil; Luling, Louisiana; Muscatine, Iowa; São Jose dos to meet future needs. In certain instances, we have granted
Campos, Brazil; Soda Springs, Idaho; Texas City, Texas; and leases on portions of sites not required for current operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

For information concerning certain legal proceedings involving ships Among Monsanto Company, Pharmacia Corporation and
Monsanto, see the following information which is incorporated Solutia Inc.’’ appearing in Item 1 of this Report; and
herein by reference: ‘‘Business — Environmental Matters,’’ ‘‘MD&A — Cautionary Statements: Risk Factors Regarding
‘‘Business — Legal Proceedings,’’ and ‘‘Business — Relation- Forward-Looking Statements,’’ in Item 7 of this Report.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS. 

Not applicable.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Information regarding executive officers is contained in
Item 10 of Part III of this Report (General Instruction G) and
is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Monsanto’s common stock is traded principally on the New The following table sets forth dividend information, as
York Stock Exchange, under the symbol MON. The number of well as the high and low sales prices for Monsanto’s common
shareowners of record as of Nov. 10, 2003, was 58,131. stock, for the calendar quarters indicated. Note that because

On Sept. 24, 2003, Monsanto declared a quarterly of the company’s change in fiscal year end from December 31
dividend on its common stock of $0.13 per share, which was to August 31 in 2003, only the first two quarters were
paid on Oct. 31, 2003, to shareowners of record on Oct. 10, reported for 2003.
2003. The current dividend rate reflects an 8 percent increase
from the original $0.12 policy adopted by the board of
directors following the IPO.

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Dividends Per Share Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 N/A(1) N/A N/A

2002 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.48

2001 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.48

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Total
Common Stock Price Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003 High $ 19.88 $ 22.60 N/A(2) N/A N/A
Low 13.55 15.69 N/A(2) N/A N/A

2002 High $ 33.13 $ 33.29 $ 19.10 $ 20.47 $ 33.29
Low 28.30 17.27 13.01 13.55 13.01

2001 High $35.680 $38.470 $38.800 $37.900 $38.800
Low 26.875 28.800 30.900 28.600 26.875

(1) During the period from July 1, 2003 through Aug. 31, 2003, Monsanto paid a dividend of $0.13 per share.
(2) During the period from July 1, 2003 through Aug. 31, 2003, the high and low sales prices of Monsanto stock were $26.35 and $20.86, respectively.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share and pro forma share amounts) 2003 2002 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Operating Results:
Net sales(1) $ 3,373 $ 3,110 $ 4,673 $ 5,462 $ 5,493 $ 5,248 $ 4,448
Income from operations 471 136 319 659 567 610 55
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change (11) 37 129 295 175 150 (125)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle(1,2,3) (12) (1,822) (1,822) — (26) — —
Net income (loss) (23) (1,785) (1,693) 295 149 150 (125)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share and per Pro Forma Share:(4)

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $ (0.04) $ 0.14 $ 0.49 $ 1.12 $ 0.68 $ 0.58 $ (0.48)
Net income (loss) (0.09) (6.78) (6.45) 1.12 0.58 0.58 (0.48)

Financial Position at end of Period:
Total assets $ 9,461 $ 9,151 $ 8,890 $11,429 $11,726 $11,101 $10,891
Working capital(5) 3,018 2,846 2,614 2,420 2,216 2,323 1,879
Current ratio(5) 2.55:1 2.66:1 2.44:1 2.02:1 1.80:1 2.36:1 2.01:1
Long-term debt 1,258 1,148 851 893 962 4,278 4,388
Debt-to-capital(6) 23% 27% 19% 19% 19% 48% 53%

Other Data (applicable for periods subsequent to IPO):(7)

Dividends per share(8) $ 0.37 $ 0.36 $ 0.48 $ 0.48 $ 0.09 N/A N/A
Stock price per share:

High $ 26.35 $ 33.29 $33.290 $38.800 $27.380 N/A N/A
Low $ 13.55 $ 13.01 $13.010 $26.875 $19.750 N/A N/A

End of period $ 25.71 $ 18.37 $19.130 $33.800 $27.060 N/A N/A
Diluted shares outstanding 261.7 263.2 262.6 263.6 258.5 N/A N/A
Employees (at end of period) 13,200 14,000 13,700 14,600 14,700 N/A N/A

See ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ for information regarding the
factors that have affected or may affect our business results. In July 2003, Monsanto’s board of directors approved a change in
the company’s fiscal year end from December 31 to August 31. Accordingly, data for 2003 presented in this report relates to the
period from January 1 through August 31, otherwise known as the transition period. For all periods except the eight months
ended Aug. 31, 2002, the operating results data, earnings (loss) per share and per pro forma share data, and financial position
data set forth above are derived from Monsanto Company’s audited consolidated financial statements. For the eight-month period
ended Aug. 31, 2002, this data is derived from unaudited consolidated financial statements.
(1) In 2000, Monsanto adopted the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.

Monsanto’s adoption of SAB 101 primarily affected its recognition of license revenues from biotechnology traits sold through third-party seed companies. Monsanto
adopted the provisions of SAB 101 as an accounting change, recognizing as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle a loss of $26 million ($0.10 per
pro forma share) effective Jan. 1, 2000. Assuming SAB 101 is applied retroactively, net income and diluted earnings per pro forma share would have been higher
by these amounts in 2000, and lower by these same amounts in 1999.

(2) In 2002, Monsanto adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In connection with the adoption
of this new accounting standard, Monsanto recognized a transitional goodwill impairment charge of $1.8 billion aftertax ($6.94 per share) effective Jan. 1, 2002.

(3) In 2003, Monsanto adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. In connection with the adoption of this new accounting standard,
Monsanto recorded a pretax cumulative effect of accounting change of $12 million aftertax ($0.05 per share) effective Jan. 1, 2003.

(4) Diluted earnings per pro forma share for 2000 were calculated using 258 million weighted-average common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive common
share equivalents totaling 0.5 million, consisting of outstanding stock options. For all periods prior to 2000, diluted earnings per pro forma share were calculated
using 258 million weighted-average common shares, the number of common shares outstanding immediately after the IPO in October 2000.

(5) Working capital is total current assets less total current liabilities; current ratio represents total current assets divided by total current liabilities.
(6) Debt-to-capital is the total of short-term and long-term debt, divided by the sum of short-term and long-term debt and shareowners’ equity. Fluctuations in our

debt-to-capital ratio from December 31 to August 31 were affected by the seasonality of our business.
(7) Prior to Sept. 1, 2000, Monsanto was the agricultural business of Pharmacia Corporation and was not a separate corporate entity with shares outstanding or

employees.
(8) The dividend of $0.09 per share on the company’s common stock declared in the fourth quarter of calendar year 2000 is prorated. It was based on a quarterly

dividend rate of $0.12 per share, which reflected a policy adopted by the board of directors following Monsanto’s IPO. During 2003, the quarterly dividend amount
was increased to $0.13 per share.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

BACKGROUND CHANGE IN FISCAL YEAR END

Monsanto Company is a leading global provider of agricultural In July 2003, Monsanto’s board of directors approved a
products and integrated solutions for farmers. We produce change to Monsanto’s fiscal year end from December 31 to
leading seed brands, including DEKALB and Asgrow, and we August 31. This change aligns our fiscal year more closely
develop biotechnology traits that assist farmers in controlling with the seasonal nature of our business. In view of this
insects and weeds. We provide other seed companies with change, MD&A compares the consolidated financial state-
genetic material and biotechnology traits for their seed ments as of and for the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003
brands. We also make Roundup herbicide and other herbi- (the transition period) with the consolidated financial state-
cides. Our seeds, related biotechnology trait products and ments as of and for the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2002.
herbicides can be combined to provide growers with inte- References to 2003 refer to the transition period unless
grated solutions that improve productivity and reduce the otherwise specified. Note that although consolidated financial
costs of farming. We also provide lawn-and-garden herbicide statements are not presented as of and for the eight months
products for the residential market and animal agricultural ended Aug. 31, 2002, we have included summary information
products focused on improving dairy cow productivity and in MD&A for these periods for comparability purposes
swine genetics. because of the seasonality of our business. We are also

We manage our business in two segments: Seeds and including a discussion and analysis of our financial statements
Genomics, and Agricultural Productivity. The Seeds and for fiscal years ended Dec. 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002.
Genomics segment consists of the global seeds and related Throughout the MD&A, data for all periods except as of
traits businesses, and genetic technology platforms. The and for the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2002, are derived
Agricultural Productivity segment consists of the crop protec- from our audited consolidated financial statements, which
tion products, animal agriculture, lawn-and-garden herbicide appear in this report. All data as of and for the eight months
products, and environmental technologies businesses. ended Aug. 31, 2002, are derived from our unaudited

As discussed in Item 1 — ‘‘Business,’’ Monsanto comprises consolidated financial statements, which are not presented
the operations, assets and liabilities that were previously the herein. Summary financial information for this period can be
agricultural business of Pharmacia, which is now a subsidiary found in Note 4 — Change in Fiscal Year End.
of Pfizer. The consolidated financial statements for the period

FINANCIAL MEASURESprior to Sept. 1, 2000, were prepared on a carve-out basis to
reflect the historical operating results, assets, liabilities, and The primary operating performance measure for our two busi-
cash flows of the agricultural business operations. The costs ness segments is earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of
of certain services and debt service provided by Pharmacia accounting change, interest, and income taxes (EBIT). We
included in the Statement of Consolidated Operations for this believe that EBIT is useful to investors and management to
period were allocated to Monsanto based on methodologies demonstrate the operational profitability of our segments by
that management believes to be reasonable, but which do not excluding interest and taxes, which are generally accounted
necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial for across the entire company on a consolidated basis. EBIT
position, or cash flows would have been had Monsanto is also one of the measures used by Monsanto management in
actually been a separate, stand-alone entity before Sept. 1, determining resource allocations within the company.
2000. We also provide information regarding free cash flow, an

Beginning Sept. 1, 2000, the consolidated financial state- important liquidity measure for Monsanto. We define free cash
ments reflect the results of operations, financial position, and flow as the total of net cash provided or required by
cash flows of the company as a separate entity responsible for operations and provided or required by investing activities.
procuring or providing for itself the services and financing We believe that free cash flow is useful to investors and
previously provided by Pharmacia. The consolidated financial management as a measure of the ability of our business to
statements also include the costs of services purchased from generate cash. This cash can be used for business needs and
Pharmacia and the reimbursement for services provided to obligations, to reinvest into the company for future growth, or
Pharmacia pursuant to a transition services agreement. returned to our shareowners through dividend payments or

MD&A should be read in conjunction with Monsanto’s share repurchases. Free cash flow is also one of the
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying performance measures management uses to determine
notes. Unless otherwise indicated, ‘‘earnings (loss) per share’’ incentive compensation.
and ‘‘per share’’ mean diluted earnings (loss) per share;
‘‘earnings (loss) per pro forma share’’ and ‘‘per pro forma
share’’ mean basic and diluted earnings (loss) per pro forma
share. In the tables, all dollar amounts are expressed in
millions, except per share and per pro forma share amounts.
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The presentation of EBIT and free cash flow information Eight Months
is intended to supplement investors’ understanding of our Ended Aug. 31,

operating performance and liquidity. Our EBIT and free cash 2003 2002

flow measures may not be comparable to other companies’ Net Sales $3,373 $ 3,110
Gross Profit 1,577 1,442EBIT and free cash flow measures. Furthermore, these
Operating Expenses:measures are not intended to replace net income (loss), cash

Selling, general and administrative expenses 741 719flows, financial position, or comprehensive income (loss), as
Bad-debt expense 40 176

determined in accordance with accounting principles generally Research and development expenses 330 348
accepted in the United States. Restructuring charges — net (5) 63

Total Operating Expenses 1,106 1,306
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Income From Operations 471 136
Interest expense — net 46 35
Settlement of PCB litigation 396 —Overview of Financial Performance (transition period compared with
Other expense — net 67 51eight months ended Aug. 31, 2002)

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and
Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change (38) 50We recognized a net loss of $23 million during the transition

Income tax provision (benefit) (27) 13
period, and a net loss of $1.8 billion during the comparable

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accountingperiod last year. The following factors affected the
Change (11) 37

eight-month comparison: Cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle, net of tax benefit (12) (1,822)

2003: Net Loss $ (23) $(1,785)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:( An aftertax charge of $12 million effective Jan. 1, 2003,
Income (loss) before cumulative effect ofupon adoption of a new accounting standard relating to

accounting change $(0.04) $ 0.14
asset retirement obligations Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.05) (6.92)

( An aftertax charge of $252 million in 2003 related to the Net Loss $(0.09) $ (6.78)

settlement of Solutia’s polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)
litigation Net sales for the transition period increased 8 percent over the

comparable period last year. Both of our operating segments
2002: benefited from improved performance in Latin America. In the

eight-month period last year, net sales were negatively affected
( A $1.8 billion aftertax transitional goodwill impairment by difficult economic conditions in that region, as well as the

charge, upon adoption of a new accounting standard operational changes we made to our business to address the
relating to goodwill uncertainties there. In the Seeds and Genomics segment,

U.S. seed and trait sales continued their strong growth in 2003,( Establishment of a $100 million aftertax bad-debt reserve
with seed and trait sales for all crops increasing during thein 2002 related to Argentine receivables
eight-month period. Sales in the Agricultural Productivity

( Actions in 2002 to reduce risks in Latin America, due to segment declined because of the continued shift toward lower-
economic and market uncertainties, that negatively priced Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbicides and
affected results lower U.S. Roundup volumes in the postpatent glyphosate

( Charges relating to our 2002 restructuring plan market. Sales of our selective herbicides also declined. For a
more detailed discussion of the factors affecting the net sales

( A gain from sales of certain herbicide assets for use in
comparison, please see ‘‘Seeds and Genomics Segment’’ andcertain ex-U.S. markets
‘‘Agricultural Productivity Segment.’’

On an ongoing business basis, our results in 2003 were
affected by lower volumes and average net selling prices of Gross profit for the transition period increased 9 percent, which
Roundup herbicides in the United States. However, stronger was consistent with the 8 percent increase in net sales.
sales of our seeds and traits in the United States mitigated Increases in Seeds and Genomics gross profit were partly
this shortfall. During the transition period, our Seeds and offset by declines in Agricultural Productivity gross profit, as
Genomics segment delivered a greater gross profit contribu- the continued growth of our Seeds and Genomics segment
tion than that of the Roundup and other glyphosate-based improved our margins this year. Better financial results in
herbicides. This milestone demonstrates the increasing contri- Latin America also improved the margin comparison this year,
bution of that segment to our results. as the market factors in Latin America and our actions in

response to those factors negatively affected our margins in
2002. Collectively, these items have improved the eight-month
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gross profit comparison. They have more than mitigated the with Solutia has been signed and the warrants have been
effect of the shift in Roundup and other glyphosate-based received.
herbicide sales in the United States to lower-priced products.

Other expense — net increased to $67 million during theDuring the eight-month period, the gross profit of our seeds
transition period. Net other expense in 2003 consistedand traits business surpassed the gross profit contribution of
primarily of equity affiliate expense and foreign-currencyour glyphosate business. We expect this trend to continue in
transaction losses. Our equity affiliate expense of $26 millionfiscal year 2004 and beyond. As a percent of net sales, gross
is primarily related to our Renessen LLC (Renessen) jointprofit gained one point to 47 percent.
venture. This joint venture is owned and funded 50-50 with

Operating expenses decreased 15 percent for the eight-month Cargill Incorporated. It was formed to develop and market
comparison. In June 2002, we increased our allowance for products for the grain processing and animal feed industries.
doubtful trade receivables by $154 million because of the During the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2002, we recorded
economic turmoil and related market conditions in Argentina. approximately $20 million of other income related to sales of
We also recorded $63 million of net operating expenses certain herbicide assets for use in ex-U.S. markets, including
related to the restructuring plan approved in 2002. These and the Nissan transaction in Japan and a smaller transaction with
other operating expenses last year were partially offset by a Nufarm Australia Ltd. (Nufarm) in the Australia and New
$25 million reduction in selling, general and administrative Zealand markets. We also recognized $10 million of other
(SG&A) costs stemming from the sale of certain Monsanto income during the 2002 eight-month period related to gains
herbicide assets in Japan to Nissan Chemical Industries that were realized upon the sale of equity securities. These
(Nissan). SG&A expenses in 2003 also reflected a reduction, gains were slightly offset by net currency losses reflecting the
to a lesser extent, in costs related to agreements that are part devaluation of our net assets denominated in Argentine pesos.
of our ongoing business. During the transition period, our

Net interest expense increased $11 million to $46 million duringbad-debt expense was significantly lower, and our operating
the transition period. Although our debt levels during theexpenses were reduced by $5 million in restructuring rever-
transition period were significantly lower than debt levelssals related to our past restructuring plans. However, higher
during the comparable period last year, higher interest ratesemployee-related costs, primarily accrued incentive compen-
associated with our long-term senior notes led to overallsation, drove SG&A expenses higher in 2003. Continued cost
higher interest expense. With the issuance of these notes, ourmanagement helped offset some of this increase and also
debt mix has shifted from primarily commercial paper towarddecreased R&D expenses by 5 percent. We are also continu-
longer-term borrowings, which carry higher interest rates.ing to see the benefits from our restructuring programs

We recognized an income tax benefit of $27 million in 2003through lower R&D expenses.
on a pretax loss of $38 million. During the same period lastIn August 2003, we participated in a global settlement,
year, we recognized an income tax provision of $13 million onwhich included Solutia and Pharmacia, relating to certain
$50 million of pretax income. The Solutia PCB litigationSolutia PCB litigation in Alabama. Our strong cash-generating
settlement expense in 2003 and the Argentine bad-debtcapabilities allowed us to contribute to this settlement,
expense in 2002 significantly affected the eight-month effec-thereby mitigating the longer-term litigation risk associated
tive tax rate comparison. Without these items, the effectivewith our contractual obligations related to Solutia. We paid a
tax rate for both eight-month periods would have beenportion of our share of the cash settlement ($150 million) in
33 percent.August 2003, and the remaining $400 million was paid in

The factors above explain the change in incomeSeptember 2003. We expect to receive approximately
(loss) before the cumulative effect of accounting change. We had$155 million in reimbursement from Pharmacia’s commercial
income of $37 million for the eight months ended Aug. 31,insurance. We and the insurer responsible for approximately
2002; we had a loss of $11 million for the same period this$140 million of the reimbursement have agreed to mediation
year.of a dispute regarding the amount due. Miscellaneous receiv-

ables of $155 million have been recorded for the anticipated
Review of Calendar Year Financial Performance (calendar year 2002insurance reimbursement, approximately  $140 million of
compared to calendar year 2001, and calendar year 2001 compared towhich we expect to receive during fiscal year 2004, notwith-
calendar year 2000)standing the mediation. As a result, we recorded a pretax

charge of $396 million ($252 million aftertax, reflecting a tax
Year Ended Dec. 31,

benefit of $144 million) during the transition period. The net
2002 2001 2000

charge includes $1 million of related legal expenses. In
Net Sales $4,673 $5,462 $5,493

consideration of our participation in the settlement, Solutia Income before cumulative effect of
has agreed to issue warrants to us for the purchase of accounting change $ 129 $ 295 $ 175

Earnings per share (per pro forma share10 million shares of Solutia stock. We will estimate and record
in 2000) $ 0.49 $ 1.12 $ 0.68the value of these warrants after the final warrant agreement
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Review of Calendar Year 2002 slightly mitigated by increased sales of higher-margin seed
We recognized a net loss of $1.7 billion, or $6.45 per share, in traits.
2002. This net loss included a $1.8 billion aftertax ($6.94 per Operating expenses in 2002 declined 6 percent from
share) goodwill impairment upon the adoption of a new 2001, as a significant increase in Argentine bad-debt expense
goodwill accounting standard. In 2001, we recognized net was offset by the benefit of no longer amortizing goodwill, and
income of $295 million, or $1.12 per share. The factors that by a decline in our expenses. SG&A expenses for 2002
affected the year-to-year comparison are discussed below. declined 10 percent from 2001. These lower spending levels

Net sales declined 14 percent to $4.7 billion in 2002 from reflected cost management, lower employee incentives and
$5.5 billion in 2001. Sales declined in both the Agricultural other employee-related costs, and an approximate $25 million
Productivity segment and, to a lesser extent, the Seeds and reduction of costs stemming from the Nissan transaction in
Genomics segment. In the Agricultural Productivity segment, Japan.
continued competitive pressures on Roundup resulted in U.S. In 2002, we recorded $208 million of bad-debt expense,
market share loss, and unfavorable weather conditions in key the majority of which related to estimated uncollectible trade
planting regions contributed to lower U.S. sales of Roundup. receivables in Argentina. The allowance for doubtful trade
The effect of a shift in mix to lower-priced glyphosate receivables included $154 million ($100 million aftertax)
products also lowered U.S. sales of Roundup by decreasing recorded in the second quarter because of the economic
the average net selling price. The Seeds and Genomics turmoil and market conditions in that country. The remaining
segment experienced higher seed sales in the United States. bad-debt expense in 2002 was in line with our historical
Higher corn seed sales were partly offset by lower soybean experience.
sales. Trait revenues in the United States increased in 2002, R&D expenses in 2002 decreased 6 percent from 2001, as
even though 2001 results included trait sales for more than we continued to focus our spending on seed breeding, plant
one season because of our switch in 2001 to a royalty biotechnology and genomics. The restructuring of our early
payment system for licensed traits in corn and soybeans. genomics programs also contributed to the savings.

Both segments were affected in 2002 by economic Operating results in 2002 included the positive effect of
conditions in Latin America (including the economic crisis SFAS 142, the new accounting standard related to the
that began in Argentina at the end of 2001), by operational amortization of goodwill. Since we adopted SFAS 142 on
changes we made to our business model to address the Jan. 1, 2002, we no longer amortize goodwill. In comparison,
continued economic uncertainty and unfavorable market we recorded $121 million ($106 million, or $0.40 per share
conditions there, and by the actions we took in conjunction aftertax) of amortization and adjustments of goodwill in 2001.
with our customers in Argentina. Although these changes and Both 2002 and 2001 included charges relating to our
actions significantly affected both segments’ EBIT through restructuring plans. Results in 2002 included charges for our
lower sales in Latin America and higher product returns in 2002 restructuring plan, and 2001 results included charges for
Argentina, they were intended to reduce investments in our 2000 restructuring plan. Net pretax charges (including
working capital and our credit risk and other exposures in those recorded within cost of goods sold) related to our
Argentina and Brazil. Currency losses in Argentina also restructuring plans were $124 million in 2002, and $213 mil-
affected earnings in 2002 and, to a lesser extent, in 2001. In lion in 2001. For further details on both plans, see ‘‘Restruc-
2001, higher-than-anticipated returns of corn seed in Latin turing and Other Special Items’’ in MD&A.
America — primarily in Brazil — negatively affected sales. For Interest expense, net of interest income and capitalized
a more detailed discussion of these and other factors affecting interest, declined $14 million in 2002. We benefited from
net sales in 2001 and 2002, see ‘‘Seeds and Genomics lower commercial paper interest rates during most of the
Segment’’ and ‘‘Agricultural Productivity Segment.’’ year, as well as lower average borrowing levels. These benefits

Cost of goods sold declined 12 percent to $2.5 billion for were partially offset by higher interest rates associated with
2002, reflective of lower sales. Excluding costs related to our our long-term senior notes issued in August 2002. In 2001,
restructuring plans, we were able to keep the unit manufac- higher interest capitalized on construction ($30 million in
turing costs of Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbi- 2001 versus $8 million in 2002) reduced net interest expense,
cides flat, despite lower Roundup production volumes, which primarily associated with the construction of our Camaçari,
led to unfavorable cost of goods sold manufacturing variances. Brazil, facility, which was completed in late 2001.
These costs were offset by cost management efforts and Other expense (net) in 2002 decreased significantly from
lower raw material and energy prices. Lower seed inventory other expense (net) in 2001. In both periods, other expense
costs in the United States were offset by higher seed included equity affiliate expense of $41 million associated
obsolescence in Latin America. The combination of the with our Renessen joint venture. Both 2001 and 2002
aforementioned net sales and cost of goods sold factors included gains realized upon the sale of equity securities
resulted in an 18 percent decline in gross profit. As a percent (approximately $10 million in both years). On a year-to-year
of sales, gross profit declined one point. The gross profit comparison, other expense (net) was affected by a number of
effect of lower Roundup average net selling prices was
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items. In 2002, these factors included the following: currency improved technologies were part of our plan to increase
losses from net assets in Argentina, only partially offset by overall glyphosate production capacity and to operate more
currency gains in Brazil; approximately $20 million of other cost effectively. Both years included charges to cost of goods
income related to the Nissan and Nufarm transactions; and sold related to our restructuring plan to focus on key crops
other expense related to a settlement of litigation matters and to streamline certain of our glyphosate manufacturing
with DuPont and DuPont’s Pioneer subsidiary. In 2001, we facilities. Excluding the costs related to our restructuring
recognized $127 million of other expense (net), as discussed plan, we reduced unit manufacturing costs of Roundup and
below. other glyphosate-based herbicides by 3 percent.

Gross profit declined 3 percent, to $2.6 billion. AnIncome taxes in 2002 decreased significantly from 2001,
increase in high-margin trait revenues was more than offsetthough the effective tax rate remained unchanged at 36 per-
by the negative effects of corn seed returns in Latin Americacent. The decline in income taxes was consistent with the
and an overall decline in net selling prices of Rounduplower pretax income in 2002. The absence of goodwill
herbicides. As a result, gross profit as a percent of salesamortization had a favorable effect on the effective tax rate in
declined one point from 2000 to 2001.2002 because the majority of our historical goodwill amortiza-

As a stand-alone company focused solely on agriculture,tion was not deductible for tax purposes. This improvement
we took steps to make worldwide operations more focused,was offset by higher tax expense in certain ex-U.S. jurisdic-
productive, and cost-efficient. SG&A expenses decreasedtions, particularly in Latin America, and an increase in the
approximately 5 percent to $1.1 billion in 2001. This declinerelative cost of state income taxes.
was attributable to our continued cost management efforts
and the absence of amortization expense related to certainReview of Calendar Year 2001
assets that became fully amortized during 2000, and lowerNet sales for 2001 were $5.5 billion, down 1 percent from
employee-related expenses. R&D expenses decreased2000 sales. The effects of exchange rates for foreign currency,
5 percent, to $560 million for 2001 from $588 million forparticularly the Brazilian real and to a lesser extent the
2000. Our reduced R&D spending reflected our actions toJapanese yen and the euro, unfavorably affected sales by
focus on our key crops and to eliminate certain research3 percent. Increased sales in the Seeds and Genomics
projects. As a percent of net sales, both SG&A and R&Dsegment were more than offset by an overall decline in sales
expenses improved when compared with 2000 percentages:in the Agricultural Productivity segment. Seeds and Genomics
SG&A expenses declined to 20.9 percent from 21.8 percent,net sales in 2001 benefited from higher biotechnology trait
and R&D declined to 10.3 percent from 10.7 percent.revenues, and from our Latin American grain sales program,

Amortization and adjustments of goodwill declinedwhile higher-than-anticipated conventional corn seed returns
43 percent to $121 million in 2001, compared with $212 millionin Latin America (primarily in Brazil) reduced sales. The
in 2000. In 2000, we wrote down $88 million of goodwill,increased trait revenues were attributable primarily to a shift
primarily associated with a decision to terminate certainin timing, as our decision to change trait fees from a
nutrition programs. Excluding this write-down, amortizationtechnology fee system to a royalty system shifted certain trait
was relatively unchanged in a year-over-year comparison.revenues from the first half of 2002 to the last half of 2001.

Both 2001 and 2000 included restructuring and otherThis new structure contributed approximately $90 million, or
special items related to our 2000 restructuring plan to focus$0.34 per share, to 2001 net income. The higher trait
on certain key crops and to streamline operations. Totalrevenues also reflected a royalty payment related to the
charges to the plan were $474 million, with $213 millionresolution of issues regarding our YieldGard insect-protected
recorded in 2001 and $261 million recorded in 2000. Seecorn trait, the effects of a higher royalty rate for Roundup
‘‘Restructuring and Other Special Items’’ in MD&A forReady soybeans, and the increased demand for our biotech-
further details.nology traits. In the Agricultural Productivity segment, our

Net interest expense in 2001 decreased 60 percent, toanimal agriculture and lawn-and-garden products businesses
$73 million from $184 million in the prior year. This decreasedelivered sales increases. But these increases were more than
largely reflected the $2.9 billion debt reduction that resultedoffset by lower sales of Roundup and other glyphosate
from our separation from Pharmacia and our IPO in 2000. Weherbicides. Continued growth of Roundup Ready crops and
also benefited from lower interest rates during 2001, as ourfurther expansion of conservation tillage practices drove up
borrowings were primarily in commercial paper.sales volumes of Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbi-

cides, but the effects of lower average selling prices resulted
in lower revenues.

Cost of goods sold in 2001 increased 2 percent, to
$2.8 billion, from cost of goods sold in 2000. Higher sales
volumes of glyphosate contributed to this increase, as did
start-up expenses in 2001 associated with our new manufac-
turing facility in Camaçari, Brazil. Our investments in
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A number of factors affected other expense (net) in SEEDS AND GENOMICS SEGMENT
2001. It increased substantially to $127 million, compared

The Seeds and Genomics segment consists of our global seeds and
with $49 million in 2000. Three separate legal matters

related trait businesses, and our genetic technology platforms. We
affected other expense in 2001, resulting in a net charge of

produce leading seed brands, including DEKALB and Asgrow, and we
$60 million, as described in Note 24 — Other Expense — Net.

develop biotechnology traits that assist farmers in controlling insects
In addition to these legal matters, we recognized $15 million

and weeds. We also provide genetic material and biotechnology traits to
of other expense in 2001 to reflect the devaluation of the

other seed companies for their seed brands.
Argentine peso. Other expense in 2001 also included a loss of
$4 million related to the early retirement of ESOP debt. Other Eight Months

Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,expense in 2001 also included impairments of equity invest-
2003 2002 2002 2001 2000ments; other expense in 2000 reflected a write-down of an

Total Net Sales $1,165 $ 845 $1,585 $1,707 $1,608investment in marketable equity securities. Equity affiliate
Gross Profit 625 377 838 869 729expense in 2001 related to our Renessen joint venture
EBIT(1) 18 (271) (105) (240) (581)

increased approximately $10 million from equity affiliate
(1) Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change, interest and

expense in the prior year. The effects of these higher income taxes. See Note 23 to our consolidated financial statements for
expenses were slightly offset in 2001 by other income from a further details.

deferred payout provision related to a past business divesti-
Seeds and Genomics Financial Performance for the Transition Periodture and gains on the sale of equity securities.
Sales in the Seeds and Genomics segment improved morePretax income increased approximately 37 percent, or
than $300 million, with all crops experiencing gains in seed$125 million, in 2001 primarily because of reduced operating
and trait sales. The largest gains were in Latin America andexpenses and lower interest expense during the year. The
the United States. In Latin America, seed sales wereabsence of the $88 million goodwill write-down in 2000 also
depressed last year, when we recorded additional returncontributed to the higher pretax income in 2001. The
accruals in Argentina in response to the contracting marketeffective tax rate decreased to 36 percent from 48 percent in
that was affected by that country’s economic crisis. We sawthe prior year, primarily because the aforementioned write-
higher corn seed sales and less seed obsolescence there thisdown of goodwill in 2000 was not deductible. See ‘‘Restructur-
year. This lower return and obsolescence experience in theing and Other Special Items’’ in MD&A for further details.
region stemmed from improved market conditions, coupledImproved expectations of the recovery of certain Brazilian
with the benefits of the operational changes we instituted lastdeferred tax assets also contributed to the lower effective tax
year. However, the primary sales activity in Argentina occursrate in 2001. See Note 11 — Income Taxes — to the consoli-
at the beginning of fiscal year 2004 (which starts indated financial statements for further details.
September 2003), when the predominant planting seasonNet income totaled $295 million, or $1.12 per share, for
starts. In Brazil, the sales season begins during the fourththe year ended Dec. 31, 2001, compared with $149 million, or
quarter of our fiscal year (which starts in June). Favorable$0.58 per pro forma share, for 2000. Results in 2000 included
currency effects and strong market performance in Europea cumulative effect of accounting change of $26 million
also contributed to corn seed growth. Our operations inaftertax, or $0.10 per pro forma share. This cumulative effect
France led the strong performance in that region, delivering aof accounting change resulted from our adoption of Staff
market share gain this year.Accounting Bulletin (SAB) 101, the SEC’s interpretation of

Continued growth of our stacked corn and cotton traitsaccounting guidelines on revenue recognition. Our adoption of
drove U.S. sales higher. These higher-value stacked traitSAB 101 in 2000 primarily affected recognition of license
products deliver herbicide tolerance and insect protection in arevenues from biotechnology traits sold through competitor
single seed. Canola trait revenues also increased in the eight-seed companies. We restated license revenues in 2000 to be
month comparison. An increasing percentage of our seedrecognized when a grower purchases seed as compared with
sales contain a biotechnology trait, demonstrating continuedthe previous practice of recognizing the license revenue when
growth in demand for our biotechnology products. U.S. traitthe third-party seed company sold the seed into the distribu-
acreage continues to experience double-digit growth, withtion system. As a result, no license revenues from biotechnol-
particularly strong performance by Roundup Ready corn andogy traits sold by third-party seed companies were recognized
stacked corn and cotton traits. U.S. corn seed sales alsoin the fourth quarter of 2000. As required by the provisions of
increased. The quality of Monsanto’s corn seed portfolio wasSAB 101, we adopted its provisions as an accounting change
evidenced by another market share gain on top of last year’srecognizing the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
gain in the United States.principle as a loss of $26 million, net of taxes of $16 million,

The Seeds and Genomics segment delivered positiveeffective Jan. 1, 2000.
EBIT of $18 million for the transition period. This is a
significant improvement over the EBIT loss of $271 million in
the same period last year. Gross profit as a percent of sales
increased 9 percentage points. Although these gains primarily
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reflect improved Latin American operations in 2003, they also Corn seed and corn biotechnology trait revenues in the
demonstrate the Seeds and Genomics segment’s increasing United States increased, reflecting an increase in planted corn
contribution to Monsanto’s results. Segment EBIT for the acreage in 2002 and strong market performance by our
eight months ended Aug. 31, 2002, included charges for DEKALB and Asgrow brands during the 2002 selling season.
restructuring and additional bad-debt expense related to Our branded corn seed gained market share in 2002.
Argentine receivables. The transition period EBIT reflected Monsanto’s Roundup Ready and YieldGard corn traits —
higher SG&A expenses, as the effects of higher incentive both the single-trait and the stacked-trait versions — per-
accruals and other employee-related costs were partially formed exceptionally well. A decline in U.S. soybean seed and
offset by reductions in other SG&A and R&D costs. soybean trait revenues, which stemmed from the reduced

planting area, slightly offset these corn seed and trait sales
Seeds and Genomics Financial Performance for Calendar Year 2002 increases. However, despite the market dynamics of lower
Net sales for the Seeds and Genomics segment declined to acres and an increased supply of seed, our soybean brands
$1.6 billion in 2002. Sales in Latin America were negatively maintained their price in 2002, and held most of the market
affected by the adverse market and economic conditions share gains achieved in 2001. Even though there were fewer
described below. The Latin American net sales decline was planted acres of soybeans in 2003, U.S. soybean trait revenues
partially offset by strong U.S. sales and market performance in late 2002 (in preparation for the upcoming 2003 season)
of our branded corn seed. Trait revenues also increased from increased as a higher percentage of our branded seed sales
2001 to 2002, despite the fact that 2001 trait revenues contained a biotechnology trait.
included an additional $0.34 per share from a timing change Seeds and Genomics EBIT in 2002 was a loss of
in revenue recognition. Grower acceptance of our biotechnol- $105 million, an improvement compared with the 2001 EBIT
ogy traits continues to rise, as demonstrated by the growth in loss of $240 million. This EBIT improvement was achieved
total acres planted with our traits. In 2002, we estimate that despite an overall decline in sales for the segment. Most of
acreage planted with Monsanto’s technology traits grew by our goodwill relates to our acquired seed businesses, so this
13 percent in the United States and by 14 percent globally. segment’s EBIT benefited from no longer amortizing goodwill
Also contributing to the increased trait revenues was the in 2002. In 2001, this segment’s EBIT loss included $117 mil-
benefit and growth of new agreements with key licensees. lion of goodwill amortization expense. In 2002, Seeds and

Seeds and Genomics segment results in 2002 were Genomics EBIT was negatively affected by a portion of the
significantly affected by events in Latin America. In 2002, we increase in bad-debt expense related to estimated uncollecti-
changed our business model in Latin America in order to ble accounts receivable in Argentina. Lower seed inventory
reduce working capital levels and reduce our credit risk and costs in the United States were mostly offset by higher seed
exposure in Argentina and Brazil as a result of the continued obsolescence in Latin America. However, gross profit as a
economic uncertainty in that region. Results were also percentage of sales increased. Sales gains in high-margin
affected by adverse market conditions in 2002 and 2001. In traits more than offset the Latin American gross profit
Argentina, we experienced approximately $75 million of declines.
higher-than-anticipated seed returns (primarily corn seed) in Lower operating expenses had a positive effect on EBIT.
2002 because of the economic crisis that began at the end of SG&A spending was lower as a result of our continued focus
2001 and the flooding in that same year. In 2001, we on cost management and lower employee-related costs. R&D
experienced approximately $120 million of higher-than-antici- expenses also declined, reflecting savings from the restructur-
pated returns of high-priced corn seed, primarily in Brazil. In ing of our early genomics programs.
2002, the continued deterioration of the Brazilian corn market Several items affected other expense (net) in both years,
negatively affected sales. Farmers had switched more land to including litigation matters and other income related to gains
soybeans because of their lower input costs. Since Monsanto that were realized upon the sale of equity securities. For
has less of a presence in the Brazilian soybean market, sales more details, see Note 24 — Other Expense — Net.
were lower during that period.

Our Latin American grain sales program also affected the Seeds and Genomics Financial Performance for Calendar Year 2001
year-to-year comparison. Results in 2001 included approxi- Net sales for the Seeds and Genomics segment totaled
mately $65 million of net sales and related cost of goods sold $1.7 billion in 2001, topping 2000 sales of $1.6 billion by more
associated with this program. During 2002, we changed the than 6 percent. Revenues from our biotechnology traits
way we account for the program to no longer record revenues increased significantly compared with year-earlier sales,
and cost of goods sold of essentially the same amount. Under because of a number of factors. Higher trait revenues,
the revised program, we no longer take ownership of the primarily in the United States, were driven by increased
grain, thereby eliminating the associated inventory risk. demand for our technologies (including higher-value stacked
Although this change affects our net sales and cost of goods traits), a higher Roundup Ready soybean royalty rate, and to
sold comparison, the effect on the EBIT year-to-year compari- a greater extent, a shift in timing. A new pricing structure
son is minimal. and approach to the market starting with the 2002 selling

season resulted in a shift in the recognition of certain trait
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revenues from third-party seed companies from the first half Declines in operating expenses reflected our cost man-
of 2002 to the last half of 2001, and contributed approxi- agement efforts as we narrowed our focus to certain key
mately $90 million, or $0.34 per share, to 2001 net income. crops. SG&A expenses declined 12 percent in 2001, and R&D
This change from a technology fee system to a royalty system expenses declined 7 percent. The SG&A improvement also
in the United States was intended to simplify the purchase of benefited from the absence of amortization related to certain
seed with our traits, and to allow seed companies to have seed assets that became fully amortized during 2000, as well
more flexibility in pricing their products. Net sales in 2001 as lower employee-related expenses. As a percentage of net
also included trait revenues received from Pioneer upon sales, operating expenses improved by 9 points.
resolution of issues related to our MON810 YieldGard Other expense (net) increased $25 million in 2001,
products. These revenues reflected royalties related to largely because of the Aventis and DuPont litigation matters.
MON810 YieldGard products sold during 2001. Stronger The devaluation of the Argentine peso, higher equity affiliate
cotton revenue reflected higher demand for and use of expense related to our Renessen joint venture, and impair-
biotechnology traits, particularly our stacked Bollgard and ments of equity investments also drove other expenses
Roundup Ready traits. Conventional soybean seed sales also higher. These items were slightly offset by the gain on the
increased, as more U.S. acres were planted in soybeans in sale of equity investments.
2001. More than 70 percent of the U.S. planted soybean acres

AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTIVITY SEGMENTcontained our Roundup Ready trait in 2001. Worldwide, the
number of acres planted with our biotechnology traits The Agricultural Productivity segment consists of our crop protection
increased approximately 14 percent to 118 million acres in products (Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbicides and selective
2001, from 103 million acres in 2000. chemistries) and our animal agriculture, lawn-and-garden herbicides,

Our 2001 sales results also benefited from approximately and environmental technologies businesses. We are a leading worldwide
$65 million in net sales related to our Latin American grain developer, producer and marketer of crop protection products, including
sales program. This program, which helped reduce our credit Roundup herbicide.
risk during 2001, increased net sales but contributed mini-

Eight Monthsmally to gross profit and EBIT.
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,Lower conventional corn seed sales in Latin America offset

2003 2002 2002  2001 2000these net sales increases, as higher-than-anticipated returns of
Net Salesrelatively high-priced corn seed negatively affected 2001 sales by
Roundup and other

approximately $120 million. These seed returns resulted from glyphosate-based
our strategic decision in 2000 to sell higher-performance corn herbicides $1,319 $1,360 $1,844 $2,422 $2,625
seed. Many farmers chose not to plant that seed, which resulted All other agricultural

productivity products 889 905 1,244 1,333 1,260in substantial returns of relatively high-priced corn seed in 2001.
Total Net Sales $2,208 $2,265 $3,088 $3,755 $3,885Corn seed sales in the United States also decreased. Fewer acres

were planted in corn in 2001, partly because many U.S. farmers Gross Profit
Roundup and otherchose to plant more acres in soybeans.

glyphosate-basedSeeds and Genomics segment EBIT improved to a loss of
herbicides $ 536 $ 661 $ 823 $1,234 $1,433

$240 million in 2001, from a loss of $581 million in 2000. All other agricultural
Higher net sales and continued cost management drove the productivity products 416 404 519 542 561
EBIT improvement. Restructuring and other special items Total Gross Profit $ 952 $1,065 $1,342 $1,776 $1,994
affected EBIT during 2000 and, to a much lesser extent, EBIT(1) $ (10) $ 356 $ 366 $ 772 $1,099
during 2001. The 2000 special items included a significant (1) Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change, interest and
write-down of goodwill, and higher net charges than those income taxes. See Note 23 to our consolidated financial statements for

further details.recorded in 2001 related to our plan to focus on certain key
crops. EBIT in 2001 also included the net effects of certain

Agricultural Productivity Financial Performance for the Transition Periodlegal matters.
EBIT for the Agricultural Productivity segment declined to aGross profit for the Seeds and Genomics segment
loss of $10 million, from positive EBIT of $356 million for theincreased 19 percent from 2000 gross profit. As a percentage
same period of 2002. Excluding the $396 million effect of theof net sales, gross profit improved 6 points. This improvement
Solutia PCB settlement, segment EBIT would have shown awas fueled by higher sales of relatively high-margin trait
$30 million increase. Improved operations in Latin Americarevenues, which more than mitigated the negative effects of
and lower costs more than offset reduced U.S. sales.the corn seed returns in Latin America and lower corn seed

Agricultural Productivity net sales in the transition periodsales in the United States. As previously discussed, our 2001
declined 3 percent from net sales in the comparable period inresults benefited from a change in the marketing approach on
2002. Lower U.S. sales of Roundup were partially offset bytrait fees. Lower manufacturing costs were partially offset by
sales gains for Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbi-higher inventory obsolescence expense.
cides elsewhere. As expected, in the postpatent U.S. market,
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we continue to experience competitive pressures and a shift As noted earlier, EBIT for the segment was down for the
of sales volumes to our lower-priced branded and non- transition period. Significantly lower restructuring costs in
branded glyphosate products. As a result, the average net 2003 and unusually high bad-debt expense in Argentina in
selling price of Roundup branded products in the United 2002, as well as improved operations in Latin America,
States during the transition period was about 24 percent partially offset the Roundup sales decline and the PCB
lower than it was during the comparable period in the settlement. Continued cost management also helped lessen
previous year. In addition, volumes sold to distributors during the EBIT effect of the lower sales of Roundup, though SG&A
the transition period were less than end-user usage, which expenses were slightly higher overall because of higher
also reduced net sales. Volumes of branded Roundup employee-related costs. Segment results in 2002 also included
declined 9 percent for the transition period. In 2002, adverse gains from the Nissan transaction.
weather conditions reduced the amount of glyphosate used in

Our Agreement with Scottsthe U.S. over-the-top market. In the near term, we continue
In 1998, Monsanto entered into an agency and marketingto expect lower market share and lower average net selling
agreement with Scotts with respect to our lawn-and-gardenprices and market share for Roundup in the postpatent
herbicide business. Under the agreement, beginning in theenvironment.
fourth quarter of 1998, Scotts was obligated to pay us aImproved performance of glyphosate-based herbicides
$20 million fixed fee each year to defray costs associated withoutside the United States partially offset the U.S. net sales
the lawn-and-garden business. Scotts’ payment of a portion ofdecline. Worldwide, volumes of Roundup and other glypho-
this fee owed in each of the first three years of the agreementsate-based herbicides grew. Roundup sales in Latin America
was deferred and is required to be paid at later dates, withimproved from those in 2002, when the economic crisis in
interest. Monsanto is accruing the deferred portions of theArgentina and the operational changes we made in the region
$20 million annual fixed fee owed by Scotts ratably over thecaused sales to be lower for that period. We also benefited
periods during which it is being earned as a reduction offrom increased demand from supply customers — other herbi-
SG&A expenses. We are also accruing the interest on thecide producers to whom we sell glyphosate, capitalizing on
amounts owed by Scotts and including it in interest income.our manufacturing economies of scale. The Asia-Pacific region
The total amount owed by Scotts, including accrued interest,also experienced higher sales volumes during the eight
was approximately $50 million as of Aug. 31, 2003 andmonths ended Aug. 31, 2003, led by increased demand from
Dec. 31, 2002, and $48 million at Dec. 31, 2001. Scotts begansupply customers and by more favorable weather conditions
paying these deferred amounts ($5 million per year inin Australia. However, these gains in Asia-Pacific were partly
monthly installments beginning in October 2002).offset by a net sales decrease in Japan, because of our 2002

sale of certain herbicide assets to Nissan.
Agricultural Productivity Financial Performance for Calendar Year 2002Net sales of our other Agricultural Productivity products
The 2002 decline in Agricultural Productivity segment netdeclined $16 million during the transition period. Selective
sales was largely attributable to lower sales of Roundup andherbicide sales were down, primarily because of lower sales in
other glyphosate-based herbicides. Lower sales of thesethe U.S. acetanilide market. This trend reflects the competi-
products was driven by a decline in both volumes and averagetive nature of this market and continued adoption of
net selling prices, with the largest declines in the United

Roundup Ready corn traits. Sales in 2003 were also
States and Argentina.negatively affected by wet weather, which led to some of this

In the United States, 2002 net sales of Roundup andseason’s acetanilide applications being lost. Distributors were
other glyphosate-based herbicides were down 24 percent fromalso conservatively managing their inventories, which also
2001 net sales. Market share loss because of continuedlowered our sales this period. The animal agriculture business
competitive pressures in the burndown market, and to areported moderately lower sales of Posilac bovine somato-
lesser extent the over-the-top market, contributed to thetropin in an extremely weak milk price environment during
lower volumes. In addition, adverse weather conditions in thethe first eight months of 2003.
second and third quarters of 2002 reduced the amount ofHigher sales of lawn-and-garden herbicides partially offset
glyphosate used in the over-the-top, fallow, and postharvestthese sales declines, as the business benefited from favorable
markets. As a result, the overall growth of the U.S. marketearly-season weather in the western United States and
was lower than expected, with sales volumes of Roundup infavorable exchange rates outside the United States. Lawn-
the United States declining 17 percent. In 2002, average netand-garden sales were also higher because of an increase in
selling prices of branded Roundup in the United Statesthe number of retail outlets and continued communication of
declined approximately 11 percent from 2001 average netproduct benefits via national television advertising. We are
selling prices. The lower average net selling prices includedparty to an agency and marketing agreement with Scotts with
the effect of continued competitive pressures and a shift inrespect to our lawn-and-garden herbicide business. For
mix to lower-priced glyphosate products. Year-end distributionadditional details, see ‘‘Our Agreement with Scotts,’’ appearing
inventory levels of Roundup in the United States wereelsewhere in this section.
roughly flat when compared with 2001 year-end levels. In
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2002, we successfully began the launch of Roundup R&D spending was lower in 2002, as we continued to focus
WeatherMAX, a new high-performance formulation of our spending. Manufacturing efficiencies in our Posilac

Roundup that provides consistent weed control in a variety business allowed us to reduce cost of goods sold for that
of less-than-ideal weather conditions. business, even while animal agriculture sales increased.

Poor economic conditions and the operational decisions
Agricultural Productivity Financial Performance for Calendar Year 2001we made to reduce our risk of doing business in Latin
In the Agricultural Productivity segment, net sales decreasedAmerica negatively affected sales of Roundup in 2002. These
3 percent to $3.8 billion in 2001, from $3.9 billion in 2000.operational changes included working with our customers in
Lower herbicide sales offset higher sales from other agricul-Argentina during this difficult time to maintain our long-term
tural productivity businesses, including lawn-and-garden prod-customer relationships, thereby reducing risks for both par-
ucts and animal agriculture.ties. Because of the economic conditions in Argentina brought

Worldwide net sales of our Roundup and other glypho-on by the economic crisis that began late in 2001 and
sate-based herbicides of $2.4 billion in 2001 declined 8 per-continued into 2002, we allowed some crop protection
cent from 2000 net sales of $2.6 billion. Sales volumes ofproduct returns on a case-by-case basis. This one-time
these products grew 2 percent, with Roundup volumesexception to our policy regarding crop protection product
relatively unchanged and volumes of glyphosate that wereturns reduced sales of Roundup and other glyphosate-
manufacture and supply to third parties up 9 percent. Thebased herbicides by approximately $60 million in 2002.
United States and Latin America posted volume gains on theRoundup sales in Brazil declined as well, as distribution
growth of Roundup Ready acres, and the adoption ofinventory levels decreased in that country. In Latin America,
conservation tillage practices increased in major world areas.we intend to keep our distribution inventories at the lower
However, major flooding and economic uncertainty in Argen-levels achieved in 2002. In Asia, competitive pricing of generic
tina negatively affected volumes, as did adverse weatherproducts decreased sales early in 2002. In addition, sales in
conditions in Australia and Canada. In certain world areasAsia declined for the year as a result of the mid-year Nissan
(Brazil and the United States, in particular), market condi-transaction.
tions had increased distribution channel inventories. TheOverall sales of our other Agricultural Productivity busi-
effect of generic competition in certain ex-U.S. marketsnesses declined, though sales in our lawn-and-garden herbi-
brought sales prices of Roundup down. The effects ofcides and animal agriculture businesses increased. Sales of
currency fluctuations in Brazil and Asia also unfavorablyour U.S. acetanilide products declined because of the adverse
affected sales prices. Excluding the effects of currencyweather conditions discussed above and competitive condi-
fluctuations, worldwide prices of Roundup and other glypho-tions. Sales in our environmental technologies business also
sate-based herbicides declined nearly 6 percent.declined because of unfavorable industry conditions. These

Sales volumes of Roundup in the United States increaseddeclines were slightly mitigated by growth in our animal
9 percent during our first full year without glyphosate patentagriculture business, which was led by an 8 percent increase
protection, while a decline in the prices of these products,in sales volumes of Posilac. The lawn-and-garden herbicide
driven primarily by the mix of products sold, resulted in anbusiness delivered strong sales growth, resulting from growth
overall decline in net sales. Roundup Ready acres, conserva-in the market and market share gains driven by new product
tion tillage growth, expanded distribution of higher-valueintroductions and stronger advertising.
Roundup UltraMAX and successful introductions of uniqueThese factors led to an overall decline in EBIT for the
formulations of Roundup (such as RT Master) contributed tosegment in 2002, with the most notable effects coming from
the U.S. volume increase.declines in the United States and Latin America, driven

Net sales of our other Agricultural Productivity productsprimarily by lower sales as discussed previously. Lower
totaled $1.3 billion, a 6 percent increase from net sales inproduction volumes of Roundup led to unfavorable cost of
2000. The lawn-and-garden business delivered a strong salesgoods sold manufacturing volume variances, but these effects
performance, driven by volume growth. Our animal agriculturewere offset by cost-management efforts and lower prices for
business also contributed to the growth, led by an increase inraw materials and energy. Segment EBIT was negatively
sales of Posilac. Results in 2001 also benefited from theaffected by the increase in bad-debt expense relating to
inclusion of sales from a previously unconsolidated invest-estimated uncollectible accounts receivable in Argentina. Our
ment, which was consolidated during the first half of 2000,environmental technologies business also experienced an
when we acquired a controlling interest. Global sales ofEBIT decline. Lower operating expenses slightly mitigated
acetanilide and other selective herbicides were lower in 2001,these margin shortfalls. The sales of certain herbicide assets
primarily because of adverse weather conditions in Argentinato Nissan and Nufarm for use in Asia-Pacific markets reduced
and Canada.SG&A expenses and provided other income. These EBIT gains

EBIT for the Agricultural Productivity segment declinedwere partially offset by lower herbicide sales in Asia. SG&A
30 percent to $772 million in 2001, compared with $1.1 billionexpenses also declined because of continued cost manage-
in 2000. This decrease was because of lower gross profit andment and lower employee-related expenses. In addition, our
a higher level of restructuring and special items in 2001 than
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in 2000. Gross profit for the segment declined approximately sites were consolidated and certain U.S. swine facilities were
11 percent, and gross profit as a percent of sales declined exited. Finally, the plan included work force reductions in
4 percentage points. Lower Roundup prices, including the addition to those related to the facility closures. These
effects of foreign currency exchange rates and mix of additional reductions were primarily marketing and adminis-
products sold, were the primary contributors to this decline. trative positions in Asia-Pacific, Europe-Africa, and the United
In addition, 2001 results included sales and cost of goods sold States.
related to the previously unconsolidated investment discussed In connection with the 2002 restructuring plan, we
above. Although we reduced glyphosate unit manufacturing recorded $132 million pretax of net charges in 2002. These
costs in 2001, gross profit was adversely affected by our restructuring costs primarily related to the closure of certain
actions to streamline manufacturing facilities. An EBIT research and manufacturing sites, as well as work force
improvement for the animal agriculture business can be reductions. Work force reductions of $64 million included
attributed to increased sales of Posilac and more efficient involuntary employee separation costs for approximately
manufacturing performance. Operating expenses declined 1,140 employees worldwide, including positions in marketing,
1 percent, partially attributable to lower employee-related manufacturing, R&D, and administration. As of Aug. 31, 2003,
costs. Operating expenses as a percent of sales increased by approximately 1,080 of the planned employee separations
one percentage point, primarily because of lower sales. Other were completed. Facility closures and other exit costs totaled
expense (net) increased by approximately $50 million, as a $24 million: contract terminations ($8 million), equipment
result of a litigation settlement and the devaluation of the dismantling and disposal ($8 million), and other shutdown
Argentine peso. costs ($8 million) resulting from the exit of certain research

and manufacturing sites. We also wrote off $45 million of
RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER SPECIAL ITEMS property, plant and equipment and $6 million of inventories

(recorded within cost of goods sold) associated with theseOur results include restructuring activities and other special
exit activities.items that significantly affected net income. See Note 5 —

Restructuring reversals of $5 million offset these chargesRestructuring and Other Special Items — for further details.
in 2002, as did a $2 million recoverable amount from a thirdThe pretax income (expense) components were as follows:
party. The reversals stemmed primarily from facility closing

Eight Months costs that were lower than originally estimated and higher
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31, proceeds from disposed assets than originally estimated.

2003 2002 2001 2000 Restructuring reversals were recorded for work force reduc-
Restructuring charges $— $ (88) $ (99) $ (70) tions, primarily because severance expenses were lower than
Reversal of restructuring

originally estimated. The recoverable amount from a thirdreserves 8 13(1) 8 4
party represents a portion of work force reduction and exitWrite-offs of:

Trade receivables — — — (12) costs that will be reimbursed to Monsanto. Reversals of
Inventories — (6) (45) (60) $5 million were recorded in 2003 because we were able to
Property, plant and settle certain liabilities for less than originally estimated.

equipment — (45) (57) (22)
As of Aug. 31, 2003, the reserve balance related to thisGoodwill — — (2) (88)

plan was $5 million. Cash payments to complete theseOther intangible assets — — (3) (3)
Other assets — — (9) — restructuring actions are expected to be made during fiscal

Recoverable amount from a year 2004, and will be funded from operations. These
third party — 2 — — payments are not expected to affect the company’s liquidity

Other — net — — (6) (10)
significantly. We anticipate that the actions related to this

Total pretax restructuring and plan will yield annual cash savings of more than $50 million.
other special items $ 8 $(124) $(213)(2) $(261)(2)

(1) Of this amount, $8 million of the 2002 reversals related to the 2000 restruc- 2000 Restructuring Plan (charges recorded in calendar 2001 and 2000):
turing plan. The remaining $5 million was related to the 2002 restructuring In 2000, Monsanto’s management formulated a plan as part of
plan.

our overall strategy to focus on certain key crops and to(2) These components represent the net charges for the 2000 restructuring plan.
The total for the two-year plan is $474 million. streamline operations. Restructuring and other special items,

primarily associated with the implementation of this plan,
2002 Restructuring Plan (charges recorded in calendar 2002): In 2002, were recorded in 2000 and 2001. These charges totaled
Monsanto’s management approved a restructuring plan. Under $474 million pretax, with $261 million recorded in 2000, and
this plan, various R&D programs and sites were shut down in $213 million recorded in 2001.
the United States and Europe. This restructuring plan also The 2001 net charges were primarily for the streamlining
involved the closure and downsizing of certain agricultural of manufacturing operations, the discontinuation of certain
chemical manufacturing facilities in Asia-Pacific and the seed hybrids, the elimination of noncore activities, and the
United States as a result of more efficient production capacity exit of certain research programs. This plan also involved the
installed at other Monsanto manufacturing sites. Certain seed closure and downsizing of certain agricultural chemical
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manufacturing facilities to eliminate duplicate manufacturing These actions under the 2000 restructuring plan have
capacity to formulate and package herbicides. Due to yielded annual cash savings of more than $100 million. The
geographical location and cost considerations, improved outstanding restructuring reserve balance related to this plan
technologies were installed at other Monsanto manufacturing is $8 million. We expect the remaining activities associated
sites. These sites, by incorporating technological advancements, with this plan to be completed during fiscal year 2004. The
have been able to increase their production capacity to meet remaining restructuring actions will be funded from opera-
current and expected future demand for Roundup herbicide tions. These actions are not expected to affect the company’s
and other herbicides. The pretax charge of $213 million was liquidity significantly.
partially offset by the reversal of $8 million of restructuring Also included in the 2000 plan were special items. In
liabilities recorded during 2000 and 2001, primarily because 2001, a total charge of $6 million was recorded in other
severance expenses were lower than originally estimated. In expense (net) to reflect the impairment of equity investments
addition, reversals of $4 million were recorded in 2001 caused by adverse business developments of the investees. In
primarily because severance expenses relating to the 1998 2000, there were other special items of $10 million: $3 million
restructuring plan were lower than originally estimated. for costs associated with a failed joint venture, and $7 million

The work force reduction charges in 2001 ($50 million) for the recognition of an impairment of a marketable equity
and 2000 ($61 million) included involuntary separation costs security that was classified as available for sale.
for approximately 1,500 employees worldwide, including posi-

October 2003 Announcement: In October 2003, we announcedtions in administration, R&D, and manufacturing. Facility
plans to continue to reduce the costs associated with ourclosures and other exit costs in 2000 included contract
agricultural chemistry business as that segment maturestermination costs ($5 million), equipment dismantling and
globally in a postpatent environment. In addition, we willdisposal costs ($2 million), and other shutdown costs ($2 mil-
further concentrate our R&D efforts on certain projects. Morelion). Facility closures and other exit costs in 2001 included
specifically, these plans include: (1) reducing costs, particu-contract termination costs ($28 million), property, plant and
larly those associated with our Roundup herbicide business,equipment dismantling and disposal costs ($18 million), and
(2) exiting our European breeding and seed business forother shutdown costs ($3 million). The inventory write-offs in
wheat and barley; and (3) discontinuing our plant-made2000 related to laureate oil, seed and other inventories. The
pharmaceuticals program. These plans are expected to pro-inventory write-offs in 2001 related to discontinued seed
duce aftertax savings of approximately $80 million to $95 mil-hybrids ($31 million), unused raw materials at closed agricul-
lion in fiscal year 2005, and approximately $90 million totural chemical manufacturing facilities ($6 million), and other
$105 million in fiscal year 2006, with continuing savings goinginventories, including certain discontinued agricultural chemi-
forward. These actions will require charges of up to $155 mil-cal products ($8 million). Inventory write-offs for both years,
lion aftertax in fiscal year 2004. We estimate that thisas well as $37 million in property, plant and equipment
restructuring will require approximately $90 million of cash.impairments in 2001, were recorded in cost of goods sold.
Our decisions about the European wheat and barley businessThe remaining $20 million in property, plant and equipment
will also require a reevaluation for potential impairment ofimpairments in 2001 was recorded in restructuring charges,
goodwill related to our global wheat business. Goodwill forand was related to the consolidation of agricultural chemical
our wheat businesses was recorded at approximately $80 mil-distribution sites and various corporate assets. The intangible
lion pretax as of Aug. 31, 2003; we currently anticipateasset impairment in 2000 included a $79 million goodwill
$69 million of this goodwill will be written off in the firstimpairment associated with the decision to terminate certain
quarter of fiscal year 2004, resulting in a $0.26 per sharenutrition programs.
impairment charge to net income. We expect that theseThe cost to carry out certain actions related to the 2000
actions will lower our SG&A costs as a percent of sales.restructuring plan has been lower than originally anticipated.

Accordingly, reserve balances have been reduced by reversals
of $3 million in the transition period and $8 million each of
the 12-month periods ended Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION, LIQUIDITY, AND CAPITAL RESOURCES liabilities were largely offset by a receivable due from
commercial insurance and deferred tax assets.

Working Capital and Financial Condition
( Improved operational performance drove accrued liabili-

ties higher because of accruals for customer incentive
Transition period analysis: programs, employee incentives, and income taxes. Our

strong working capital management led to lower trade
As of Aug. 31,

receivables — despite higher sales levels — and lower
2003 2002

inventories, which also decreased net working capital
Cash and cash equivalents $ 281 $ 137

levels.Short-term investments 230 1
Trade receivables, net 2,296 2,451 Inventories of finished goods, goods in process, and raw
Inventories 1,230 1,284

materials are maintained to meet customer requirements andOther current assets(1) 925 683
our scheduled production. Consistent with the nature of theTotal Current Assets 4,962 4,556
seed industry, we generally produce in one growing season

Short-term debt 269 771 the seed inventories we expect to sell in the following season.
Accounts payable 290 291

In general, we do not manufacture our products against aAccrued liabilities(2) 1,385 648
backlog of firm orders; production is geared primarily to

Total Current Liabilities $1,944 $1,710 projections of demand.

Working Capital(3) $3,018 $2,846
Calendar year analysis:Current Ratio(3) 2.55:1 2.66:1

(1) Includes miscellaneous receivables, deferred tax assets and other current
As of Dec. 31,assets.

(2) Includes Solutia PCB litigation settlement liability, accrued compensation and 2002 2001
benefits, accrued marketing programs, deferred revenues, and miscellaneous

Working Capital $2,614 $2,420
short-term accruals.

Current Ratio 2.44:1 2.02:1(3) Working capital is total current assets less total current liabilities; current
ratio represents total current assets divided by total current liabilities. Our balance sheet as of Dec. 31, 2002, reflected working

capital of $2.6 billion, a $200 million increase from the prior
Our balance sheet as of Aug. 31, 2003, reflects working year-end. Lower receivables and inventories were more than

capital of $3 billion. The August 2003 working capital grew offset by higher cash and short-term investments. Our cash
from working capital levels as of December 2002 year end, and cash equivalents increased, largely because customer
consistent with the seasonality of our business. While trade prepayments were higher in the fourth quarter of 2002 than
accounts receivable balances are typically higher at this point in the fourth quarter of 2001. Approximately $250 million was
in the U.S. growing season, certain liabilities are lower. For invested as short-term debt securities as of Dec. 31, 2002.
example, balances relating to deferred revenue and grower These amounts were used to fund various anticipated cash
liabilities as of Aug. 31, 2003, were lower than balances as of needs in 2003. Accounts payable declined, reflecting lower
Dec. 31, 2002. spending as we continue to manage costs. The factors above,

For the August 2003 to August 2002 comparison, working as well as our customers’ use of a new customer financing
capital levels grew because of the following factors: program (discussed in more detail in this section) for certain

( Our cash position reflects the strength of our balance U.S. distributors, resulted in our having no commercial paper
sheet. As of Aug. 31, 2003, we had more than $280 mil- borrowings outstanding at the end of 2002.
lion of cash on hand. We have also had more than The cash and short-term investments increases, coupled
$200 million invested in short-term debt securities since with lower payables, drove working capital higher. However,
last December. We used a mix of cash and short-term these working capital increases were partly offset by the
borrowings to fund the Solutia PCB litigation settlement effect of lower inventories and, to a greater extent, lower net
payments made in September 2003. trade receivables at year-end 2002 than at year-end 2001.

Effective management of inventories and lower production
( Short-term debt levels declined from year-ago levels. Our

rates led to lower finished goods and raw materials inventorystrong cash position has allowed us to reduce our
levels. Goods in process inventories increased slightly, result-reliance on short-term financing. The decline in short-
ing from a strategic increase in our safety stock levels. Netterm debt also reflects the change in our debt mix to
trade accounts receivable were $1.8 billion on Dec. 31, 2002,longer-term borrowings.
down considerably from Dec. 31, 2001, net trade receivables
of $2.3 billion. Net accounts receivable in Argentina and BrazilThese working capital increases were partially offset by
declined to $528 million, from more than $1 billion in netthese factors:
accounts receivable in 2001. The decline in worldwide net

( The effect of the Solutia PCB settlement decreased our trade receivables was driven by many factors, including lower
August 2003 working capital levels, as increased accrued sales, the $154 million pretax Argentine bad-debt reserve
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established in the second quarter of 2002, and a relatively Cash Flow
high proportion of sales on cash terms in Argentina. In

Eight Months Ended
addition, aggressive collection efforts, particularly in Latin Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,
America, and higher customer prepayments contributed to the 2003 2002 2002 2001 2000
receivables decline.

Net cash provided
(required) by operations $ (214) $(233) $1,108 $ 616 $ 671Customer Financing Program: Monsanto refers certain of its

Net cash required byinterested U.S. distributors to a third-party specialty lender
investing activities (124) (112) (469) (433) (935)

administered by Bank One, N.A., which can fund their
Free Cash Flow (338) (345) 639 183 (264)

purchases of Monsanto products at attractive interest rates. In Net cash provided
connection with this financing option, we collected approxi- (required) by
mately $120 million during the transition period, and approxi- financing activities 191 175 (518) (7) 369

mately $90 million during the comparable period last year.
This $500 million revolving credit and liquidity facility allows Transition Period Analysis: Free cash flow, which repre-
certain U.S. customers to finance product purchases, and sents the total of net cash provided or required by operations
allows us to reduce our reliance on commercial paper and provided or required by investing activities, was a
borrowings. The company originates these loans on behalf of negative $338 million for the transition period. Our negative
the third-party specialty lender using Monsanto’s credit free cash flow for the first eight months of 2003 and 2002 is
guidelines approved by the lender, a special purpose entity. consistent with our historical experience, as we use cash to
The loans are sold to multiseller commercial paper conduits fund the seasonal fluctuations in our business.
through a nonconsolidated qualifying special purpose entity Even considering the $150 million cash payment made as
(QSPE). We have no ownership interest in the lender, the partial payment of our share of Solutia’s PCB litigation and an
QSPE, or the loans. We service the loans and provide a first increase of $111 million of voluntary pension contributions in
loss guarantee of up to $100 million. We have not issued, nor 2003, our operations required slightly less cash during the
are we obligated to issue, any debt or equity securities in transition period than in the comparable period last year. We
connection with this arrangement. continue to carefully manage our investments in trade

As of Aug. 31, 2003, the customer loans held by the receivables and inventories, and we have benefited from
QSPE and the QSPE’s liability to the conduits was approxi- strong collections. Our improved financial performance also
mately $200 million. The lender or the conduits may restrict drove accrued liabilities higher at the end of August than at
or discontinue the facility at any time. If the facility were to the same time last year. The $252 million aftertax charge
terminate, existing sold loans would be collected by the QSPE related to our participation in the settlement of Solutia’s PCB
over their remaining terms (generally 12 months or less) and litigation is included in the net income (loss) component of
we would revert to our past practice of providing customers the cash flow statement. The $245 million item that did not
with direct credit purchase terms. Servicing fee revenues require cash reflects the $400 million liability associated with
were not significant. As of Aug. 31, 2003, Monsanto’s recorded the settlement, net of the related insurance receivable.
guarantee liability was less than $1 million, based on our Net cash required by investing activities increased
historical collection experience with these customers and our slightly. Proceeds from the sale of herbicide assets to Nissan
current assessment of credit exposure. Adverse changes in in 2002 were offset by lower capital expenditures and
the actual loss rate would increase the liability. In January investments in short-term debt securities in 2003. Investments
2003, FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, Consolidation of of $250 million matured throughout April and May of 2003,
Variable Interest Entities, was issued, but because QSPEs and following strong collections in the second-calendar quar-
are excluded from the scope of FIN 46, we do not expect ter, we invested $230 million in short-term debt securities.
this interpretation to affect the way we account for this Because of the strong cash-generating capabilities
arrangement. demonstrated by Monsanto, in April 2003 our board of

directors authorized an increase in the quarterly dividend. In
addition, a share repurchase program was approved in July
2003. This repurchase program allows for the purchase of up
to $500 million of our common stock over a three-year period.
Although no shares were repurchased as of Aug. 31, 2003, we
have purchased 2.2 million shares for approximately
$55 million through Nov. 14, 2003.
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Calendar Year Analysis: Free cash flow totaled $639 million facilities amounting to $1 billion that were unused as of
in 2002. This was a more than threefold increase from 2001 Aug. 31, 2003. These credit facilities give us the financial
free cash flow of $183 million. Though net income was lower flexibility to satisfy short- and medium-term funding require-
in 2002 than in 2001, our operations generated almost twice ments. One facility is a $500 million commitment that expires
as much cash in 2002. This improvement was primarily a in 2005; the other $500 million, 364-day facility was renewed
result of careful management of our investments in trade in July 2003 and was reduced in amount from $800 million.
receivables and inventories. Capital expenditures declined The amount of the 364-day facility was reduced because we
41 percent from 2001 to 2002, as we completed a number of expect to have less reliance on commercial paper compared
significant capital projects during 2001. Cash required by with our needs in 2003.
investing activities increased slightly, to $469 million, reflect- We are continuing to make voluntary cash contributions
ing the $250 million investment of excess cash, partially offset to our U.S. qualified pension plan. In addition to contributing
by the lower capital expenditures and by proceeds from asset amounts as required by pension plan regulation, we may also
sales. In 2002, we received $72 million of proceeds from the make discretionary contributions if merited. In light of the
disposal of property and investments. This amount included decline in interest rates and the adverse performance of the
the sale of herbicide assets to Nissan. We also received financial markets in recent years, we expected that contribu-
approximately $50 million from the long-term supply agree- tions would not be required until after fiscal year 2004.
ment with Nissan, which was included in cash flow Although contributions were not required, Monsanto contrib-
from operations. uted $111 million to the U.S. qualified plan during the

transition period. We also anticipate using a portion of our
Capital Resources and Liquidity cash flow in fiscal year 2004 to continue to voluntarily

contribute to the pension plan in order to maintain futureAug. 31, Dec. 31,

contribution flexibility allowed by regulations. We currently2003 2002 2002 2001

expect that our contributions during fiscal year 2004 will beShort-term debt $ 269 $ 771 $393 $817(1)

in the range of $150 million. While the level of futureLong-term debt 1,258 1,148 851 893
Debt-to-capital ratio 23% 27% 19% 19% contributions that would be required is unpredictable and
(1) Includes related-party borrowings. depends heavily on plan asset experience and interest rates,

we expect to continue to contribute to the plan on a regularA major source of our liquidity is operating cash flows,
basis in the near term.which are derived from net income. This cash-generating

capability provides us with the financial flexibility we need to
meet operating, investing and financing needs. To the extent
that cash provided by operations was not sufficient to fund
our cash needs, generally during the first half of the calendar
year, short-term commercial paper borrowings were used to
finance these requirements.

Because of the seasonality of our business, our August
2003 debt-to-capital ratio was higher than it was in December
2002, but declined from year-ago August levels. Our total debt
outstanding at Aug. 31, 2003, declined from Aug. 31, 2002,
reflecting the strength of our balance sheet. Although our
contribution to Solutia’s 2003 PCB litigation settlement,
voluntary pension contributions (discussed in more detail
later in this section), and share repurchases are expected to
materially affect our liquidity in the near term, our strong
balance sheet and operations will allow us to meet these
obligations without affecting our ability to operate and to
meet our business objectives and capital requirements.
Growth in the Seeds and Genomics segment will lessen the
effect on liquidity caused by declining prices of Roundup.
Even in the postpatent environment, Roundup continues to
be a strong cash contributor.

In May 2003, Monsanto issued $250 million of 4% Senior
Notes (the 4% Notes) under a $2 billion shelf registration
filed in May 2002. As of Aug. 31, 2003, we had $950 million
available for future debt issuances under this shelf registra-
tion. We also have in place committed external borrowing

32



M O N S A N T O  C O M P A N Y 2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 - K

Contractual Obligations
We have certain obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts; current estimates of our future
payments under these obligations are shown in the table below.

Payments Due in Fiscal Year Ending Aug. 31,

2009 and
Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 beyond

Long-term debt $1,258 $ — $201 $ 18 $ 1 $243 $ 795
Operating lease obligations 89 32 20 12 8 4 13
Purchase obligations:

Uncompleted additions to property 10 10 — — — — —
Commitments to purchase inventories 393 258 35 33 25 18 24
Commitment to purchase breeding research 410 45 45 52 45 45 178
R&D alliances and joint venture obligations 272 63 62 58 52 37 —
Other purchase obligations 285 51 51 51 51 21 60

Other Liabilities reflected on the balance sheet:
Payments on other financing 18 5 5 5 3 — —

Total contractual obligations $2,735 $464 $419 $229 $185 $368 $1,070

Seasonality
maintain market leadership and support near-term perform-

Our businesses are seasonal. Historically, we recorded our
ance. Our capabilities in biotechnology research are generating

highest levels of sales and income in the first half of the
a rich product pipeline that is expected to drive long-term

calendar year. Our recent change in fiscal year end from
growth. We believe that our focused approach to our business

December 31 to August 31 will synchronize our quarterly and
and the value we bring to our customers will allow us to

annual results with the natural flow of the agricultural cycle
maintain an industry leadership position in a highly competitive

in our major markets. As a result, investors will gain a more
and difficult agricultural and economic environment.

complete picture of the North American and Latin American
We have announced strategic actions that will allow us to

growing seasons in the same fiscal year. Because of our
focus on continued growth in our seeds and traits businesses,

recent business model changes in Latin America, sales from
while ensuring that Roundup and our other herbicides

the predominant planting season in that region will be
continue to make strong contributions to cash flow and

recognized in the first half of our fiscal year. However, overall,
income. We are accelerating Monsanto’s evolution to a

the majority of our sales and income will now be generated in
company led by its strengths in seeds and biotechnology traits

the second half of the fiscal year, consistent with the
as means of delivering solutions to our customers. As we

purchasing and growing patterns in North America, our
concentrate our resources on this growth sector of the

largest market. Sales and income may shift somewhat
agricultural industry, we are taking steps to reduce SG&A

between quarters depending on growing conditions.
costs — particularly those associated with our agricultural

As is the practice in our industry, we regularly extend
chemistry business as that sector matures globally. Monsanto

credit to enable our customers to acquire crop protection
remains the leading manufacturer of the best-selling herbicide

products and seeds at the beginning of the growing season.
and maintains a very strong manufacturing cost position.

Because of the seasonality of our business and the need to
As part of this strategic initiative, we will focus on

extend credit to customers, we use short-term borrowings to
projects that we believe to have the best commercial

finance working capital requirements. Our need for such
potential. Our research and marketing will focus on three

financing will generally be the highest in the second half of
crops grown on significant acreage: corn, cotton and soy-

the fiscal year and lowest in the first half of the fiscal year.
beans. We have announced plans to exit the European

However, we expect to have less reliance on commercial
breeding and seed business for wheat and barley, but we will

paper borrowings than we have in the past, which will reduce
continue our work on Roundup Ready wheat, which is in the

our peak in working capital investment. Our customer
regulatory approval phase.

financing program is also expected to continue to reduce our
We will also focus on our top agricultural markets, where

reliance on commercial paper borrowings.
we can bring together a broad complement of our products
and technologies, while pursuing ways to best participate inOUTLOOK
other markets. We have accordingly adopted different busi-
ness models for different markets. This approach has led to

Focused Strategy the outright sale of our chemical business in Japan and a
Monsanto has established leadership in agricultural markets by partnership with Nufarm to manufacture and market
applying advanced technology to develop high-value products

Roundup in Australia and New Zealand. These actions allow
ahead of competitors, and by reinforcing strong brands and us to reduce our exposure to risk from changes in the
customer relationships. We continually improve our products to marketplace.
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Our financial strategy will continue to emphasize both corn, canola and cotton. In addition, our insect-protection
earnings and cash, and we believe that Monsanto is positioned seed traits, such as YieldGard for corn and Bollgard and
to sustain earnings growth and cash flow. We remain Bollgard II for cotton, serve as alternatives to certain
committed to returning cash to shareowners. We have begun chemical pesticides.
to implement a new share repurchase program, under which Key near-term growth opportunities in seeds and traits
we are authorized to purchase up to $500 million of our stock include
during the next three years. Our board of directors also

( Continued growth in Monsanto’s branded and licensed
authorized an increase to our dividend rate in 2003. During seed market shares, through successful breeding of high-
the transition period, we applied our strong cash position to performance germplasm and continuous improvement in
participate in a settlement of Solutia’s PCB litigation and to the quality of our seeds;
make voluntary contributions to our pension plan.

( Continued growth in licensing of seed germplasm andWe have taken decisive steps to address key risks in our
biotechnology traits to other seed companies through ourbusiness position. These include the measures noted above, to
Holden’s/Corn States business and the newly establishedreduce costs in our agricultural chemistry business and to
Cotton States business; and,accelerate the evolution to an emphasis on seeds and traits.

We also took steps in 2002 to reduce risk and stabilize our ( Expansion of existing traits, especially in corn, and
business position in Latin America. We remain focused on stacking of additional traits in current biotechnology
cost and cash management both to maintain the progress we products.
have made in managing our investment in working capital —

At the same time, we expect to continue to reduce seedin particular, receivables and inventories — and to realize the
production costs through higher yields on seed productionfull earnings potential of our businesses. We will also continue
acres and careful management of our seed product portfolio.to seek additional external financing opportunities for our

Monsanto has built a leading global position in seeds, andcustomers.
the successful integration of seed businesses acquired in theWe increased our allowance for doubtful trade receivables
1990s has allowed us to optimize our seed portfolio. Wein 2002 because of the economic turmoil and market
continue to make improvements in our base seed business, asconditions in Argentina throughout 2002. Although we cannot
advanced breeding techniques combined with productiondetermine how government actions and economic conditions
practices and plant capital investments have significantlyin Argentina will affect the value of the outstanding receiv-
improved germplasm quality, yields and cost. The perform-ables, we continue to pursue customer collections aggres-
ance of Monsanto germplasm is reflected in market sharesively. Management’s current assessment of the situation is
gains for both our branded and licensed seed businesses. Wethat the current allowance balance relating to Argentine
also use our genetic material to develop new varieties forreceivables is adequate. The Brazilian real has also fluctuated
other seed companies’ brands.considerably in past years, although recent improvements in

Outstanding seed quality and leading germplasm providethe economic and political situation have reduced currency
a vehicle for introducing biotechnology seed traits, such asvolatility. We proactively monitor the risk to anticipated
herbicide tolerance and insect protection. Biotechnology traitsBrazilian real-denominated cash flows and manage that expo-
offer growers several benefits: Lower costs, greater conve-sure as part of our overall foreign currency risk management
nience and flexibility, higher yields, and the ability to adoptprocess.
environmentally responsible practices such as conservation
tillage and reduced pesticide use.Seeds and Genomics

Our past successes provide a significant competitiveWe invest more than 80 percent of our R&D in the areas of
advantage in delivering stacked-trait products and improved,seeds, genomics and biotechnology. These are the fastest-
second-generation traits. We can achieve continued growthgrowing segments of the agriculture industry. By shifting our
through stacking and increased penetration of traits infocus to create value for farmers in seeds and traits, we have
approved markets. Trait stacking is a key growth driver in ourset Monsanto on a path of sustainable growth, as we expect
seeds and traits business, because it allows Monsanto to earnincreasing gross profit from seeds and traits to more than
a greater share of the farmer’s expenditures on each acre.offset a declining contribution from agricultural chemicals.
Stacked-trait cotton overtook single-trait cotton products inThis trend was evidenced in our 2003 financial results, as the
Monsanto’s product mix in 2003. We are seeing the samegross profit contribution of our seeds and traits business
trend in our corn seed business, where higher-value, stacked-surpassed that of our glyphosate business.
trait products represent a growing share of total seed sales.Roundup and other glyphosate-based herbicides can be

We recently received U.S. approval for YieldGard Plusapplied over the top of glyphosate-tolerant Roundup Ready

insect-protected corn, designed to control both the corn borercrops, controlling weeds without injury to the crop. This
and corn rootworm pests. Consistent with our Monsantointegration of agricultural chemicals and enhanced seeds
Pledge, we will launch YieldGard Plus when we haveoffers growers a cost-effective solution for weed control. To
completed the appropriate regulatory process in both thedate, we have introduced Roundup Ready traits in soybeans,
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United States and Japan. YieldGard Plus technology is glyphosate herbicide market, however, we believe the
currently under review by the Japanese regulatory authorities. Roundup franchise can continue to be a significant and
We are currently developing the first triple-stack product, sustainable source of cash and income generation for Mon-
YieldGard Plus corn with Roundup Ready. Another source santo, even in the face of increased competition.
of growth in the near term is the commercialization of As expected, the market share and price of Roundup in
second-generation traits, such as Bollgard II cotton. the United States have declined since the patent expired in

In addition to delivering new stacked-trait products and 2000. We expect these trends to continue until we reach
second-generation traits in the near term, we are working steady-state postpatent levels. In postpatent markets around
toward developing products to generate long-term growth. the world, Roundup has maintained a leading market position
Our strategic head start in first- and second-generation input and a price premium compared with generics. We will
traits gives us a leadership position in developing output traits continue to support the market leadership of Roundup with
that provide consumer benefits and create value for the food product innovations, superior customer service and logistics,
industry. low-cost manufacturing, and further expansion of Roundup

We are working to achieve greater acceptance and to Ready crops and conservation tillage.
secure additional approvals for our existing biotechnology We have several patents on our glyphosate formulations
products globally, and toward the development and timely and manufacturing processes in the United States and in
commercialization of additional products in our pipeline. We other countries. We continue to differentiate Roundup with
are prioritizing our efforts to gain approvals for biotechnology innovations using proprietary technology. We also provide
crops, and while we continue to gain new approvals in global more concentrated formulations that provide greater conve-
markets, we are not adopting strategies that depend on nience for farmers while reducing production and logistics
government action. We are continuing our efforts to obtain costs. We offer a variety of products to meet farmers’ needs.
approval for the planting of Roundup Ready soybeans in The U.S. launch of premium Roundup WeatherMAX was
Brazil, and for the importation of corn that contains the followed by introduction of Roundup Original MAX, which
Roundup Ready trait into Europe. We have committed to offers key brand advantages at a lower price, for the 2004
selling seed that will result in commercial commodity grain growing season.
products only after we have earned regulatory approval for Monsanto will support Roundup through expansion of
consumption by both humans and animals. Crop import Roundup Ready crops and promotion of conservation tillage.
restrictions in some key markets, most notably the European Conservation tillage helps farmers reduce soil erosion by
Union (EU), reduce potential expansion of current and future replacing plowing with the judicious use of herbicides to
biotechnology crops in the United States and other markets control weeds. Further penetration of Roundup Ready crops
where they are approved. The development of effective also enhances the market position of Roundup as a brand-
systems to enable farmers growing crops in the United States name product that farmers trust to avoid the risk of crop
to sell into elevator systems that do not export to the EU, injury in over-the-top use on these crops.
however, is mitigating the effect of these restrictions. Monsanto maintains strong distribution relationships and

We are committed to addressing concerns raised by a unique bulk tank system to support retailers. Monsanto
consumers in some regions and by public interest groups and remains the primary global producer of glyphosate, the active
questions from government regulators regarding agricultural ingredient in Roundup, with agreements to supply glyphosate
and food products developed through biotechnology. We also to many of our competitors. Our high volume allows us to
continue to address concerns about the adventitious or maintain low unit costs. We continue to reduce production
unintended trace presence of biotechnology materials in seed, costs, and we are also achieving reductions in working capital
grain or feed and food products. We are responding to the through careful management of inventories. In recent years,
issue of adventitious presence in several ways. These include distribution channel inventories had increased significantly in
seeking sound, science-based rules and regulations that clarify the United States. However, Roundup distribution inventory
and allow for trace amounts, and providing industry leader- levels at the end of calendar year 2002 were roughly flat with
ship to establish the highest standards of purity reasonably levels at 2001 calendar year-end, and declined during the
achievable and to establish global standards for quality. We transition period. We expect these levels to be flat to down in
are also working with the seed industry to develop strategies the near term.
on production interventions that may reduce the likelihood of Like most chemical herbicides, Monsanto’s selective her-
adventitious presence. bicides face declining markets and increasing competitive

pressures, but they continue to complement our ability to
Agricultural Productivity offer fully integrated solutions, particularly in corn. While
Reduced revenues and earnings from Roundup herbicide rapid penetration of Roundup Ready corn in the United
reflect both the overall decline in the agricultural chemicals States has also had a negative effect on sales of Monsanto
market and the expiration of U.S. patent protection for the selective corn herbicides, increased revenues from the
active ingredient in Roundup in 2000. By aligning our
infrastructure and costs with our expectations for the
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Roundup Ready trait and the Roundup used on these acres We believe that the following estimates have a higher
are significantly higher than the lost selective herbicide sales. degree of inherent uncertainty and require our most significant

Our lawn-and-garden herbicide business remains a strong judgments. In addition, had we used estimates different from
cash generator and supports Monsanto’s brand equity in the any of these, our financial condition, results of operations, or
marketplace. Another key product in our Agricultural Produc- liquidity for the current period could have been materially
tivity segment is Posilac bovine somatotropin, which pro- different from those presented.
motes dairy cow productivity. Posilac provides a steady

Allowance for Doubtful Trade Receivables: We maintain ancontribution to gross profit. New product formulations and
allowance for doubtful trade receivables. This allowancemore efficient manufacturing capacity support the growth of
represents our estimate of accounts receivable that, subse-Posilac. The new bulk powder facility for Posilac, approved
quent to the time of sale, we have estimated to be of doubtfulin 2003 for production by the U.S. FDA, will allow us to
collectibility because our customers may not be able to pay.supply anticipated growth in the market.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful

Other Information accounts, we consider historical bad-debt experience, cus-
As discussed in Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies, tomer creditworthiness, market conditions, and economic
Monsanto is involved in a number of lawsuits and claims conditions. We perform ongoing evaluations of our allowance
relating to a variety of issues. Many of these lawsuits relate to for doubtful accounts, and we increase the allowance as
intellectual property disputes. We expect that such disputes required. Increases in this allowance will reduce the recorded
will continue to occur as the agricultural biotechnology amount of our net trade receivables and shareowners’ equity,
industry evolves. and increase our bad-debt expense. For example, in June

As further discussed in Note 22, under our Separation 2002 we increased our allowance for estimated uncollectible
Agreement with Pharmacia, we were required to indemnify trade receivables in Argentina by $154 million. This increase
Pharmacia for liabilities that Solutia assumed from Pharmacia in the allowance was required because of the economic
in connection with the spinoff of Solutia on Sept. 1, 1997, to turmoil and market conditions there.
the extent that Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge

Allowances for Returns and Inventory Obsolescence: Wherethose liabilities. Note 22 includes further information regard-
the right of return exists in our seed business, sales revenuesing Solutia, and the possibility of a material adverse effect on
are reduced at the time of sale to reflect expected returns. Inour financial position, profitability and/or liquidity.
order to estimate the expected returns, management analyzesFor additional information on the outlook for Monsanto,
historical returns, economic trends, market conditions, andsee ‘‘Cautionary Statements: Risk Factors Regarding Forward-
changes in customer demand. In addition, we establishLooking Information.’’
allowances for obsolescence of inventory equal to the differ-

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES ence between the cost of inventory and the estimated market
value, based on assumptions about future demand and market

In preparing our financial statements, we must select and
conditions. We regularly evaluate the adequacy of our return

apply various accounting policies. Our most significant policies
allowances and inventory obsolescence reserves. If economic

are described in Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies —
and market conditions are different from those we antici-

to the consolidated financial statements. In order to apply our
pated, actual returns and inventory obsolescence could be

accounting policies, we often need to make estimates based
materially different from the amounts provided for in our

on judgments about future events. In making such estimates,
consolidated financial statements. If seed returns are higher

we rely on historical experience, market and other conditions,
than anticipated, our net sales, net trade receivables and

and on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable.
shareowners’ equity for future periods will be reduced. If

However, the estimation process is by its nature uncertain
inventory obsolescence is higher than expected, our cost of

given that estimates depend on events over which we may
goods sold will be increased, and our inventory valuations and

not have control. If market and other conditions change from
shareowners’ equity reduced. Higher-than-anticipated seed

those that we anticipate, our financial condition, results of
returns have recently affected our results of operations and

operations, or liquidity may be affected materially. In addition,
financial condition. In calendar year 2002, results were

if our assumptions change, we may need to revise our
affected by higher-than-anticipated seed returns (primarily

estimates, or to take other corrective actions, either of which
corn seed) in Argentina because of the economic crisis that

may also have a material effect on our financial condition,
originated at the end of 2001 and the flooding in that same

results of operations, or liquidity. Members of our senior
year. In 2001, we experienced higher-than-anticipated returns

management have discussed the development and selection of
of high-priced corn seed, primarily in Brazil because of an

our critical accounting estimates, and our disclosure regarding
extremely unusual change in market conditions there.

them, with the audit and finance committee of our board of
directors, and do so on a regular basis.
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Deferred Income Tax Assets: Management regularly assesses the use of assumptions and long-range estimates. These
the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered from assumptions include, among others: assumptions regarding
future taxable income. To the extent management believes interest and discount rates, assumed long-term rates of return
that it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will on pension plan assets, and projected rates of salary
not be realized, a valuation allowance is established. When a increases. We regularly evaluate these assumptions and
valuation allowance is established or increased, an income tax estimates as new information becomes available. Changes in
charge is included in the consolidated financial statements assumptions (caused by conditions in the debt and equity
and net deferred tax assets are adjusted accordingly. As of markets, changes in asset mix, and plan experience, for
Aug. 31, 2003, Monsanto has recorded a valuation allowance example) could have a material effect on our pension
totaling $90 million against Brazilian loss carryforwards, an obligations and expenses, and can affect our net income,
increase of $14 million from Dec. 31, 2002. This increase is a intangible assets, liabilities, and shareowners’ equity. In
result of foreign-currency fluctuations. Changes in tax laws, addition, changes in assumptions such as rates of return,
statutory tax rates, and estimates of the company’s future fixed income rates used to value liabilities or declines in the
taxable income levels could result in actual realization of the fair value of plan assets, may result in voluntary decisions or
deferred tax assets being materially different from the mandatory requirements to make additional contributions to
amounts provided for in the consolidated financial statements. our qualified pension plan. Because of the design of our
If the actual recovery amount of the deferred tax asset is less postretirement health care plans, our liabilities associated
than anticipated, we would be required to write off the with these plans are not highly sensitive to assumptions
remaining deferred tax asset and increase the tax provision, regarding health care cost trends.
resulting in a reduction of net income and shareowners’ Because of the decline in the equity markets in recent
equity. years, the fair value of assets in the Monsanto U.S. qualified

pension plan decreased in 2002. As a result, along with the
Goodwill: A majority of our goodwill relates to our seed effect of declining interest rates, we recorded additional
company acquisitions. We are required to assess whether any minimum pension liability adjustments totaling $330 million
of our goodwill is impaired. In order to do this, we apply during calendar year 2002. Although the equity markets have
judgment in determining our reporting units, which represent improved during the transition period, interest rates have
distinct parts of our business. The definition of our reporting continued to decline. As a result, we recorded a $106 million
units affects the results of our goodwill impairment analysis. increase to the additional minimum pension liability in our
Our annual goodwill impairment assessment involves estimat- financial statements for the eight-month period ended
ing the fair value of a reporting unit and comparing it with its Aug. 31, 2003. This adjustment was necessary to keep the
carrying amount. If the carrying value of the reporting unit recorded pension liability at least equal to the unfunded
exceeds its fair value, additional steps are required to accumulated benefit obligation for the plan. These noncash
calculate a potential impairment loss. Calculating the fair adjustments decreased shareowners’ equity, but did not affect
value of the reporting units requires significant estimates and our results of operations.
long-term assumptions. Any changes in key assumptions We anticipate that our pension expenses will continue to
about the business and its prospects, or any changes in increase in 2004, which will reduce our net income. We
market conditions, interest rates or other externalities, could recently reduced the discount rate for our pension plan from
result in an impairment charge. We estimate the fair value of 6.75 percent to 6.25 percent to reflect market interest
our reporting units by applying discounted cash flow method- conditions and payout experience. In determining the dis-
ologies. In connection with the adoption of SFAS 142 in 2002, count rate, we use the yield on high-quality fixed-income
we recorded a $2 billion pretax transitional impairment investments (including among other things, Moody’s Aa
charge relating to our corn and wheat reporting units. This corporate bond yields) that match the average duration of the
charge reduced the carrying amount of our goodwill, and it pension obligations. To the extent the discount rate increases
resulted in a cumulative effect of accounting change, which or decreases, our pension obligation is decreased or increased
reduced net income and shareowners’ equity. Future changes accordingly. Holding all other assumptions constant, we
in the fair value of our reporting units could affect our estimate that this one-half percent decrease in the expected
goodwill and operating expenses and reduce shareowners’ discount rate will decrease our fiscal year 2004 pretax income
equity. As discussed in ‘‘Restructuring and Other Special by approximately $4 million. We also recently reduced our
Items,’’ our October 2003 decision to exit our European wheat salary rate assumption by one-half percent. This lower salary
and barley business required us to reevaluate our global assumption will partially offset the pretax earnings effect of
wheat business for potential goodwill impairment. the lower assumed discount rate.

Expected rate of return on pension assets is also an
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits: The actuarial important element of plan expense. In 2002, we reduced the
valuation of our pension and other postretirement benefit rate of return on pension plan assets to 8.75 percent. To
costs, assets and obligations affects our financial position, determine the rate of return, we consider the historical
results of operations and cash flow. These valuations require
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experience and expected future performance of the plan CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS: RISK FACTORS REGARDING
assets, as well as the current and expected allocation of the FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
plan assets. The U.S. qualified pension plan’s asset allocation

In this report, and from time to time throughout the year, we
as of Aug. 31, 2003, was approximately 60 percent equity

share our expectations for our company’s future performance.
investments, 35 percent fixed-income investments and 5 per-

These forward-looking statements represent our best esti-
cent other investments, in line with policy ranges. We

mates and expectations at the time that we make those
periodically evaluate the allocation of plan assets among the

statements. However, by their nature, these types of state-
different investment classes to ensure that they are within

ments are uncertain and are not guarantees of our future
policy guidelines and ranges. While we do not currently

performance. Many events beyond our control will determine
expect to further reduce the assumed rate of return in the

whether our expectations will be realized. In the interests of
near term, holding all other assumptions constant, we esti-

our investors, and in accordance with the ‘‘safe harbor’’
mate that a half-percent decrease in the expected return on

provisions of the U.S Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
plan assets would lower Monsanto’s fiscal year 2004 pretax

of 1995, this section of our report explains some of the
income by approximately $5 million.

important reasons that actual results may be materially
different from those that we anticipate.NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Our forward-looking statements include statements about:
Monsanto adopted SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retire- our business plans; the potential development, regulatory
ment Obligations, on Jan. 1, 2003. SFAS 143 addresses financial approval, and public acceptance of our products; our
accounting for and reporting of costs and obligations associated expected financial performance and the anticipated effect of
with legal obligations related to the retirement of tangible long- our strategic actions; domestic or international economic,
lived assets. Upon adoption of this standard, in accordance with political and market conditions; and other factors that could
Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 20, Accounting affect our future operations or financial position. Any state-
Changes, we recorded an aftertax cumulative effect of account- ments we make that are not matters of current reportage or
ing change of $12 million, or $0.05 per share. This noncash historical fact should be considered forward looking. Such
charge was recorded as of Jan. 1, 2003. In addition, as required statements often include words such as ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘expects,’’
by SFAS 143, as of Jan. 1, 2003, net property, plant and ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘intends,’’ ‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘estimates,’’ ‘‘will,’’ and simi-
equipment was increased by approximately $10 million, and lar expressions.
asset retirement obligations (a component of noncurrent liabili- Our forward-looking statements are current only as of the
ties) of approximately $30 million were recorded. Adoption of date of this report. Circumstances change constantly, often
this standard did not affect Monsanto’s liquidity. unpredictably, and investors should not place undue reliance

In 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for on these statements. We disclaim any current intention to
Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS 146 revise or update any forward-looking statements, or the
replaced Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, Liability factors that may affect their realization, whether in light of
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and new information, future events or otherwise, and investors
Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs should not rely on us to do so.
Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS 146 requires companies to
recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when Competition for Roundup Herbicides: We expect to face
they are incurred rather than at the date the company commits continued competition for our branded Roundup herbicide
itself to an exit or disposal plan. This statement is effective for product line. The extent to which we can realize cash and
exit or disposal activities initiated after Dec. 31, 2002. The gross profit from these products will depend on our ability to
adoption of SFAS 146 had no effect on our 2000 and 2002 predict and respond effectively to competitor pricing, to
restructuring plans, which were both initiated prior to Dec. 31, provide marketing programs meeting the needs of our
2002. We will follow SFAS 146 to recognize the costs associated customers and of the farmers who are our end-users, to
with the strategic actions announced in October 2003. maintain an efficient distribution system, to control manufac-

In April 2003, SFAS No. 149, Amendment of State- turing and marketing costs without adversely affecting sales,
ment 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and to develop new formulations with features attractive to
was issued. SFAS 149 amends and clarifies accounting for our end-users.
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments

Regulation and Public Acceptance of Seed Biotechnology:embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under
Regulatory and legislative requirements affect the testing andSFAS 133. SFAS 149 is generally effective for contracts entered
planting of seeds containing our biotechnology traits, and theinto or modified and for hedging relationships designated after
import of crops grown from those seeds. Obtaining testing,June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 149 did not have a
planting and import approvals can be lengthy and costly, withmaterial effect on our financial position, profitability or liquidity.
no guarantee of success. Planting approvals may also include
significant regulatory requirements that can limit our sales.
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Lack of approval to import crops containing biotechnology Intellectual Property: Intellectual property rights are crucial
traits into key markets affects sales of our traits, even in to our business, and we endeavor to obtain and protect these
jurisdictions where planting has been approved. Legislation or rights in jurisdictions in which our products are produced or
regulation may also require the tracking of biotechnology used, and in jurisdictions into which our products are
products and the labeling of food or feed products with imported. Intellectual property rights are particularly impor-
ingredients grown from seeds containing biotechnology traits. tant with respect to our seeds and genomics segment.
Such traceability and labeling requirements may cause food However, we may be unable to obtain protection for our
processors and food companies to avoid biotechnology and intellectual property in key jurisdictions. Even if protection is
select non-biotechnology crop sources, which can affect obtained, competitors, growers, or others in the chain of
grower seed purchase decisions and the sale of our products. commerce may illegally infringe on our rights, and such
Some opponents of the technology publicly express concern infringement may be difficult to prevent or detect. For
about potential effects of our biotechnology traits on other example, the practice of saving seeds from non-hybrid crops
plants and on the environment, and about potential effects of (including, for example, soybeans, canola and cotton) contain-
crops containing these traits on animals and human health. ing our biotechnology may prevent us from realizing the full
Such concerns can affect government approvals and may value of our intellectual property, particularly outside the
adversely affect sales of our traits, even after approvals are United States. We must also protect our intellectual property
granted. In addition, violent opponents of agricultural against legal challenges by competitors. Efforts to protect our
biotechnology have attacked facilities used by agricultural intellectual property rights against infringement and legal
biotechnology companies, and may launch future violent challenges can increase our costs, and will not always
attacks against our field testing sites, research, production, or succeed. In addition, because of the rapid pace of technologi-
other facilities. cal change, and the confidentiality of patent applications in

some jurisdictions, competitors may be issued patents from
Adventitious Presence of Biotechnology Traits: The detec-

applications that were unknown to us prior to issuance. Thesetion of unintended but unavoidable trace amounts (sometimes
patents could reduce the value of our commercial or pipelinecalled ‘‘adventitious presence’’) of commercial biotechnology
products. Because of the rapid pace of change and thetraits in conventional (non-biotechnology) seed, or in the
complexity of the legal and factual issues involved, we couldgrain or products produced from seeds containing these traits,
unknowingly rely on key technologies that are or becomemay negatively affect our business or results of operations.
patent-protected by others, which would require that we seekThe detection of adventitious presence of traits not approved
to obtain licenses or cease using the technology, no matterin the country where detected may result in the withdrawal of
how valuable to our business.seed lots from sale, or in compliance actions such as crop

destruction or product recalls. Some growers of organic and Research and Development: The continued development and
conventional crops have claimed that the adventitious pres- commercialization of pipeline products is key to our growth.
ence of any biotechnology traits in their crops will cause them The ability to develop and bring new products to market,
commercial harm. The potential for adventitious presence of especially agricultural biotechnology products, requires ade-
biotechnology traits is a factor in general public acceptance of quately funded, efficient and successful research and develop-
these traits. Concern about adventitious presence may also ment programs. Inadequate availability of funds, failure to
lead to more stringent regulation, which may include: require- focus R&D efforts efficiently, or lack of productivity in R&D,
ments for labeling and traceability; financial protection such would hurt our future growth.
as surety bonds, liability or insurance; and/or restrictions or

Competition in Plant Biotechnology: Many companies
moratoria on testing, planting or use of biotechnology traits. engage in plant biotechnology research. Their success could
Regulation and Legislation Affecting Agricultural Prod- render our existing products less competitive. In addition, a
ucts: In addition to regulation and legislation specifically company’s speed in getting its new product to market can be
affecting our seed biotechnology products, agricultural prod- a significant competitive advantage. We expect to see more
ucts and their manufacturers are subject to other government competition, from agricultural biotechnology firms and from
regulation, which affects our sales and profitability. These major agrichemical, seed and food companies, some of which
regulations affect the development, manufacture and distribu- have substantially greater financial and marketing resources
tion of our products, and non-compliance could affect our than we do.
sales and profitability. Farm legislation encouraging or dis-

Weather, Natural Disasters and Accidents: Our sales and
couraging the planting of specific crops can affect our sales. profitability are subject to significant risk from weather
In addition, claims that increased use of glyphosate herbicides conditions and natural disasters that affect commodity prices,
increases the potential for the development of glyphosate- seed yields, and grower decisions about purchases of our
resistant weeds could result in restrictions on the use of products. Natural disasters or industrial accidents could also
glyphosate and of seeds containing our Roundup Ready affect our own manufacturing facilities, our major suppliers,
traits, and thereby reduce our sales. or our major customers.
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Manufacturing: Because we use hazardous and other regu- maintaining sales, or unanticipated increases in our costs,
lated materials in our product development programs and could reduce our profitability.
manufacturing processes, we are subject to risks of accidental

Commodity Prices: Fluctuations in commodity prices canenvironmental contamination, personal injury claims and fines.
affect our costs and our sales. We purchase our seedWe are also subject to regulation of air emissions, waste water
inventories from production growers at market prices, anddischarges and solid waste. Compliance may be costly, and
retain the seed in inventory until it is sold. We use hedgingfailure to comply may result in penalties and remediation
strategies to mitigate the risk of changes in these prices. Inobligations. In addition, lapses in quality control could affect
addition, the prices of our seeds and traits could be affectedour sales and result in claims for defective products.
by commodity prices. Farmers’ income, and therefore their

Short-Term Financing: We regularly extend credit to our ability to purchase our herbicides, seeds and traits, is also
customers in certain areas of the world so that they can buy affected by commodity prices.
agricultural products at the beginning of their growing

Accounting Policies and Estimates: Changes to our account-seasons. Because of these credit practices and the seasonality
ing policies could affect future results. In addition, changes toof our sales, we may need to issue short-term debt at certain
generally accepted accounting principles could require adjust-times of the year to fund our cash flow requirements. The
ments to financial statements for prior periods and changes toamount of short-term debt will be greater to the extent that
our policies for future periods. In addition, if actual experi-we are unable to collect customer receivables when due, to
ence differs from the estimates, judgments and assumptionsrepatriate funds from ex-U.S. operations, and to manage our
that we used in order to prepare our financial statements,costs and expenses. Any downgrade in our credit rating, or
adjustments will need to be made in future periods, whichother limitation on our access to short-term financing or
may affect revenues and profitability. Finally, changes in ourrefinancing, would increase our interest cost and adversely
business practices may result in changes to the way weaffect our profitability.
account for transactions, and may affect comparability

Litigation and Contingencies: We are involved in major between periods.
lawsuits concerning contracts, intellectual property, biotech-

Operations Outside the United States: Sales outside thenology, antitrust allegations, and other matters. Adverse
United States represent more than 40 percent of ouroutcomes could subject us to substantial damages or limit our
revenues. In addition, we engage in manufacturing, seedability to sell our products. In addition, in connection with the
production, sales, and/or research and development in manyseparation of our businesses from those of Pharmacia on
parts of the world. Although we have operations in virtuallySept. 1, 2000, we were required to indemnify Pharmacia for
every region, our ex-U.S. sales are principally to externalliabilities that Solutia had assumed from Pharmacia in connec-
customers in Argentina, Brazil, Canada, France and Mexico.tion with the spinoff of Solutia on Sept. 1, 1997, to the extent
Accordingly, developments in those parts of the worldthat Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge those liabilities.
generally have a more significant effect on our operationsAdditional information about our risks related to Solutia may
than developments in other places. Operations outside thebe found in other sections of this report.
United States are subject to special risks and limitations,

Product Distribution: To market our products successfully, including: fluctuations in currency values and foreign-currency
we must estimate growers’ future needs, and match our exchange rates; exchange control regulations; changes in local
production and the level of product at our distributors to political or economic conditions; import and trade restrictions;
those needs. However, growers’ decisions are affected by import or export licensing requirements and trade policy;
market and economic conditions that are not known in restrictions on the ability to repatriate funds; and other
advance. Failure to provide distributors with enough inventory potentially detrimental domestic and foreign governmental
of our products will reduce our current sales. However, high practices or policies affecting U.S. companies doing business
product inventory levels at our distributors may reduce sales abroad. Acts of terror or war may impair our ability to
in future periods, as those distributor inventories are worked operate in particular countries or regions, and may impede
down. Large distributor inventories also diminish our ability to the flow of goods and services between countries. Customers
react to changes in the market, and increase the risk of in weakened economies may be unable to purchase our
obsolescence and seed returns. In addition, inadequate dis- products, or we may be unable to collect receivables; and
tributor liquidity could affect distributors’ ability to pay for imported products could become more expensive for custom-
our products. ers to purchase in their local currency. Changes in exchange

rates may affect our earnings, the book value of our assets
Cost Management: We have recently announced strategic outside the United States, and our equity.
initiatives that include cost reductions in our Roundup

business. Inability to implement these cost reductions while
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

We are exposed to the effect of interest rate changes, foreign Foreign Currency Fluctuations: In managing foreign cur-
currency fluctuations, and changes in commodity and equity rency risk, Monsanto focuses on reducing the volatility in
prices. Market risk represents the risk of a change in the consolidated cash flow and earnings caused by fluctuations in
value of a financial instrument, derivative or nonderivative, exchange rates. We use foreign-currency forward exchange
caused by fluctuations in interest rates, currency exchange contracts and foreign-currency options to manage the net
rates, and commodity and equity prices. Monsanto handles currency exposure, in accordance with established hedging
market risk in accordance with established policies by policies. Monsanto hedges recorded commercial transaction
engaging in various derivative transactions. Such transactions exposures, intercompany loans, net investments in foreign
are not entered into for trading purposes. subsidiaries, and forecasted transactions. The company’s

See Notes 2 and 13 to the consolidated financial significant hedged positions included the Argentine peso, the
statements for further details regarding the accounting and euro, Canadian dollar, the Brazilian real, and the South
disclosure of our derivative instruments and hedging African rand. Unfavorable currency movements of 10 percent
activities. would negatively affect the fair market values of the deriva-

The sensitivity analysis discussed below presents the tives held to hedge currency exposures by $60 million.
hypothetical change in fair value of those financial instru-

Changes in Commodity Prices: Monsanto uses futuresments held by the company as of Aug. 31, 2003, that are
contracts to protect itself against commodity price increases,sensitive to changes in interest rates, currency exchange
mainly in the Seeds and Genomics segment. The majority ofrates, and commodity and equity prices. Actual changes may
these contracts hedge the committed or future purchases of,prove to be greater or less than those hypothesized.
and the carrying value of payables to growers for, soybean

Changes in Interest Rates: Because the company’s short- and and corn inventories. A 10 percent decrease in the prices
long-term debt exceeds cash and investments, Monsanto’s would have a negative effect on the fair value of those futures
interest-rate risk exposure pertains primarily to the debt of less than $2 million for soybeans and less than $4 million
portfolio. To the extent that we have cash available for for corn. We also use natural gas swaps to manage energy
investment to ensure liquidity, we will invest that cash only in input costs. A 10 percent decrease in price of gas would have
short-term instruments. The majority of our debt as of a negative effect on the fair value of the swaps of $1 million.
Aug. 31, 2003, consisted of fixed-rate, long-term obligations.

Changes in Equity Prices: The company also has invest-Market risk with respect to interest rates is estimated as
ments in equity securities. All such investments are classifiedthe potential change in fair value resulting from an immediate
as long-term available-for-sale investments. The fair markethypothetical one percentage point parallel shift in the yield
value of these investments is $51 million. These securities arecurve. The fair values of the company’s investments and loans
listed on a stock exchange or quoted in an over-the-counterare based on quoted market prices or discounted future cash
market. If the market price of the traded securities shouldflows. We currently hold debt and investments that mature in
decrease by 10 percent, the fair value of the equities wouldless than 360 days, and variable rate medium-term notes. As
decrease by $5 million. See Note 10 — Investments — forthe carrying amounts on short-term loans and investments
further details.maturing in less than 360 days and the carrying amounts of

variable-rate medium-term notes approximate their respective
fair values, a one percentage point change in the interest
rates would not result in a material change in the fair value of
our debt and investments portfolio.

On Aug. 14, 2002, Monsanto issued $600 million of 73/8%
Senior Notes (the 73/8% notes) under our shelf registration.
The aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes was
later increased to $800 million. In May 2003, Monsanto issued
$250 million of 4% notes, also under this shelf registration.
These notes were subsequently swapped to six-month London
Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), plus a spread of 39 basis
points. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the fair value of the 73/8% notes
was $898 million, and the fair value of the 4% notes
(including the effect of the swap) was $244 million. A one
percentage point change in the interest rates would change
the fair value of the 73/8% notes by approximately $61 million,
and the 4% notes by $11 million.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Management Report

Monsanto Company’s management is responsible for the fair presentation and consistency, in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, of all the financial information included in this Form 10-K. Where necessary, the information reflects
management’s best estimates and judgments.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining an effective system of internal controls over financial
reporting. The purpose of these controls is to provide reasonable assurance that Monsanto’s assets are safeguarded against
material loss from unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition, that authorized transactions are properly recorded to permit the
preparation of accurate financial information in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, that records are
maintained which accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the company, and that receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company. This system
of internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures, including a Business Conduct program
designed to encourage and assist employees in living up to the highest standards of integrity, as well as a Code of Ethics for
Chief Executive and Senior Financial Officers. The effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting is maintained by
careful personnel selection and training, division of responsibilities, establishment and communication of policies, and ongoing
internal reviews and audits.

Management believes that Monsanto’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of Aug. 31, 2003, was effective
and adequate to accomplish the objectives described above. Monsanto’s consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors. Their audits were conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States, and included a test of financial controls, tests of accounting records, and other procedures as
they considered necessary in the circumstances.

The audit and finance committee, composed entirely of outside directors, meets regularly with management and with the
independent auditors to review accounting, financial reporting, auditing and internal control matters. The committee has direct
and private access to the external and internal auditors.

Hugh Grant
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Terrell K. Crews
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Shareowners of Monsanto Company:

We have audited the accompanying statement of consolidated financial position of Monsanto Company and subsidiaries as of
Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, and the related statements of consolidated operations, cash flows, shareowners’
equity, and comprehensive income (loss) for the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003, and each of the three years in the period
ended Dec. 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Monsanto Company and subsidiaries as of Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003, and each of the three years in the period ended Dec. 31, 2002,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2003 Monsanto Company changed its method of
accounting for asset retirement obligations to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for

Asset Retirement Obligations.
As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 Monsanto Company changed its method of

accounting for goodwill to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible

Assets.
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2000 Monsanto Company changed its method of

recognizing revenue to conform to the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenue

Recognition in Financial Statements.

St. Louis, Missouri
Nov. 14, 2003
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Statement of Consolidated Operations

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share and per pro forma share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Net Sales $3,373 $ 4,673 $5,462 $5,493
Cost of goods sold 1,796 2,493 2,817 2,770

Gross Profit 1,577 2,180 2,645 2,723
Operating Expenses:

Selling, general and administrative expenses 741 1,023 1,141 1,195
Bad-debt expense 40 208 42 58
Research and development expenses 330 527 560 588
Amortization and adjustments of goodwill — — 121 212
Restructuring charges (reversals) — net (5) 103 122 103

Total Operating Expenses 1,106 1,861 1,986 2,156
Income From Operations 471 319 659 567

Interest expense 57 81 99 214
Interest income 11 22 26 30
PCB litigation settlement expense — net 396 — — —
Other expense — net 67 58 127 49

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change (38) 202 459 334
Income tax provision (benefit) (27) 73 164 159

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change (11) 129 295 175
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax benefit of $7 in

2003, $162 in 2002 and $16 in 2000 (12) (1,822) — (26)

Net Income (Loss) $ (23) $(1,693) $ 295 $ 149

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $(0.04) $ 0.49 $ 1.14 $ 0.68
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.05) (6.99) — (0.10)

Net Income (Loss) $(0.09) $ (6.50) $ 1.14 $ 0.58

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $(0.04) $ 0.49 $ 1.12 $ 0.68
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.05) (6.94) — (0.10)

Net Income (Loss) $(0.09) $ (6.45) $ 1.12 $ 0.58
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Consolidated Financial Position

As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions, except share amounts) 2003 2002 2001

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 281 $ 428 $ 307
Short-term investments 230 250 —
Trade receivables — net (see Note 6) 2,296 1,752 2,307
Miscellaneous receivables 437 389 449
Related-party loan receivable — — 30
Related-party receivable — — 44
Deferred tax assets 430 260 251
Inventories 1,230 1,272 1,357
Other current assets 58 73 52

Total Current Assets 4,962 4,424 4,797
Property, Plant and Equipment:

Land 71 69 68
Buildings 899 925 947
Machinery and equipment 3,091 3,042 3,127
Computer software 267 258 233
Construction in progress 283 292 362

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 4,611 4,586 4,737
Less Accumulated Depreciation 2,331 2,247 2,110

Net Property, Plant and Equipment 2,280 2,339 2,627
Goodwill — net (see Note 9) 768 757 2,748
Other Intangible Assets — net (see Note 9) 571 643 691
Other Assets 880 727 566

Total Assets $ 9,461 $ 8,890 $11,429

Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity
Current Liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 269 $ 393 $ 563
Related-party short-term loans payable — — 254
Accounts payable 290 275 457
Related-party payable — — 87
PCB litigation settlement liability 400 — —
Accrued compensation and benefits 140 73 136
Accrued marketing programs 396 312 197
Deferred revenues 17 148 72
Grower accruals — 98 104
Miscellaneous short-term accruals 432 511 507

Total Current Liabilities 1,944 1,810 2,377
Long-Term Debt 1,258 851 893
Postretirement Liabilities 837 817 365
Other Liabilities 266 232 311
Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 22)
Shareowners’ Equity:

Common stock (authorized: 1,500,000,000 shares, par value $0.01)
Shares issued: 262,681,253 in 2003, 261,412,808 in 2002 and 258,112,408 in 2001 3 3 3

Additional contributed capital 8,077 8,050 8,056
Retained earnings (deficit) (1,733) (1,645) 173
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,168) (1,202) (716)
Reserve for ESOP debt retirement (23) (26) (33)

Total Equity 5,156 5,180 7,483

Total Liabilities and Shareowners’ Equity $ 9,461 $ 8,890 $11,429
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Operating Activities:
Net Income (Loss) $ (23) $(1,693) $ 295 $ 149
Adjustments to reconcile cash provided (required) by operations:

Items that did not require (provide) cash:
Pretax cumulative effect of change in accounting principle 19 1,984 — 42
Depreciation and amortization expense 302 460 554 546
Bad-debt expense 40 208 42 58
Noncash restructuring and other special items (2) 50 122 195
Deferred income taxes (132) (258) 5 179
(Gain) loss on disposal of investments and property — net — (59) (16) 2
Equity affiliate expense — net 26 43 41 34
Write-off of retired assets 22 28 20 —
PCB litigation settlement (accrued liability net of insurance receivables) 245 — — —
Other items that did not provide cash (14) — — —

Changes in assets and liabilities that provided (required) cash:
Trade receivables (647) 221 (224) (653)
Inventories 85 74 (187) 118
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 24 (3) (194) 28
Pension contributions (111) (20) — —
Related-party transactions 2 (46) 161 (35)
Tax benefit on employee stock options 2 11 — —
Deferred revenue on supply agreements — 42 — —
Net investment hedge proceeds (loss) (26) 20 — —
Other items (26) 46 (3) 8

Net Cash Provided (Required) by Operations (214) 1,108 616 671

Cash Flows Provided (Required) by Investing Activities:
Purchases of short-term investments (230) (250) — —
Maturities of short-term investments 250 — — —
Technology and other investments (35) (97) (81) (148)
Capital expenditures (114) (224) (382) (582)
Property disposal proceeds 5 72 10 —
Loans with related party — 30 20 (205)

Net Cash Required by Investing Activities (124) (469) (433) (935)

Cash Flows Provided (Required) by Financing Activities:
Net change in short-term financing 97 (934) 372 (993)
Loans from related party — (254) (226) 635
Long-term debt proceeds 253 856 57 —
Long-term debt reductions (77) (104) (94) (58)
Debt issuance costs (2) (10) — —
Payments on other financing (8) (10) — —
Stock option exercises 24 63 — —
Dividend payments (96) (125) (116) —
Issuance of stock — — — 723
Net transactions with Pharmacia — — — 62

Net Cash Provided (Required) by Financing Activities 191 (518) (7) 369

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents (147) 121 176 105
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 428 307 131 26

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 281 $ 428 $ 307 $ 131
See Note 21 — Supplemental Cash Flow Information — for further details.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Consolidated Shareowners’ Equity
Additional Parent Retained Accumulated Other

Common Contributed Company Net Earnings Comprehensive Reserve for
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) Stock Capital Investment (Deficit) Income (Loss)(1) ESOP Debt Total

Balance as of Jan. 1, 2000 $— $ — $ 4,926 $ — $ (281) $ — $ 4,645
Net income through Aug. 31, 2000 — — 124 — — — 124
Net transactions with Pharmacia(2) — — 318 — (104) — 214
Capitalization of Monsanto from Pharmacia (1,000 shares)(3) 2 5,366 (5,368) — — — —
Debt exchanged for additional Pharmacia capital contribution — 1,765 — — (15) (38) 1,712
Common stock issued on Oct. 23, 2000 (38,033,000 shares) 1 722 — — — — 723
Grant of restricted stock (10,000 shares) — — — — — — —
Net income from Sept. 1, 2000, through 

Dec. 31, 2000 — — — 25 — — 25
Cash dividend of $0.09 per common share — — — (23) — — (23)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (107) — (107)
Net unrealized gain on investments — — — — 27 — 27
Minimum pension liability — — — — 1 — 1

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2000 $ 3 $ 7,853 $ — $ 2 $ (479) $ (38) $ 7,341
Net income — — — 295 — — 295
Net transactions with Pharmacia(4) — 201 — — (13) — 188
Grants of restricted stock (45,500 shares) — 2 — — — — 2
Cash dividends of $0.48 per common share — — — (124) — — (124)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (197) — (197)
Net unrealized loss on investments — — — — (24) — (24)
Accumulated derivative loss — — — — (8) — (8)
Allocation of ESOP shares — — — — — 5 5
Minimum pension liability — — — — 5 — 5

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2001 $ 3 $ 8,056 $ — $ 173 $ (716) $ (33) $ 7,483
Net loss — — — (1,693) — — (1,693)
Net transactions with Pharmacia(5) — (83) — — — — (83)
Grants of restricted stock (147,000 shares) — 3 — — — — 3
Issuance of shares under employee stock plans — 63 — — — — 63
Tax benefit on employee stock options — 11 — — — — 11
Cash dividends of $0.48 per common share — — — (125) — — (125)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (273) — (273)
Minimum pension liability — — — — (202) — (202)
Net unrealized loss on investments — — — — (11) — (11)
Allocation of ESOP shares — — — — — 7 7

Balance as of Dec. 31, 2002 $ 3 $ 8,050 $ — $(1,645) $ (1,202) $ (26) $ 5,180
Net loss — — — (23) — — (23)
Grants of restricted stock (25,000 shares) — 1 — — — — 1
Issuance of shares under employee stock plans — 24 — — — — 24
Tax benefit on employee stock options — 2 — — — — 2
Cash dividends of $0.25 per common share — — — (65) — — (65)
Foreign currency translation — — — — 105 — 105
Minimum pension liability — — — — (71) — (71)
Net unrealized gain on investments — — — — 6 — 6
Accumulated derivative loss — — — — (6) — (6)
Allocation of ESOP shares — — — — — 3 3

Balance as of Aug. 31, 2003 $ 3 $ 8,077 $ — $ (1,733) $ (1,168) $ (23) $ 5,156
(1) See Note 19 — Comprehensive Income (Loss) — for further details of the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
(2) Includes adjustments to reflect determination of the historical amounts of net assets related to accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments.
(3) In September 2000, Monsanto shares were split; Pharmacia received 219,999 shares for each share held. After the separation, Pharmacia held 220 million shares,

which were distributed to Pharmacia shareowners via a tax-free dividend on Aug. 13, 2002.
(4) Includes adjustments to reflect determination of deferred tax assets and accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments.
(5) Includes adjustment primarily associated with the assumed net pension liabilities and related deferred tax assets.
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Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Net Income (Loss) $(23) $(1,693) $ 295 $ 149
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments 105 (273) (197) (107)
Unrealized net holding gains (losses) (net of tax of $5 in 2003, $(2) in 2002, $(13) in

2001 and $15 in 2000) 6 (4) (20) 23
Reclassification adjustment for holding (gains) losses included in income (net of tax

of $(5) in 2002, $(2) in 2001 and $3 in 2000) — (7) (4) 4
Accumulated derivative losses on cash-flow hedges not yet realized (net of tax of

$(9) in 2003, $(5) in 2002 and $(5) 2001) (14) (8) (8) —
Reclassification adjustment for derivative losses included in income (net of tax of $5

in 2003 and $5 in 2002) 8 8 — —
Additional minimum pension liability adjustment (net of tax of $38 in 2003, $(109) in

2002, $3 in 2001, and $1 in 2000) (71) (202) 5 1

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 34 (486) (224) (79)

Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) $ 11 $(2,179) $ 71 $ 70
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION not necessarily reflect what the results of operations, financial
position, or cash flows would have been had Monsanto

Monsanto Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a leading
actually been a separate, stand-alone entity before Sept. 1,

global provider of agricultural products and integrated solu-
2000.

tions for farmers. Monsanto produces leading seed brands,
Beginning Sept. 1, 2000, the consolidated financial state-

including DEKALB and Asgrow, and develops biotechnology
ments reflect the results of operations, financial position, and

traits that assist farmers in controlling insects and weeds.
cash flows of the company as a separate entity responsible for

Monsanto provides other seed companies with genetic mate-
procuring or providing the services and financing previously

rial and biotechnology traits for their seed brands. The
provided by Pharmacia. The consolidated financial statements

company also makes Roundup herbicide and other herbi-
include the costs of services purchased from Pharmacia and

cides. Monsanto’s seeds, related biotechnology trait products,
Pharmacia’s reimbursement for services Monsanto provided it

and herbicides can be combined to provide growers with
pursuant to a transition services agreement.

integrated solutions that improve productivity and reduce the
In October 2000, Monsanto sold approximately 15 per-

costs of farming. Monsanto also provides lawn-and-garden
cent of its common stock at $20 per share in an IPO. On

herbicide products for the residential market and animal
Aug. 13, 2002, Pharmacia completed a spinoff of Monsanto by

agricultural products focused on improving dairy cow produc-
distributing its entire ownership interest via a tax-free

tivity and swine genetics.
dividend to Pharmacia’s shareowners.

Monsanto manages its business in two segments: Seeds
As described in Notes 14, 15, 16 and 17 to these

and Genomics, and Agricultural Productivity. The Seeds and
consolidated financial statements, Monsanto employees and

Genomics segment consists of the global seeds and related
retirees participate in various pension, health care, savings,

traits businesses and genetic technology platforms. The
and other benefit plans. Costs attributable to Monsanto for

Agricultural Productivity segment consists of the crop protec-
those plans that appear in the consolidated financial state-

tion products, animal agriculture, lawn-and-garden herbicide
ments for the periods prior to Sept. 1, 2000, are generally

products, and environmental technologies businesses.
based upon Monsanto’s percentage of total payroll costs.

In July 2003, Monsanto’s board of directors approved a
From Sept. 1, 2000, through Jan. 1, 2002, Monsanto employ-

change to Monsanto’s fiscal year end from December 31 to
ees were covered by pension and stock-based compensation

August 31. This change aligns the company’s fiscal year more
plans sponsored either by Monsanto or Pharmacia. Since Jan.

closely to the seasonal nature of its business. Accordingly, the
1, 2002, Monsanto employees have participated in pension,

company is presenting audited financial statements for the
health care, and other benefit plans sponsored by Monsanto.

eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003 (the transition period). For
Unless otherwise indicated, ‘‘Monsanto’’ and ‘‘the com-

comparative purposes, unaudited condensed results of opera-
pany’’ are used interchangeably to refer to Monsanto Com-

tions data for the comparable period of the prior year is
pany or to Monsanto Company and its consolidated

presented in Note 4 — Change in Fiscal Year End. The
subsidiaries, as appropriate to the context. With respect to

Statement of Consolidated Operations for the 12 months
periods prior to the separation of Monsanto’s business from

ended Dec. 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 will be referenced as
those of Pharmacia on Sept. 1, 2000, references to ‘‘Mon-

calendar year 2002, calendar year 2001, and calendar year
santo,’’ ‘‘Monsanto Company’’ or ‘‘the company’’ also refer to

2000, respectively. The Statement of Consolidated Financial
the agricultural business of Pharmacia.

Position is presented for Dec. 31, 2002 (year-end 2002), and
Dec. 31, 2001 (year-end 2001). NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Monsanto comprises the operations, assets and liabilities
that were previously the agricultural business of Pharmacia,

Basis of Consolidationwhich is now a subsidiary of Pfizer. Monsanto was incorpo-
The consolidated financial statements are presented in accor-rated as a subsidiary of Pharmacia in February 2000. On
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in theSept. 1, 2000, the assets and liabilities of the agricultural
United States. These statements pertain to Monsanto and itsbusiness were transferred from Pharmacia to Monsanto,
controlled subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transac-pursuant to the terms of a separation agreement dated as of
tions have been eliminated in consolidation. Investments inthat date. The consolidated financial statements for all periods
other companies over which Monsanto has the ability toprior to Sept. 1, 2000, were prepared on a carve-out basis to
exercise significant influence (generally through an ownershipreflect the historical operating results, assets, liabilities, and
interest greater than 20 percent) are included in the othercash flows of the agricultural business operations. The costs
assets item in the Statement of Consolidated Financialof certain services and debt service provided by Pharmacia
Position. Monsanto’s share of these companies’ net earningsincluded in the Statement of Consolidated Operations for this
or losses is included in other expense (net) in Monsanto’speriod were allocated to Monsanto based on methodologies
Statement of Consolidated Operations.that management believes to be reasonable. These figures do
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Use of Estimates revenue recognition. For Monsanto, the adoption of SAB 101
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with primarily affected Monsanto’s recognition of license revenues
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States from corn and soybean biotechnology traits sold through third-
requires management to make certain estimates and assump- party seed companies. Monsanto restated license revenues in
tions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 2000, recognizing them when a grower purchases seed. The
financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are previous practice was to recognize the license revenue when
adjusted to reflect actual experience when necessary. Signifi- the third-party seed company sold the seed into the distribu-
cant estimates and assumptions affect many items in the tion system. SAB 101 required companies to report any change
financial statements, for example: allowance for doubtful trade in revenue recognition related to its adoption as an accounting
receivables, sales returns and allowances, inventory obsoles- change in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting

cence, income tax liabilities and assets and related valuation Changes. Monsanto recognized the cumulative effect of a
allowances, asset impairments, employee benefit plan liabili- change in accounting principle as a loss of $26 million, net of
ties, marketing program liabilities, grower accruals (an esti- taxes of $16 million, effective Jan. 1, 2000.
mate of amount payable to farmers who grow seed for Starting in the third quarter of calendar year 2001,
Monsanto), restructuring reserves, self-insurance reserves, Monsanto changed its marketing approach on certain trait fees.
environmental reserves, deferred revenue, contingencies, It replaced the technology fee paid by growers who plant
incentives, and the allocation of corporate costs to segments. YieldGard insect-protected corn, Roundup Ready corn and
Significant estimates and assumptions are also used to Roundup Ready soybeans, with a royalty paid by the seed
establish the useful lives of depreciable tangible and certain companies that are licensed to market those products. This
intangible assets. Actual results may differ from those esti- change resulted in trait revenues being recognized earlier —
mates and assumptions, and such results may affect income, from the first half of 2002 to the second half of 2001, which
financial position, or cash flows. had a $0.34 positive effect on calendar year 2001 diluted

earnings per share, or $90 million on net income, and a
Revenue Recognition comparable negative effect on calendar year 2002 results.
The company derives most of its revenue from three main Royalties are now recorded when earned, usually when the
sources: sales of branded conventional seed and branded seed third-party seed companies sell their seeds containing Mon-
with biotechnology traits; royalties and license revenues from santo traits. License revenues earned on certain traits, prima-
licensed biotechnology traits and genetic material; and sales of rily cotton and canola biotechnology traits in certain geographic
agricultural chemical products. locations, are recognized when growers purchase the seed

Revenues from all branded seed sales are recognized when containing the Monsanto trait.
the title to the products is transferred, at which time the goods During calendar year 2001, to reduce credit exposure in
are deemed to have been delivered. When the right of return Latin America, Monsanto began to collect payments on certain
exists in the company’s seed business, sales revenues are customer accounts in grain. In accordance with Emerging
reduced at the time of sale to reflect expected returns. In Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 99-19, Reporting Revenue

order to estimate the expected returns, management analyzes Gross As a Principal and Net As an Agent, the company
historical returns, economic trends, market conditions, and recorded revenues of approximately $65 million in the Seeds
changes in customer demand. and Genomics segment during the calendar year ended

Revenues for agricultural chemical products are recognized Dec. 31, 2001, for the sale of grain received as payment on
when title to the products is transferred and the goods are account from customers. Revenue on the sale of grain was
deemed delivered to customers. The company recognizes virtually offset by cost of sales; there was only a minimal
revenue on products it sells to distributors when, according to contribution to gross profit. During calendar year 2002, the
the terms of the sales agreements, delivery has occurred, company changed this program so Monsanto no longer takes
performance is complete, no right of return exists, and pricing ownership of the grain, thereby eliminating the subsequent sale
is fixed or determinable at the time of sale. of grain and the associated inventory risk. Such payments in

There are several additional conditions for recognition of grain were negotiated at the time Monsanto’s products were
revenue: that the collection of sales proceeds be reasonably sold to the customers and were valued at the prevailing grain
assured based on historical experience and current market commodity prices on that day. By entering into forward sales
conditions, that pricing be fixed or determinable, and that contracts with grain merchants, Monsanto mitigates the com-
there be no further performance obligations under the sale or modity price exposure from the time a contract is signed with
the royalty or license agreement. a customer until the time the grain is collected from the

In January 2000, Monsanto adopted Staff Accounting customer by a grain merchant on Monsanto’s behalf.
Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, Revenue Recognition in Financial

Statements, the SEC interpretation of accounting guidelines on
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Income Taxes stated at market value. For purposes of the Statements of
Monsanto’s operating results were previously included in the Consolidated Financial Position and Consolidated Cash Flows,
consolidated federal and state income tax returns filed by these short-term investments are not considered cash
Pharmacia and its subsidiaries in various U.S. and equivalents, because their original maturities are more than
ex-U.S. jurisdictions. Following completion of the IPO of three months from the date of issuance.
Monsanto stock and through the spinoff on Aug. 13, 2002, as

Accounts Receivabledescribed in Note 1 — Background and Basis of Presenta-
The company provides an allowance for doubtful tradetion — Monsanto continued to be included in the Pharmacia
receivables equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts. Thatconsolidated group because Pharmacia beneficially owned at
estimate is based on historical collection experience, currentleast 80 percent of the total voting power and value of
economic and market conditions, and a review of the currentMonsanto’s common stock. After the spinoff was complete,
status of each customer’s trade accounts receivable.Monsanto was no longer included in the Pharmacia consoli-

dated group. Monsanto now files its own income tax returns
Long-Term Investmentsin all U.S. and ex-U.S. jurisdictions. The tax provisions
Monsanto has long-term investments in equity securities, allreflected in Monsanto’s Statement of Consolidated Operations
of which are considered to be available for sale. They arewere computed as if Monsanto had been a separate taxpayer
classified as other assets in the Statement of Consolidatedfor all periods presented.
Financial Position, and they are carried at fair value, withDeferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
unrealized gains and losses reported in the Statement ofexpected tax consequences of temporary differences between
Consolidated Shareowners’ Equity in accumulated other com-the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported
prehensive loss. Each security is reviewed regularly toamounts. Management regularly assesses the likelihood that
evaluate whether it has experienced an other-than-temporarydeferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable
decline in fair value. If Monsanto believes that an other-than-income, and to the extent management believes that it is
temporary decline exists, the investment in question ismore likely than not that a deferred tax asset will not be
written down to market value. The write-down is recorded inrealized, a valuation allowance is established. When a valua-
the Statement of Consolidated Operations as an impairment oftion allowance is established, increased or decreased, an
securities.income tax charge or benefit is included in the consolidated

financial statements and net deferred tax assets are adjusted
Fair Values of Financial Instruments

accordingly. The net deferred tax assets as of Aug. 31, 2003,
The recorded amounts of cash, trade receivables, investments

represent the estimated future tax benefits to be received
in securities, miscellaneous receivables, third-party guaran-

from taxing authorities or future reductions of taxes payable.
tees, commodity futures contracts, accounts payable, grower
accruals, accrued marketing programs, related-party receiv-Marketing and Advertising Costs
ables and payables, related-party loans, miscellaneous short-Marketing and advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
term accruals, and short-term debt approximate their fairAccrued marketing programs are based on specific perform-
values. Fair values are based on quoted market prices,ance criteria met by distributors, dealers and farmers, such as
estimates from brokers, and other appropriate valuationpurchase volumes, promptness of payment, and market share
techniques. The fair value estimates do not necessarily reflectincreases. The associated cost of marketing programs is
the values that could be realized in the current market on anyrecognized as a reduction of gross sales in the Statement of
one day. See Note 13 — Financial Instruments — for furtherConsolidated Operations. Advertising costs are included in
details.selling, general and administrative expenses in the Statement

of Consolidated Operations.
Inventory Valuation
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market.Cash and Cash Equivalents
Inventories are valued as follows:All highly liquid investments (defined as investments with a

maturity of three months or less when purchased) are ( Seeds and Genomics: Actual cost is used to value raw
considered cash equivalents. Beginning in calendar year 2001, materials such as treatment chemicals and packaging, as
these cash equivalents include customer payments in transit well as goods in process. Finished goods, which include
at the end of the reporting period. the cost of carry-over crops from the previous year, are

valued at weighted-average actual cost. Weighted-average
Short-Term Investments actual cost includes field growing and harvesting costs,
Short-term investments consist primarily of U.S. Treasury plant conditioning and packaging costs, and manufactur-
bills, other government securities, and commercial paper. ing overhead costs.
These investments are designated as available for sale and are
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

( Agricultural Productivity: Actual cost is used to value on a discounted basis, and a corresponding loss is charged to
raw materials and supplies. Standard cost, which approxi- the Statement of Consolidated Operations.
mates actual cost, is used to value finished goods and

Property, Plant and Equipmentgoods in process. Standard cost includes direct labor and
Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Additionsraw materials, and manufacturing overhead based on
and improvements are capitalized; these include all material,practical capacity. The cost of certain inventories
labor, and engineering costs to design, install or improve the(approximately one-third of total inventories as of
asset. Interest costs on construction projects are also capital-Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001) is
ized. These costs are carried as construction in progress untildetermined by using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method,
the asset is ready for its intended use, at which time thewhich generally reflects the effects of inflation or defla-
costs are transferred to land, buildings, or machinery andtion on cost of goods sold sooner than other inventory
equipment. Routine repairs and maintenance are expensed ascost methods. The cost of other inventories in this
incurred. The cost of plant and equipment is depreciatedsegment generally is determined by the first-in, first-out
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life(FIFO) method. Inventories at FIFO approximate current
of the asset — weighted-average periods of 18 years forcost.
buildings, and 10 years for machinery and equipment. In

Goodwill compliance with SFAS 144, long-lived assets are reviewed for
Under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, impairment whenever in management’s judgment conditions
all goodwill amortization ceased effective Jan. 1, 2002. Rather, indicate a possible loss. Such impairment tests compare
goodwill is now subject only to impairment reviews. A fair- estimated undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of
value-based test is applied at the reporting unit level, which is the asset. If an impairment is indicated, the asset is written
generally one level below the segment level. This test requires down to its fair market value or, if fair market value is not
various judgments and estimates. A goodwill impairment loss readily determinable, to an estimated fair value based on
will be recorded for any goodwill that is determined to be discounted cash flows.
impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually.

Environmental Remediation LiabilitiesGoodwill was last tested for impairment as of July 1, 2003.
Monsanto follows Statement of Position 96-1, EnvironmentalRefer to Note 29 — Subsequent Event — for details of the
Remediation Liabilities, which provides guidance for recog-fiscal year 2004 restructuring plan. Decisions surrounding the
nizing, measuring and disclosing environmental remediationEuropean wheat and barley business will also require a re-
liabilities. Monsanto accrues these costs in the period whenevaluation for potential impairment of goodwill and other
responsibility is established and when such costs are probableintangible assets related to the company’s global wheat
and reasonably estimable based on current law and existingbusiness.
technology. Postclosure and remediation costs for hazardous

Other Intangible Assets waste sites and other waste facilities at operating locations
Other intangible assets consist primarily of seed germplasm, are accrued over the estimated life of the facility, as part of
acquired biotechnology intellectual property, and trademarks. its anticipated closure cost.
Acquired biotechnology intellectual property includes intangi-

Foreign Currency Translationble assets related to acquisitions and licenses through which
The financial statements for most of Monsanto’s ex-U.S.Monsanto has acquired the rights to various research and
operations are translated to U.S. dollars at current exchangediscovery technologies. These encompass enabling processes,
rates. For assets and liabilities the year-end rate is used. Fordata libraries, and patents necessary to support the integrated
revenues, expenses, gains and losses, the average rate for thegenomics and biotechnology platforms. These intangible assets
period is used. Unrealized currency adjustments in thehave alternative future uses. Also included in other intangible
Statement of Consolidated Financial Position are accumulatedassets is a nonamortizing intangible asset associated with the
in equity as a component of accumulated other comprehen-recognition of minimum pension liabilities. In accordance with
sive loss. The financial statements of ex-U.S. operations inSFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal

highly inflationary economies are translated at either currentof Long-Lived Assets, all intangible assets are assessed for
or historical exchange rates, in accordance with SFAS No. 52,impairment whenever events indicate a possible loss. Such an
Foreign Currency Translation. These currency adjustmentsassessment involves estimating undiscounted cash flows over
are included in net income. As of Jan. 1, 2003, Monsantothe remaining useful life of the intangible. If the review
identified Turkey, Russia and Romania as hyperinflationaryindicates that undiscounted cash flows are less than the
countries in which it has operations.recorded value of the intangible asset, the carrying amount of

the intangible is reduced by the estimated cash-flow shortfall
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Significant translation exposures include the euro, the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged
Brazilian real, and the Canadian dollar. For all periods risk, are recorded currently in earnings. Changes in the fair
presented, Monsanto designated the U.S. dollar as the value of a derivative that is highly effective as, and that is
functional currency in Argentina. In January 2002, Argentina designated as and qualifies as a cash-flow hedge, to the extent
formally abandoned the fixed exchange rate regime between that the hedge is effective, are recorded in accumulated other
the Argentine peso and the U.S. dollar, and the peso comprehensive loss, until earnings are affected by the
subsequently was devalued by approximately 70 percent. variability from cash flows of the hedged item. Any hedge
Argentina simultaneously imposed various banking and ineffectiveness is included in current-period earnings.
exchange controls, and the government has instituted addi- Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly
tional controls since that time. Included in the net transaction effective as, and that is designated as and qualifies as a
loss were losses of $11 million for the transition period, foreign-currency hedge, are recorded either in current-period
$34 million for calendar year 2002, and $15 million for earnings or in accumulated other comprehensive loss, depend-
calendar year 2001. These amounts reflect the effect of this ing on whether the hedging relationship satisfies the criteria
devaluation on Argentine peso-denominated transaction for a fair-value or cash-flow hedge. Changes in the fair value
exposures (primarily value-added taxes and other taxes due of a derivative that is highly effective as, and that is
to or recoverable by Monsanto). See Note 22 — Commitments designated as a foreign-currency hedge of the net investment
and Contingencies — for further details on the Argentine in a foreign subsidiary, are recorded in the accumulated
devaluation. Currency restrictions, with a possible exception foreign currency translation. Changes in the fair value of
in Argentina, are not expected to have a significant effect on derivative instruments not designated as hedges are reported
Monsanto’s cash flow, liquidity, or capital resources. currently in earnings.

Monsanto formally documents all relationships between
Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-
Monsanto uses financial derivative instruments to limit its management objective and its strategy for undertaking various
exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, hedge transactions. This includes linking all derivatives that
commodity prices, and interest rates. Monsanto participated are designated as fair-value, cash-flow, or foreign-currency
in a foreign currency risk management program sponsored by hedges either to specific assets and liabilities on the balance
Pharmacia through the Aug. 13, 2002 spinoff. Since then, sheet, or to firm commitments or forecasted transactions.
Monsanto has maintained a consistent strategy by working Monsanto formally assesses a hedge at its inception and on an
with third-party banks. Monsanto does not use financial ongoing basis thereafter to determine whether the hedging
derivative instruments for trading purposes, nor does it relationship between the derivative and the hedged item is
engage in foreign currency, commodity or interest rate still highly effective, and whether it is expected to remain
speculation. Monsanto monitors its underlying market risk highly effective in future periods, in offsetting changes in fair
exposures on an ongoing basis, and it believes that it can value or cash flows. When derivatives cease to be highly
modify or adapt its hedging strategies as needed. effective hedges, Monsanto discontinues hedge accounting

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for prospectively.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and SFAS Monsanto uses interest rate swap agreements to reduce
No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 Derivative Instru- interest rate risk and to manage the interest rate sensitivity of
ments and Hedging Activities, all derivatives, whether its debt. By entering into these agreements, Monsanto
designated for hedging relationships or not, are recognized in changes the interest rate mix (fixed/variable) of its debt
the Statement of Consolidated Financial Position at their fair portfolio. During the transition period and during calendar
value. At the time a derivative contract is entered into, years 2002 and 2001, the company also used natural gas
Monsanto designates each derivative as (1) a hedge of the fair swaps to manage risk associated with energy input costs.
value of a recognized asset or liability (a fair-value hedge),
(2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of Stock-Based Compensation
cash flows that are to be received or paid in connection with The company has employee stock option plans, which are
a recognized asset or liability (a cash-flow hedge), (3) a described more fully in Note 17 — Stock-Based Compensation
foreign-currency fair-value or cash-flow hedge (a foreign- Plans. In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
currency hedge), (4) a foreign-currency hedge of the net Board (FASB) issued Statement No. 148, Accounting for

investment in a foreign subsidiary, or (5) a derivative that Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,

does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. which amends SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based

Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition
effective as, and that is designated as and qualifies as a fair- for a voluntary change to the fair-value-based method of
value hedge, along with changes in the fair value of the accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In
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addition, SFAS 148 amends the disclosure requirements of participate, as all stock options granted under those plans had
SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both annual and an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the
interim financial statements about the method of accounting underlying common stock on the date of grant.
for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the The following table shows what the effect on net income
method used on reported results. As permitted by both (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been if the
SFAS 148 and SFAS 123, Monsanto has elected to follow the fair-value-based method of accounting had been applied to
guidance of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock all outstanding and unvested awards in each period. For
Issued to Employees, in measuring and recognizing its stock- purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the estimated fair value
based transactions with employees. Accordingly, no compen- of the options is assumed to be amortized to expense over
sation expense was recognized in the transition period or in the option’s vesting periods. See Note 17 for a discussion of
calendar years 2002, 2001, and 2000 for any of the Monsanto the assumptions used in the option-pricing model and
or Pharmacia option plans in which Monsanto employees estimated fair value of employee stock options.

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Net Income (Loss):
As reported $ (23) $(1,693) $ 295 $ 149
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported 

Net Income (Loss), net of tax 1 1 — —
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under 

fair-value-based method for all awards, net of tax (5) (29) (43) (113)

Pro forma $ (27) $(1,721) $ 252 $ 36

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):
As reported $(0.09) $ (6.50) $1.14 $ 0.58
Pro forma (0.10) (6.61) 0.97 0.14

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):
As reported $(0.09) $ (6.45) $1.12 $ 0.58
Pro forma (0.10) (6.56) 0.95 0.14

Compensation expense for restricted stock is based on NOTE 3. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
the market price of Monsanto’s common stock at the grant

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, Accounting for
date; this expense is recognized over the vesting period.

Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS 143, which was effective
for Monsanto on Jan. 1, 2003, addresses financial accountingCommitments and Contingencies
for and reporting of costs and obligations associated with theMonsanto is subject to various claims and contingencies as
retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Upon adopting thiswell as commitments under contractual and other commercial
standard, in accordance with APB Opinion 20, Monsantoobligations. The company recognizes liabilities for contingen-
recorded an aftertax cumulative effect of accounting changecies and commitments under FASB Interpretation (FIN)
of $12 million, or $0.05 per share. This noncash charge wasNo. 45, Guarantors Accounting and Disclosure Require-
recorded as of Jan. 1, 2003. In addition, as required by

ments for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees and
SFAS 143, as of Jan. 1, 2003, net property, plant and

Indebtedness of Others, an interpretation of SFAS No. 5, 57
equipment increased by $10 million, and asset retirement

and 107, and rescission of FIN No. 34. For additional
obligations (a component of noncurrent liabilities) of $30 mil-information on the company’s commitments and other con-
lion were recorded. Adoption of this standard did not affecttractual and commercial obligators, see Note 22 — Commit-
the company’s liquidity. If the company had accounted for itsments and Contingencies.
asset retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS 143 for
all periods presented, the asset retirement obligation liabilityReclassifications
would have been $29 million and $27 million as of Dec. 31,Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform
2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, respectively. Pro forma effects forwith the current-year presentation.
the 12 months ended Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001, would
have reduced net earnings by $3 million and $2 million,
respectively, or $0.01 per diluted share for both calendar
years.
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In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting In April 2003, SFAS No. 149 was issued. SFAS 149
for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. amends and clarifies accounting for derivative instruments,
SFAS 146 replaced EITF Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recogni- including certain derivative instruments embedded in other
tion for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS 133.
Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs SFAS 149 is generally effective for contracts entered into or
Incurred in a Restructuring). SFAS 146 requires companies modified and for hedging relationships designated after
to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities June 30, 2003. The adoption of SFAS 149 did not have a
when they are actually incurred, rather than on the date the material effect on Monsanto’s financial position, profitability,
company commits itself to the exit or disposal plan. This or liquidity.
statement is effective for any exit or disposal activities NOTE 4. CHANGE IN FISCAL YEAR END
initiated after Dec. 31, 2002. Monsanto will follow the

As discussed in Note 1 — Background and Basis of Presenta-guidance of SFAS 146 for the actions to be taken in
tion — the company’s fiscal year end has changed fromconnection with the fiscal year 2004 restructuring plan. Refer
December 31 to August 31. Accordingly, the company isto Note 29 — Subsequent Event — for details of the fiscal
presenting audited financial statements for the eight monthsyear 2004 restructuring plan. The adoption of SFAS 146 had
ended Aug. 31, 2003, the transition period, in this Form 10-K.no effect on Monsanto’s 2002 and 2000 restructuring plans,
The following table provides certain unaudited financialwhich were both initiated prior to Dec. 31, 2002.
information for the same period of the prior year.

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002(1)

Net Sales $ 3,373 $ 3,110
Gross Profit 1,577 1,442

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change (38) 50
Income tax provision (benefit) (27) 13

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change (11) 37
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax benefit of $7 in 2003 and $162 in 2002 (12) (1,822)

Net Loss $ (23) $(1,785)

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $ (0.04) $ 0.14
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.05) (7.00)

Net Loss $ (0.09) $ (6.86)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change $ (0.04) $ 0.14
Cumulative effect of accounting change (0.05) (6.92)

Net Loss $ (0.09) $ (6.78)
(1) Unaudited
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NOTE 5. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER SPECIAL ITEMS These restructuring costs relate primarily to the closure
of certain research and manufacturing sites, as well as work

Restructuring and other special items were recorded in the
force reductions. The work force cost reductions include

Statement of Consolidated Operations as follows:
involuntary separation costs for approximately 1,140 employ-

Eight Months ees worldwide, in marketing, manufacturing, R&D, and admin-
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

istration. The affected employees are entitled to receive
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

severance benefits pursuant to established severance policies
Cost of goods sold $3 $ (21) $ (82) $ (60) or to government labor regulations. As of Aug. 31, 2003,
Amortization and adjustments of

approximately 1,080 of the planned employee separationsgoodwill — — (2) (88)
were completed. For the transition period, approximately 110Selling, general and administrative

expenses — — (1) — former employees received cash severance payments totaling
Restructuring (charges) $10 million. Additionally, $14 million was paid to approxi-

reversals — net(1) 5 (103) (122) (103) mately 160 former employees whose involuntary termination
Other expense — net — — (6) (10)

benefits were recorded in calendar year 2002, but who
Income (Loss) Before Income

elected to defer payment until the first quarter of calendarTaxes 8 (124) (213) (261)
year 2003. As of Dec. 31, 2002, approximately 940 of theIncome tax provision (benefit) 3 (43) (76) (64)
planned employee separations were completed. The workNet Income (Loss) $5 $ (81) $(137) $(197)
force separation payments for the remaining 60 separated(1) Net of reversals of $13 million, $8 million, and $4 million, in calendar years

2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Of the calendar year 2002 reversals, employees are expected to be completed in fiscal year 2004.
$8 million were related to the 2000 restructuring plan, and $5 million were Restructuring reversals of $3 million were recorded in the
related to the 2002 restructuring plan.

transition period. Approximately half of this amount was
required because approximately 30 positions originally in the2002 Restructuring Plan (charges recorded in calendar year 2002)
plan were eliminated through attrition, while the remainderIn 2002, Monsanto’s management approved a restructuring
was reversed because severance expenses were lower thanplan to further consolidate or shut down facilities and to
originally estimated. Restructuring reversals of $1 million werereduce the work force. Under this plan, various R&D
recorded in calendar year 2002 for work force reductions,programs and sites were shut down in the United States and
primarily because severance expenses were lower than origi-Europe. This restructuring plan also involved the closure and
nally estimated.downsizing of certain agricultural chemical manufacturing

Facility closures and other exit costs included contractfacilities in the Asia-Pacific region and in the United States as
termination expenses ($8 million), equipment dismantling anda result of more efficient production capacity installed at
disposal expenses ($8 million), and other shutdown expensesother Monsanto manufacturing sites. Certain seed sites were
($8 million) resulting from the exit of certain research andconsolidated within the United States and within Brazil, and
manufacturing sites. The inventory write-off was associatedcertain U.S. swine facilities were exited. Finally, the plan
with facility closures; it was recorded within cost of goodsincluded work force reductions in addition to those related to
sold. The recoverable amount from a third party represents athe facility closures. These additional reductions were prima-
portion of work force reduction and exit costs that will berily marketing and administrative positions in Asia-Pacific,
reimbursed to Monsanto. The asset impairments were relatedEurope-Africa, and the United States.
to property, plant and equipment. Cash payments to completeIn connection with this plan, Monsanto recorded
these restructuring actions will be funded from operations;$132 million pretax ($86 million aftertax) of net charges in
such payments are not expected to significantly affect the2002. The pretax components of the restructuring charge
company’s liquidity. Restructuring reversals of $2 million werewere as follows:
recorded in the transition period because proceeds from

(Dollars in millions) disposed assets were higher than originally estimated.
Restructuring reversals of $4 million were recorded inWork Force Reductions $ 64

Facility Closures/Exit Costs 24 calendar year 2002 for facility closures because costs were
Asset Impairments: lower than originally estimated and because assets brought

Property, plant and equipment 45 higher proceeds than originally estimated.
Inventories 6

Reversal of Restructuring Reserves (5)
Recoverable Amount from a Third Party (2)

Total Pretax Charge $132
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Activities related to the 2002 restructuring plan were as calendar years 2000 and 2001, primarily because severance
follows: expenses were lower than originally estimated. The $213 mil-

lion charge was also partially offset by the reversal of
Work Force Facility Asset

$4 million of the calendar year 1998 restructuring liability,(Dollars in millions) Reductions Closures Impairments Other Total
primarily because severance expenses were lower than origi-Additions $ 64 $24 $ 51 $(2) $137
nally estimated.Reversals (1) (4) — — (5)

Costs Charged Against The pretax components of these net charges were as
Reserves (34) (3) — — (37) follows:

Reclassification of
Reserves to Other (Dollars in millions) 2001 2000

Balance Sheet Accounts: Work Force Reductions $ 50 $ 61
Inventories — — (6) — (6) Facility Closures/Exit Costs 49 9
Property, plant and Asset Impairments:

equipment — — (45) — (45) Trade receivables — 12
Miscellaneous receivable — — — 2 2 Inventories 45 60

Dec. 31, 2002, Reserve Other current assets 6 —
Balance $ 29 $17 $ — $— $ 46 Property, plant and equipment 57 22

Costs Charged Against Goodwill 2 88
Reserves (24) (7) — — (31) Other intangible assets 3 3

Reclassification of Other assets 3 —
Reserves to Other Reversal of Restructuring Reserves (8) (4)
Balance Sheet Accounts: Other 6 10
Long-term liability — (7) — — (7) Total Pretax Charge $213 $261

Reversals (3) — (2) — (5)
Reclassification of Reversal

The work force reduction charges in calendar years 2001to Property, Plant and
Equipment — — 2 — 2 and 2000 included involuntary separation costs for approxi-

mately 1,500 employees worldwide (805 in calendar year 2001Aug. 31, 2003, Reserve
Balance $ 2 $ 3 $ — $— $ 5 and 695 in calendar year 2000), including positions in

administration, R&D, and manufacturing. The affected
2000 Restructuring Plan (charges recorded in calendar years 2000 employees were entitled to receive severance benefits pursu-
and 2001) ant to established company severance policies or government
In calendar year 2000, Monsanto’s management formulated a labor regulations. As of Dec. 31, 2000, 460 of the planned
restructuring plan as part of the company’s overall strategy to employee separations had been completed; 358 of these
focus on certain key crops and to streamline operations. employees received cash severance payments totaling $28 mil-
Restructuring and other special items, primarily associated lion during calendar year 2000, and 102 employees elected
with the implementation of this plan, were recorded in deferred payments of $9 million, which were paid during the
calendar years 2000 and 2001. These charges totaled first quarter of calendar year 2001. Planned separations were
$474 million pretax ($334 million aftertax): $261 million completed for 526 employees during calendar year 2001,
($197 million aftertax) was recorded in calendar year 2000, including 27 employees who elected deferred payments of
and $213 million ($137 million aftertax) was recorded in $3 million, which were paid during the first quarter of
calendar year 2001. calendar year 2002. Planned employee separations were

The calendar year 2001 net charges were primarily for completed for 400 employees during calendar year 2002; 399
the streamlining of manufacturing operations, the discontinua- of them received cash severance payments totaling $25 mil-
tion of certain seed hybrids, the elimination of noncore lion during calendar year 2002, and one employee elected
activities, and the exit of certain research programs. This plan deferred payments of less than $1 million, which was paid
also involved the closure and downsizing of certain agricul- during the first quarter of calendar year 2003. The cost to
tural chemical manufacturing facilities to eliminate duplicate carry out certain of these work force reductions has been
manufacturing capacity for formulating and packaging lower than originally anticipated. Accordingly, the work force
herbicides. Due to geographical location and cost considera- reduction reserves were reduced by reversals of $1 million,
tions, improved technologies were installed at other Monsanto $2 million, and $8 million in the transition period, calendar
manufacturing sites. These sites, improved by technological year 2002, and calendar year 2001, respectively. These
advancements, have increased their production capacity to reversals were required primarily because of attrition and
meet current and expected demand for Monsanto’s herbicides. severance payouts that were lower than originally estimated.

The pretax charge of $213 million included the reversal Facility closures and other exit costs in calendar year
of $8 million of restructuring liabilities recorded during 2000 included contract termination costs ($5 million),
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equipment dismantling and disposal costs ($2 million), and Work Force Facility Asset
(Dollars in millions) Reductions Closures Impairments Other Totalother shutdown costs ($2 million). Facility closures and other
Jan. 1, 2000,exit costs in calendar year 2001 included contract termination

Reserve Balance $ — $ — $ — $— $ —costs ($28 million), property, plant and equipment disman-
Additions 61 9 185 10 265

tling and disposal costs ($18 million), and other shutdown Costs Charged Against
costs ($3 million). The inventory write-offs in calendar year Reserves (28) (3) — — (31)
2000 related to laureate oil, seed, and other inventories. The Reclassification of

Reserves to Otherinventory write-offs in calendar year 2001 were for discontin-
Balance Sheetued seed hybrids ($31 million), unused raw materials at
Accounts:

closed agricultural chemical manufacturing facilities ($6 mil- Trade receivables — — (12) — (12)
lion), and other inventories, including certain discontinued Inventories — — (60) — (60)
agricultural chemical products ($8 million). Inventory write- Property, plant and

equipment — — (22) — (22)offs for both years, as well as $37 million in property, plant
Goodwill — — (88) — (88)and equipment impairments in calendar year 2001, were
Other intangible

recorded in cost of goods sold. The remaining $20 million in assets — — (3) — (3)
property, plant and equipment impairments in calendar year Other assets — — — (1) (1)
2001, recorded in restructuring charges, was related to the Miscellaneous

accruals (3) — — — (3)consolidation of agricultural chemical distribution sites and
Accumulated othervarious corporate assets. The intangible asset impairment in

comprehensive loss — — — (7) (7)
calendar year 2000 included a $79 million goodwill impair-

Dec. 31, 2000,ment associated with the decision to terminate certain
Reserve Balance $ 30 $ 6 $ — $ 2 $ 38nutrition programs. These asset dispositions and other exit

Additions 50 49 116 6 221
activities are expected to be completed in fiscal year 2004. Costs Charged Against
The remaining restructuring actions will be funded from Reserves (37) (21) — (2) (60)
operations; these actions are not expected to affect the Reversals (8) — — — (8)

Reclassification ofcompany’s liquidity significantly. In calendar year 2002,
Reserves to Other$6 million of restructuring reversals were recorded, primarily
Balance Sheet

because facility closing costs were lower than originally Accounts:
estimated and proceeds from disposed assets were higher Inventories — — (45) — (45)
than originally estimated. In the transition period, restructur- Other current assets — — (6) — (6)

Property, plant anding reversals of $1 million were recorded upon release of the
equipment — — (57) — (57)company’s obligation to perform under a contract and

Goodwill — — (2) — (2)
$1 million because the proceeds from disposed assets were Other intangible
higher than originally estimated. assets — — (3) — (3)

Also included in the calendar year 2000 plan were Other assets — — (3) (6) (9)

charges for special items. In calendar year 2001, a total Dec. 31, 2001,
charge of $6 million was recorded in other expense to reflect Reserve Balance $ 35 $ 34 $ — $— $ 69
the impairment of equity investments caused by adverse Costs Charged Against

Reserves (25) (20) — — (45)business developments of the investees. In calendar year
Reversals (2) (5) (1) — (8)2000, other special items of $10 million consisted of $3 million
Reclassification of

for costs associated with a failed joint venture, and $7 million Reversal to Property,
for the recognition of an impairment of a marketable equity Plant and Equipment — — 1 — 1
security that was classified as available for sale.

Dec. 31, 2002,
Activities related to the calendar year 2000 restructuring Reserve Balance $ 8 $ 9 $ — $— $ 17

plan and other special items recorded in calendar years 2000, Costs Charged Against
2001 and 2002 and in the transition period, were as follows: Reserves (2) (5) — — (7)

Reversals (1) (1) (1) — (3)
Reclassification of

Reversal to Property,
Plant and Equipment — — 1 — 1

Aug. 31, 2003,
Reserve Balance $ 5 $ 3 $ — $— $ 8
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During calendar year 2000, costs charged against prior Monsanto accounts for this transaction as a sale, in
established reserves were $21 million, primarily for work force accordance with SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers

reductions. These charges were partially offset by the reversal and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of

of $4 million of the calendar year 1998 restructuring liability, Liabilities.
primarily because severance costs were lower than originally Monsanto has no ownership interest in the lender, in the
estimated. QSPE, or in the loans. However, because Monsanto substan-

tively originates the loans through the SPE (which it
NOTE 6. TRADE RECEIVABLES consolidates) and partially guarantees and services the loans,

Monsanto accounts for the program as if it were theThe following table displays a roll-forward of the allowance
originator of the loans and the transferor selling the loans tofor doubtful trade receivables for the three years ended
the QSPE.Dec. 31, 2002, and the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2003:

Monsanto records its guarantee liability at a value that
(Dollars in millions) approximates fair value (except that it does not discount
Balance Jan. 1, 2000 $ 151 credit losses, because of the short term of the loans),

Additions — charged to expense 58 primarily related to expected future credit losses. Monsanto
Deductions (38) does not recognize any servicing asset or liability, because the

Balance Dec. 31, 2000 $ 171 servicing fee is adequate compensation for the servicing
Additions — charged to expense 42

activities. Discounts on the sale of the customer loans, andDeductions (36)
servicing revenues collected and earned were not significant

Balance Dec. 31, 2001 $ 177
during the transition period and calendar year 2002.Additions — charged to expense 208

Customer loans sold through the financing programDeductions (138)
totaled $121 million for the transition period and $224 millionBalance Dec. 31, 2002 $ 247

Additions — charged to expense 40 for calendar year 2002. The loan balance outstanding at
Deductions (33) Aug. 31, 2003, and Dec. 31, 2002, was $198 million and

Balance Aug. 31, 2003 $ 254 $111 million, respectively. The first loss guarantee will be in
place throughout the financing program. Loans are considered

In the second quarter of calendar year 2002, Monsanto delinquent when payments are 31 days past due. If a
increased its allowance for doubtful trade receivables by customer fails to pay an obligation when due, Monsanto would
$154 million pretax for estimated uncollectible trade receiv- incur a liability to perform under the first loss guarantee. As
ables in Argentina, of which approximately $120 million has of Aug. 31, 2003, and Dec. 31, 2002, less than $1 million of
been written off against receivables as of Aug. 31, 2003. See loans sold through this financing program were delinquent. As
Note 22 — Commitments and Contingencies — for further of Aug. 31, 2003, and Dec. 31, 2002, Monsanto recorded its
discussion of Argentina. guarantee liability at less than $1 million, based on the

company’s historical collection experience with these custom-
NOTE 7. CUSTOMER FINANCING PROGRAM ers and the company’s current assessment of credit exposure.

Adverse changes in the actual loss rate would increase theIn April 2002, Monsanto established a new $500 million
liability. If Monsanto is called upon to make payments underrevolving financing program for selected customers through a
the first loss guarantee, it would have the benefit under thethird-party specialty lender. Under the financing program,
financing program of any amounts subsequently collectedMonsanto originates customer loans on behalf of the lender,
from the customer.which is a special purpose entity (SPE) that Monsanto

In January 2003, FIN No. 46, Consolidation of Variableconsolidates, pursuant to Monsanto’s credit and other under-
Interest Entities, was issued. Because QSPEs are excludedwriting guidelines approved by the lender. Monsanto services
from the scope of FIN 46, this interpretation is not expectedthe loans and provides a first loss guarantee of up to
to have an effect on Monsanto’s accounting for the customer$100 million. Following origination, the lender transfers the
financing program.loans to multi-seller commercial paper conduits through a

non-consolidated qualifying special purpose entity (QSPE).
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NOTE 8. INVENTORIES reporting units, related to goodwill that resulted primarily
from Monsanto’s 1998 and (to a lesser extent) 1997 seed

Components of inventories were:
company acquisitions. The primary causes of the impairment

As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31, were a change in valuation method (from an undiscounted
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 cash flow methodology used under APB Opinion No. 17,

Intangible Assets, to a discounted cash flow methodology
Finished Goods $ 491 $ 637 $ 700

required by SFAS 142) and the unanticipated delays inGoods In Process 489 398 357
biotechnology acceptance and regulatory approvals. AsRaw Materials and Supplies 269 250 329
required by SFAS 142, the transitional impairment charge wasInventories at FIFO Cost 1,249 1,285 1,386
recorded as an accounting change in accordance with APBExcess of FIFO over LIFO Cost (19) (13) (29)
Opinion 20, effective Jan. 1, 2002. The impairment charge hadTotal $1,230 $1,272 $1,357
no effect on Monsanto’s liquidity or cash flow.

The company completed the required annual goodwillMonsanto uses commodity futures and options contracts
impairment test as of July 1, 2003; there were no indicationsto hedge the price volatility of certain commodities, primarily
of goodwill impairment for any of the reporting units. Insoybeans and corn. This hedging activity is intended to
October 2003, Monsanto announced a restructuring plan.manage the price paid to production growers for corn and
Decisions surrounding the European wheat and barley busi-soybean seeds. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the excess of FIFO over
ness required a reevaluation for potential impairment ofLIFO cost increased by $6 million over Dec. 31, 2002,
goodwill and other intangible assets related to the company’sunfavorably affecting the transition period income, primarily
global wheat business. As of Aug. 31, 2003, goodwill for thisbecause of $5 million in higher costs and $1 million as a
business is recorded at approximately $80 million pretax.result of the liquidation of certain LIFO inventory layers
Refer to Note 29 — Subsequent Event — for details of thecarried at higher costs which prevailed in prior years.
fiscal year 2004 restructuring plan and wheat impairment.

Changes in the net carrying amount of goodwill for theNOTE 9. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
transition period ended Aug. 31, 2003, by segment, are as

Monsanto adopted SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and follows:
SFAS 142, effective Jan. 1, 2002. Taking the first step of the

Seeds and Agriculturaltransitional impairment test, Monsanto compared the fair value
(Dollars in millions) Genomics Productivity Totalof its reporting units with their net book values (including

goodwill), and identified potential impairments in two reporting Balance as of Dec. 31, 2002 $683 $74 $757
units. In the second step of the transitional impairment test, Effect of Foreign Currency

Translation Adjustments 11 (1) 10completed in the second quarter of 2002, Monsanto determined
Additions — 1 1a $2 billion pretax ($1.8 billion aftertax) impairment. The
Balance as of Aug. 31, 2003 $694 $74 $768resulting impairment charge, specific to the corn and wheat

Information regarding the company’s other intangible assets is as follows:

As of Aug. 31, 2003 As of Dec. 31, 2002 As of Jan. 1, 2002

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
(Dollars in millions) Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net

Germplasm $ 617 $(376) $241 $ 607 $(322) $285 $ 602 $(251) $351
Acquired Biotechnology Intellectual Property 392 (172) 220 382 (142) 240 320 (101) 219
Trademarks 108 (26) 82 108 (22) 86 115 (19) 96
Other 44 (16) 28 50 (18) 32 53 (34) 19

Total $ 1,161 $(590) $571 $1,147 $(504) $643 $1,090 $(405) $685

The increase in acquired biotechnology intellectual prop- ogies in exchange for vendor financing totaling $40 million, to
erty during the transition period and calendar year 2002 was be paid over five years. This existing technology has a
primarily due to the collaboration with Ceres, Inc. (Ceres). weighted-average useful life of 10 years. Ceres will receive
This product discovery and development collaboration focuses additional payments if it meets specified objectives for
on applying genomics technologies to provide improvements developing additional related technology, as part of its
in, as well as to accelerate the time to commercialization of, continuing commitment to genomics-based product discovery.
certain agricultural crops. Under the 2002 collaboration, In 2002, Monsanto made a minority equity investment in
Monsanto acquired rights to certain of Ceres’ existing technol- Ceres. Monsanto also will fund a jointly implemented research
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program. Including the $40 million for vendor financing, total $131 million in calendar year 2002, and $122 million in
payments to Ceres under the 2002 collaboration (subject to calendar year 2001. Intangible asset amortization expense in
performance by Ceres) are expected to approximate $137 mil- calendar year 2001 included $3 million related to intangible
lion over five years, plus potential royalties. Monsanto paid asset impairments, as discussed in Note 5 — Restructuring
Ceres $15 million in the transition period and $40 million in and Other Special Items.
calendar year 2002. Upon adoption of SFAS 142, the useful lives and residual

Other intangible assets include the company’s only values of all identifiable and recognized other intangible assets
nonamortizing intangible asset of $21 million associated with were reassessed, and any necessary prospective amortization
minimum pension liabilities, most of which was recognized in period adjustments were made Jan. 1, 2002. SFAS 142
calendar year 2002. Further information on the minimum requires that identifiable intangible assets with definite useful
pension liability adjustment is discussed in Note 14 — lives be amortized over their estimated lives and reviewed for
Postretirement Benefits — Pensions. There were no fully impairment in accordance with SFAS 144.
amortized or other intangible asset write-offs during the The estimated intangible asset amortization expense for
transition period. During calendar year 2002, Monsanto wrote each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:
off other intangible assets with a carrying amount of $20 mil-

Year ending Aug. 31, Amount
lion and accumulated amortization of $(20) million.

2004 $115Upon adoption of SFAS 141 and SFAS 142, the classifica-
2005 100

tion of all identifiable and recognized intangible assets was 2006 65
reassessed, and any necessary reclassifications were made 2007 50

2008 25effective Jan. 1, 2002. Total amortization expense of other
intangible assets was $85 million in the transition period,

SFAS 142 did not require Monsanto to restate prior periods. The following table sets forth what the earnings and earnings
per share would have been on an aftertax pro forma basis if the provisions of SFAS 142 had been applied in calendar years 2001
and 2000.

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Reported Net Income (Loss) $ (23) $(1,693) $ 295 $ 149
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 105 108
Effects of useful life adjustments, net of tax — — 1 1

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (23) (1,693) 401 258
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax 12 1,822 — 26

Adjusted Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change $ (11) $ 129 $ 401 $ 284

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):

Reported Net Income (Loss) $(0.09) $ (6.50) $1.14 $0.58
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.41 0.42
Effects of useful life adjustments, net of tax — — — —

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (0.09) (6.50) 1.55 1.00
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax 0.05 6.99 — 0.10

Adjusted Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change $(0.04) $ 0.49 $1.55 $1.10

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share (per Pro Forma Share in 2000):

Reported Net Income (Loss) $(0.09) $ (6.45) $1.12 $0.58
Goodwill amortization, net of tax — — 0.40 0.42
Effects of useful life adjustments, net of tax — — — —

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) (0.09) (6.45) 1.52 1.00
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax 0.05 6.94 — 0.10

Adjusted Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change $(0.04) $ 0.49 $1.52 $1.10
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If the new accounting standard had been adopted The components of income tax provision (benefit) were:
effective Jan. 1, 2000, Monsanto would not have recorded

Eight Months
pretax goodwill amortization of $119 million in calendar year Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,
2001 and $124 million in calendar year 2000. Pretax R&D (Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000
expenses would have been $8 million higher in calendar years Current:
2001 and 2000 because of the reassessment of useful lives U.S. federal $ 63 $ 84 $187 $ (9)
and classifications. As a result of these changes, the income U.S. state 21 2 17 2

Outside United States 37 49 (8) 26tax provision would have been $5 million higher in calendar
year 2001 and $7 million higher in calendar year 2000. Total Current 121 135 196 19

Deferred:NOTE 10. INVESTMENTS
U.S. federal (115) 54 24 158
U.S. state (21) 13 (2) 10Short-term investments on Aug. 31, 2003, and Dec. 31, 2002,
Outside United States (12) (129) (54) (28)included $230 million and $250 million, respectively, of debt

securities with original maturities of three to six months, Total Deferred (148) (62) (32) 140

designated as available for sale and stated at market value. Total $ (27) $ 73 $164 $159
The realized gains on these investments were approximately
$1 million for the transition period and less than $1 million

Factors causing Monsanto’s income taxes to differ from thefor calendar year 2002.
U.S. federal statutory rate were:

Long-Term Investments
Eight Months

Equity Securities Available for Sale Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000
Gross Gross(Dollars in millions)

Unrealized Unrealized Fair U.S. Federal Statutory Rate $(13) $ 71 $161 $117
Cost Gains (Losses) Value U.S. Export Earnings (7) (11) (30) (11)

U.S. R&D Tax Credit (1) (4) (4) (15)Aug. 31, 2003 $ 34 $ 17 $ 0 $ 51
Higher (Lower) Ex-U.S. Rates (10) 10 16 4Dec. 31, 2002 34 10 (4) 40
State Income Taxes — 10 10 8Dec. 31, 2001 37 27 (3) 61
Valuation Allowances 3 2 (14) (7)
Donation of Appreciated Assets — (4) — —Net unrealized gains on long-term investments (net of
Nondeductible Goodwill — — 26 57deferred taxes) included in shareowners’ equity amounted to
Other 1 (1) (1) 6

$10 million as of Aug. 31, 2003, $4 million as of Dec. 31, 2002,
Income Taxes $(27) $ 73 $164 $159

and $15 million as of Dec. 31, 2001. Proceeds from sales of
equity securities were $10 million in calendar year 2002 and

Deferred income tax balances are related to:in calendar year 2001. Realized gains of $7 million, net of
$5 million tax expense in calendar year 2002, and $5 million, As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

net of $3 million tax expense in calendar year 2001, were (Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

determined using the specific identification method, and were Employee Fringe Benefits $ 320 $286 $162
included in net income. Realized losses of $1 million, net of Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit

Carryforwards 311 309 133$1 million of tax benefit in calendar year 2001, and $4 million,
Litigation Reserves 151 2 22net of $3 million tax benefit in calendar year 2000, were
Intangible Assets 128 140 35

included in net income, respectively, and were determined Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 69 71 66
using the specific identification method. Inventories 59 43 70

Other 205 157 126
NOTE 11. INCOME TAXES Valuation Allowance (90) (76) (63)

Total Deferred Tax Assets $1,153 $932 $551The components of income (loss) before income taxes and
Property, Plant and Equipment $ 343 $333 $270cumulative effect of accounting change were:
Other 13 14 12

Eight Months Total Deferred Tax Liabilities $ 356 $347 $282
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 797 $585 $269(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

United States $(143) $ 453 $ 631 $333
Outside United States 105 (251) (172) 1

Total $ (38) $ 202 $ 459 $334
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As of Aug. 31, 2003, Monsanto had available approxi- After the completion of the 2000 income tax returns, an
mately $881 million in net operating loss carryforwards, the adjustment was made in 2001 to correct the deferred tax
majority of which relate to Brazilian and Argentine operations. balances that were estimated on Sept. 1, 2000, when the
Monsanto has recorded a valuation allowance totaling $90 assets and liabilities of the agricultural business were trans-
million against the Brazilian tax loss carryforwards, which do ferred from Pharmacia to Monsanto. The offset to this net
not expire. This is an increase of $14 million in the transition increase in deferred tax assets was reflected as an adjustment
period resulting from currency fluctuation in Brazil. Monsanto to additional contributed capital in the Statement of Consoli-
has not recorded a valuation allowance on the Argentine tax dated Shareowners’ Equity.
loss carryforwards, most of which expire in 2007. Realization

NOTE 12. DEBT AND OTHER CREDIT ARRANGEMENTSof net deferred tax assets depends on generating taxable
income in future periods. Both the amount of the net Monsanto had committed borrowing facilities of $1 billion
deferred tax asset considered realizable and the allowance unused as of Aug. 31, 2003. Expiration periods are as follows:
could be adjusted in the future if the estimates of taxable a 364-day $500 million facility in July 2004, and a five-year
income change. $500 million facility in August 2005. These facilities exist

Income taxes and remittance taxes have not been largely to support commercial paper borrowings. Covenants
recorded on approximately $768 million of undistributed under these credit facilities restrict maximum borrowings.
earnings of foreign operations of Monsanto, either because There are no related compensating balances, but the facilities
any taxes on dividends would be substantially offset by are subject to various fees, which are based on the company’s
foreign tax credits, or because Monsanto intends to reinvest credit rating. Monsanto expects to renew the 364-day
those earnings indefinitely. It is not practicable to estimate $500 million facility in fiscal year 2004. The company also had
the income tax liability that might be incurred if such aggregate short-term loan facilities of $238 million with
earnings were remitted to the United States. unrelated parties, under which loans totaling $31 million were

Monsanto’s current and deferred tax amounts are outstanding as of Aug. 31, 2003.
presented as if Monsanto had been a separate company for all
years presented. Monsanto did not make any cash payments Short-Term Debt
for taxes for the period through Aug. 31, 2000, because its

As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,operating results were included in Pharmacia’s consolidated
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001federal and state income tax returns through that date. To
Commercial Paper $— $ — $320the extent that Monsanto’s results were included in any
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 133 358 95Pharmacia income tax return for the periods from Sept. 1,
Notes Payable to Banks 31 24 39

2000, through Aug. 13, 2002, Monsanto, in general, is Bank Overdrafts 105 11 109
obligated to pay Pharmacia the amount of taxes that would Subtotal $269 $393 $563
have been due had Monsanto filed its own tax returns.

Related-Party Short-Term Loans
Effective Aug. 13, 2002, Monsanto and Pharmacia entered Payable — Pharmacia (see Note 26 —
into a new tax-sharing agreement, which replaced the original Related-Party Transactions) — — 254
agreement that began on Sept. 1, 2000. After Aug. 13, 2002, Total Short-Term Debt $269 $393 $817
Monsanto was no longer included in the Pharmacia consoli-
dated group; the company was obligated to file its own

As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,
income tax returns in all U.S. and ex-U.S. jurisdictions. As of

2003 2002 2001
Aug. 31, 2003, and Dec. 31, 2002, Monsanto owed $44 million

Weighted-Average Interest Rate on Short-
and $41 million, respectively, to Pharmacia included in Term Borrowings (excluding related-
income taxes payable. As of Dec. 31, 2001, Monsanto had party borrowings) at End of Period 9.1% 11.0% 3.2%
$9 million due from Pharmacia related to income taxes
payable.

63



M O N S A N T O  C O M P A N Y 2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 - K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

There was a significant increase in the weighted-average During 2002, Monsanto issued approximately $50 million
interest rate on short-term borrowings as of Aug. 31, 2003, of additional debt, primarily medium-term debt in Brazil with
and Dec. 31, 2002. At the end of the transition period and floating interest.
calendar year 2002, the company did not have any outstand- Interest rate swap agreements are used to reduce
ing commercial paper, but it had several short-term borrow- interest rate risk and to manage the interest rate sensitivity of
ings to support ex-U.S. operations, which had a weighted- the company’s debt. In connection with 4% Senior Notes,
average interest rate of 9.1 percent and 11 percent, respec- Monsanto entered into a $250 million notional amount interest
tively. Certain of these bank loans also act to limit exposure rate swap maturing in May 2008. The fair value of Monsanto’s
to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. interest rate swap agreement was an asset of $6 million as of

Aug. 31, 2003. The company bases its estimate of the fair
Long-Term Debt value of its interest rate management derivative on quoted

market prices. For a more complete discussion of interest rate
As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

management, refer to Note 13 — Financial Instruments.
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Annual aggregate maturities of medium-term notes are
73/8% Senior Notes, Due 2012 $795 $795 $ —

$133 million in fiscal year 2004, $201 million in fiscal year4% Senior Notes, Due 2008(1) 243 — —
2005, $18 million in fiscal year 2006, and $1 million in fiscalCommercial Paper(2) — — 500

Medium-Term Notes at 12.9%, Due 2004(3) 172 — 336 year 2007. Current maturities of long-term debt include
Variable Rate Medium-Term Notes, approximately $61 million of debt that can be extended by

Due 2006(4) 48 56 57 one year at the option of the lender. In August 2003,
Total Long-Term Debt $1,258 $851 $893 approximately $172 million of debt was extended by the
(1) In connection with this debt, the company entered into certain interest rate lender to mature in October 2004. Under the terms of the

hedging contracts, which effectively exchange the fixed interest rate to
agreement with the lender, a decline in LIBOR in Decembervariable interest at the six-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR),

less a weighted-average spread of 0.39 percent. 2001 caused $35 million of the medium-term notes due in
(2) Commercial paper was classified as long-term debt because Monsanto had calendar year 2004 to be paid in calendar year 2002.

the ability and intent to renew these obligations beyond one year.
The information regarding interest expense below reflects(3) In connection with this debt, the company entered into certain interest rate

hedging contracts, which effectively exchange the fixed interest rate to Monsanto’s interest expense, interest expense on debt, or
variable interest at the six-month LIBOR, less a weighted-average spread of interest amounts specifically attributable to Monsanto:
1.169 percent.

(4) The interest rate for borrowings under these agreements is the Brazil
Eight Months

Development Bank funding interest rate, as adjusted quarterly, plus a
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

4 percent spread, and the long-term interest rate, as set quarterly by the
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000Central Bank of Brazil, plus a 3 percent spread.

Interest Cost Incurred $61 $89 $129 $251
Less: Capitalized onIn May 2002, Monsanto filed a $2 billion shelf registration

Construction (4) (8) (30) (37)with the SEC. As of Aug. 31, 2003, $950 million remains
Interest Expense $57 $81 $ 99 $214available for future debt issuances. On Aug. 14, 2002,

Monsanto issued $600 million of 73/8% Senior Notes under this
shelf registration. On Aug. 23, 2002, the aggregate principal
amount of the outstanding notes was increased to $800 mil-
lion. These 73/8% Senior Notes are due on Aug. 15, 2012. On
May 5, 2003, Monsanto issued $250 million of 4% Senior
Notes under the shelf registration. These 4% Senior Notes are
due on May 15, 2008. The net proceeds from the sale of the
73/8% Senior Notes were used to reduce commercial paper
borrowings and to repay short-term debt owed to Pharmacia.
The net proceeds from the sale of the 4% Senior Notes were
used to reduce commercial paper borrowings.
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NOTE 13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The notional amounts, carrying amounts, and estimated fair values of the company’s financial instruments were as follows as of
Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001:

As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

2003 2002 2001

Notional Carrying Fair Notional Carrying Fair Notional Carrying Fair
(Dollars in millions) Amount Amount Value Amount Amount Value Amount Amount Value

Financial Assets:
Foreign-currency contracts:

Forward purchases $139 $ — $ — $154 $ (3) $ (3) $469 $ (6) $ (6)
Forward sales 419 (5) (5) 489 (4) (4) 110 (1) (1)
Options 53 1 1 — — — — — —

Commodity futures:
Futures purchased, net 49 5 5 23 (2) (2) 146 (11) (11)
Options purchased 42 — — 8 — — — — —

Natural gas swaps 10 — — — — — — — —
Interest rate swaps 250 (6) (6) — — — — — —

Financial Liabilities:
Short-term debt — 269 269 — 393 393 — 817 817
Long-term debt — 1,258 1,361 — 851 920 — 893 893

Monsanto’s business and activities expose it to a variety production growers for corn and soybean seeds to differ from
of market risks, including risks related to changes in commod- anticipated cash outlays. Monsanto uses commodity futures
ity prices, foreign-currency exchange rates, interest rates and, and options contracts to manage these risks. The company
to a lesser degree, security prices. These financial exposures also uses commodity futures and options contracts to manage
are monitored and managed by the company as an integral the value of its corn and soybean inventories.
part of its market risk management program. This program Monsanto’s natural gas risk management strategy is to
recognizes the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks use derivative instruments to minimize significant, unantici-
to reduce the potentially adverse effects that market volatility pated earnings fluctuations that may arise from volatility in
could have on operating results. natural gas prices.

As part of its market risk management strategy, Mon- Monsanto’s interest rate risk management strategy is to
santo uses derivative instruments to protect fair values and use derivative instruments to minimize significant, unantici-
cash flows from fluctuations caused by volatility in currency pated earnings fluctuations that may arise from volatility in
exchange rates, interest rates, and commodity prices. This interest rates of the company’s borrowings and to manage the
volatility affects cross-border transactions that involve sales interest rate sensitivity of its debt.
and inventory purchases denominated in foreign currencies. By using derivative financial instruments to manage
Monsanto is exposed to this risk both on an intercompany exposures to changes in commodity prices, exchange rates,
basis and on a third-party basis. Additionally, the company is and interest rates, Monsanto exposes itself to the risk that the
exposed to foreign-currency exchange risks for recognized counterparty might fail to perform its obligations under the
assets and liabilities, royalties, and net investments in subsidi- terms of the derivative contract. Monsanto minimizes this risk
aries that are denominated in currencies other than its in derivative instruments by entering into transactions with
functional currency, the U.S. dollar. Monsanto uses forward- high-quality counterparties and by limiting the amount of
currency exchange contracts, swaps, and options to manage exposure in each instrument. Such financial instruments are
these risks. neither held nor issued by the company for trading purposes.

The foreign-currency contracts generally have maturities
Foreign-Currency Hedgesof less than 12 months, and they require Monsanto to
The company sometimes uses foreign-currency options andexchange currencies at agreed-upon rates at maturity. The
foreign-currency forward contracts as hedges against antici-company does not expect any losses from credit exposure
pated sales and/or purchases denominated in foreign curren-related to these instruments because these are with large
cies. The company enters into these contracts to protect itselffinancial institutions.
against the risk that the eventual dollar-net-cash flows will beMonsanto’s commodity price risk management strategy is
adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. The com-to use derivative instruments to minimize significant, unantici-
pany also uses foreign-currency contracts to hedge the effectspated earnings fluctuations that may arise from volatility in
of fluctuations in exchange rates on foreign-currency-denomi-commodity prices. Price fluctuations in commodities, mainly
nated third-party and intercompany receivables and payables.in corn and soybeans, can cause the actual prices paid to
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The company hedges a portion of its net investment in Cash-Flow Hedges
Brazilian subsidiaries, and recorded an aftertax loss of The company enters into contracts with a number of its seed
$19 million in the transition period, an aftertax gain of growers to purchase their output at the market prices in
$19 million in calendar year 2002, and an aftertax loss of effect when the individual growers elect to fix their contract
$7 million in calendar year 2001, all of which are included in prices. As a hedge against possible commodity price fluctua-
accumulated foreign currency translation. tions, Monsanto purchases futures and options contracts for

Foreign currencies in which Monsanto has significant corn and soybeans. The futures contracts hedge the commod-
hedged exposures are the euro, the Canadian dollar, the ity prices paid, while the options contracts limit the unfavora-
Brazilian real, the Argentine peso, and the South African ble effect that price changes could have on these purchases.
rand. The aggregate net transaction loss, net of related During the transition period and calendar year 2002,
hedging gains and losses, included in net earnings for the Monsanto recognized a net loss of $1 million and $3 million,
transition period, calendar year 2002 and calendar year 2001, respectively, in cost of goods sold, which represented the
was $17 million, $36 million and $32 million, respectively, ineffectiveness of all cash-flow hedges. These amounts repre-
primarily because of the Argentine-peso transaction exposure. sent the portion of the derivatives’ fair value that was
As of Aug. 31, 2003, $6 million has been recorded in other excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. No
comprehensive loss to record the change in the fair value of cash-flow hedges were discontinued during the transition
foreign currency derivatives that have been designated as period, calendar year 2002, or calendar year 2001.
hedges of foreign currency cash flows. These derivatives all Aftertax deferred net gains on derivative instruments
expire or mature within the next 12 months, and any realized accumulated in other comprehensive loss of $6 million as of
gain or loss will be reclassified to earnings. Aug. 31, 2003, are expected to be reclassified to earnings

during the next 12 months. Aftertax deferred net gains on
Fair-Value Hedges derivative instruments accumulated in other comprehensive
Monsanto uses futures and options contracts to manage the loss of $7 million as of Dec. 31, 2002, are expected to be
value of the corn and soybean seed inventories that it buys reclassified to earnings during the next 12 months. The actual
from growers. Generally, the company hedges from 70 per- sales of the inventory, which are expected to occur during the
cent to 100 percent of the corn and soybean inventory value, next 12 months, will necessitate the reclassification of the
depending on the crop and grower pricing. derivative gains into earnings. The maximum term over which

Interest rate swap agreements are used to reduce the company is hedging exposures to the variability of cash
interest rate risk and to manage the interest rate sensitivity of flow (for all forecasted transactions, excluding interest pay-
its debt. Monsanto may use interest rate swaps to convert its ments on variable-rate debt) is 18 months. As of Dec. 31,
fixed-rate debt to variable-rate debt. The resulting cost of 2001, $8 million of aftertax deferred net losses on derivative
funds may be lower or higher than it would have been if instruments were accumulated in other comprehensive loss
variable-rate debt had been issued directly. Under the interest and were reclassified into earnings in calendar year 2002.
rate swap contracts, the company agrees with other parties to As of Aug. 31, 2003, the company had futures contracts
exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed- with notional amounts of $35 million and $15 million for corn
rate and floating-rate interest amounts, which is calculated and soybeans, respectively. As of Dec. 31, 2002, the company
based on an agreed-upon notional amount. In connection with had futures contracts with notional amounts of $19 million
4% Senior Notes, Monsanto entered into a $250 million and $4 million for corn and soybeans, respectively. As of
notional amount interest rate swap maturing in May 2008. Dec. 31, 2001, the company had futures contracts with
The fair value of Monsanto’s interest rate swap agreement notional amounts of $114 million and $32 million for soybeans
was an asset of approximately $6 million as of Aug. 31, 2003. and corn, respectively. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the company had
The company estimates the fair value of its interest rate natural gas swaps with a $10 million notional amount. As of
management derivative based on quoted market prices. Dec. 31, 2002, the company had one natural gas swap with a

The difference between the carrying value and the fair notional amount of less than $1 million. There were no open
value of hedged items classified as fair-value hedges was natural gas swaps as of Dec. 31, 2001.
offset by the change in fair value of the related derivatives. In June 2002, the company entered into a treasury rate
Accordingly, hedge ineffectiveness for fair-value hedges, lock agreement with several banks to hedge against changes
determined in accordance with SFAS 133 and SFAS 149, had in long-term interest rates on a portion of a planned debt
an immaterial effect on earnings in the transition period and issuance. The closing of this agreement in August 2002
in calendar year 2002. No fair-value hedges were discontinued resulted in a pretax loss of $26 million, because of a decrease
during the transition period, calendar year 2002, or calendar in interest rates. Monsanto designated this rate lock
year 2001. agreement as a cash-flow hedge. Since this rate lock is

designated as a cash-flow hedge, the net loss on the rate lock,

66



M O N S A N T O  C O M P A N Y 2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 - K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

to the extent the swap is effective, is recognized in other Monsanto or Pharmacia. At the time of the separation, the
comprehensive loss until the hedged interest costs are plans were split as follows: (1) Certain Pharmacia-sponsored
recognized in earnings. As of Aug. 31, 2003, $14 million of pension plans transferred plan assets and plan benefit
aftertax deferred net losses on the interest rate lock accumu- obligations for Monsanto employees to Monsanto-sponsored
lated in other comprehensive loss are expected to be plans; (2) Monsanto assumed sponsorship of certain plans in
reclassified into earnings during the next nine years, which is which a limited number of Pharmacia employees participate;
the term of the underlying debt. and (3) certain Pharmacia-sponsored plans in which Mon-

santo employees participate continued.
Credit Risk Management Effective Jan. 1, 2002, Monsanto and Pharmacia sepa-
Monsanto invests its excess cash in deposits with major banks rated their tax-qualified U.S. pension plan into Monsanto-only
throughout the world and in high-quality short-term debt and Pharmacia-only sponsored plans. The sponsorship of that
instruments. Such investments are made only in instruments plan, in which both Monsanto and Pharmacia employees
issued or enhanced by high-quality institutions. As of Aug. 31, participated, was transferred from Pharmacia to Monsanto,
2003, the company had no financial instruments that repre- effective January 2002. The assets attributable to Pharmacia
sented a significant concentration of credit risk. Limited employees and former Pharmacia employees were transferred
amounts are invested in any single institution to minimize to a new Pharmacia-sponsored plan. As of Jan. 1, 2002,
risk. The company has not incurred any credit risk losses Monsanto assumed assets with an approximate fair value of
related to those investments. $1 billion, projected benefit obligation of $1.3 billion,

The company sells a broad range of agricultural products accumulated benefit obligation of $1.2 billion, net pension
to a diverse group of customers throughout the world. In the liabilities of $120 million, and related deferred tax assets of
United States, the company makes substantial sales to a $45 million. The net offset of the assumed net pension
relatively few large wholesale customers. The company’s liabilities and related deferred tax assets was reflected as a
agricultural products business is highly seasonal, and it is reduction of additional contributed capital in the Statement of
subject to weather conditions that affect commodity prices Consolidated Shareowners’ Equity, as of Jan. 1, 2002.
and seed yields. Credit limits, ongoing credit evaluation, and Because of the decline in the equity markets in recent
account monitoring procedures are used to minimize the risk years, the fair value of Monsanto’s pension fund assets has
of loss. Collateral is secured when it is deemed appropriate by decreased. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’

the company. For example, during the transition period, Accounting for Pensions, the company recorded an additional
calendar year 2002, and calendar year 2001, in order to minimum pension liability adjustment during the transition
reduce credit exposure in Latin America, the company period. This noncash adjustment increased postretirement
collected payments on certain customer accounts in grain. liabilities by approximately $106 million, increased deferred

Monsanto regularly evaluates its business practices to income tax assets by approximately $38 million, decreased
minimize its credit risk. As a result, the company improved its intangible assets for prior service costs by approximately
prepayment program and one of its marketing programs. In $3 million, and decreased shareowners’ equity by approximately
calendar year 2001, the U.S. prepayment program was $71 million aftertax. The noncash charge to shareowners’
modified. The change allowed the company to net customer equity did not affect Monsanto’s results of operations, but it is
prepayments as a legal offset against the customer’s current reflected in other comprehensive loss.
outstanding balance during the transition period, calendar Total pension cost for Monsanto employees in the
year 2002, and calendar year 2001. In calendar year 2001, the transition period and calendar years 2002, 2001 and 2000,
company also modified one of its U.S. marketing programs, so included in the Statement of Consolidated Operations from
that any amounts payable to a customer are first applied to both Monsanto- and Pharmacia-sponsored plans, was $32 mil-
the customer’s receivable account. lion, $22 million, $8 million and $24 million, respectively. In

calendar year 2001, the expense related to Monsanto-spon-
NOTE 14. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS — PENSIONS sored plans for Monsanto employees only comprised service

costs for benefits of $4 million, interest cost on benefitThe majority of Monsanto’s employees are covered by noncon-
obligation of $11 million, assumed return on plan assets oftributory pension plans sponsored by the company. Prior to
$(9) million, and amortization of unrecognized losses ofthe transition period, the majority of Monsanto employees
$1 million. For the period subsequent to Sept. 1, 2000,were covered by noncontributory pension plans sponsored
through Dec. 31, 2000, the expense related to Monsanto-either by Monsanto or by Pharmacia. Pursuant to a separation
sponsored plans for Monsanto employees only comprisedagreement between Monsanto and Pharmacia dated Sept. 1,
service costs for benefits of $2 million, interest cost on2000, as amended, the plans were separated. Depending on
benefit obligation of $3 million, assumed return on planwhich entity was the plan sponsor, the plan assets and

liabilities were recognized on the balance sheet of either
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assets of $1 million, and amortization of unrecognized net loss earned, anticipated returns on pension plan assets, and
of $1 million. income tax and other regulations.

The information that follows relates to all of the Pension costs were determined using the preceding year-
Monsanto- and Pharmacia-sponsored pension plans in which end rate assumptions. The following assumptions, calculated
Monsanto employees participated, including pension expense on a weighted-average basis, were effective during the periods
related to Pharmacia employees in calendar years 2001 and indicated for the principal plans in which Monsanto employ-
2000. The components of pension cost for these plans were: ees participated:

Eight Months Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31, Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000 (Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Monsanto & Monsanto & Discount Rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 7.50%
Plan Sponsor/Plan Participant Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia Pharmacia Assumed Long-Term Rate of

Return on Assets 8.75% 8.75% 9.50% 9.50%Service Cost for
Annual Rates of SalaryBenefits Earned

Increase (for plans that baseDuring the Year $ 21 $ 32 $ 47 $ 60
benefits on finalInterest Cost on
compensation level) 3.25% 3.75% 4.25% 4.50%Benefit Obligation 67 103 130 163

Assumed Return on
Plan Assets (69) (119) (151) (168) Recent poor equity returns (prior to the transition

Amortization of
period) have resulted in declines in pension plan assetUnrecognized Net
performance. Market interest rates have also fallen, and theLoss/(Gain) 10 3 (8) (5)

SFAS 88 Settlement company reduced its discount rate and salary increase
Charge 3 3 — — assumptions as of Aug. 31, 2003, to reflect current economic

Total $ 32 $ 22 $ 18 $ 50 conditions. As a result of these changes and the return to a
full 12-month fiscal year, pension expense, which will bePension benefits are based on an employee’s years of
determined using Aug. 31, 2003, assumptions, is expected toservice and/or compensation level. Pension plans were funded
increase by approximately $22 million in fiscal year 2004in accordance with Monsanto’s and Pharmacia’s long-range
compared with pension expense in the transition period.projections of the plans’ financial conditions. These projec-

tions took into account benefits earned and expected to be
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The funded status of the pension plans in which Monsanto employees participated as of Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and
Dec. 31, 2001 was as follows:

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

Plan Sponsor Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia

Monsanto & Monsanto & Monsanto &
Plan Participants Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia Monsanto Pharmacia Pharmacia

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 1,566 $ 220 $ 1,638 $152 $ 75 $1,725
Service cost 20 32 — 5 — 43
Interest cost 67 103 — 11 — 119
Plan participants’ contributions 1 1 — 1 — —
Plan amendments — (1) — — — —
Actuarial loss/(gain) 129 147 — 7 — (61)
Acquisitions/divestitures — — — (5) — —
Benefits paid (107) (144) — (20) — (188)
Benefit obligation transferred to Monsanto plans — 1,208 (1,208) 73 (73) —
Benefit obligation transferred to Pharmacia-only plans — — (430) (4) (2) —

Benefit Obligation at End of Period $ 1,676 $1,566 $ — $220 $ — $1,638

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 894 $ 114 $ 1,264 $ 25 $ 106 $1,594
Actual return on plan assets 107 (110) — (1) — (142)
Employer contribution 119 35 — 10 — —
Plan participants’ contributions 1 1 — 1 — —
Acquisitions/divestitures — — — (5) — —
Fair value of benefits paid (107) (144) — (20) — (188)
Fair value of plan assets transferred to Monsanto plans — 998 (998) 104 (104) —
Fair value of plan assets transferred to Pharmacia-only plans — — (266) — (2) —

Plan Assets at End of Period $ 1,014 $ 894 $ — $114 $ — $1,264

Unfunded Status $ 662 $ 672 $ — $106 $ — $ 374
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost (24) (27) — (8) — (37)
Unrecognized Subsequent Loss (530) (439) — (2) — (86)

Net Pension Liability $ 108 $ 206 $ — $ 96 $ — $ 251

The projected benefit obligation (PBO), the accumulated For Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001,
benefit obligation (ABO), and the fair value of the plan assets amounts recognized in the Statement of Consolidated Finan-
for pension plans with ABOs in excess of plan assets for cial Position were included in miscellaneous accruals, accrued
Monsanto-sponsored plans as of Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, pension liability, additional minimum liability, accumulated
and Dec. 31, 2001, were as follows: other comprehensive loss, prepaid benefit cost, and intangible

assets as follows:
Aug. 31, Dec. 31,

(Asset) Liability(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

PBO $1,487 $1,372 $90 Aug. 31, Dec. 31,
ABO 1,414 1,287 84 (Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Fair Value of Plan Assets with ABOs in

Miscellaneous Accruals $ 5 $ 9 $ 5Excess of Plan Assets for Monsanto-
Accrued Pension Liability 130 223 109sponsored Plans 908 797 —
Additional Minimum Liability 459 352 20

During the years presented, lower market interest rates Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (437) (328) (17)
Prepaid Benefit Cost (28) (26) (18)and plan asset returns have resulted in more plans with ABO
Intangible Assets (21) (24) (3)in excess of plan assets, which has caused greater amounts to
Net Pension Liability $ 108 $ 206 $ 96be shown in the chart.

69



M O N S A N T O  C O M P A N Y 2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 - K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

NOTE 15. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS — HEALTH CARE AND OTHER Monsanto determined postretirement costs using the
preceding year-end rate assumptions. The following assump-

Pursuant to a separation agreement and employee benefits
tions, calculated on a weighted-average basis, were used for

and compensation allocation agreement between Monsanto
the principal plans as of the periods indicated:

and Pharmacia on Sept. 1, 2000, Monsanto created and
assumed sponsorship of all medical, life, disability, and other As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

welfare benefit plans in which its employees participate. Prior 2003 2002 2001 2000

to Sept. 1, 2000, most Monsanto U.S. full-time employees and Discount Rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.25% 7.50%
Initial Trend Rate for Healthcertain employees in other countries had been covered by

Care Costs 9.00% 10.00% 5.25% 5.00%certain Pharmacia-sponsored benefit plans that provided
Ultimate Trend Rate forhealth care and life insurance benefits for retired employees

Health Care Costs 5.00% 5.00% 5.25% 5.00%
who had met the requisite age and service requirements.
There is no detailed information available about the compo-

A 1 percent increase or decrease in the assumed trend
nents of the total cost and obligations that relate solely to

rate for health care costs would have had less than $1 million
Monsanto for periods prior to Sept. 1, 2000. Pursuant to the

effect on Monsanto’s transition period cost for postretirement
separation agreement and employee benefits and compensa-

health care benefits. It would have increased or decreased the
tion allocation agreement, on Sept. 1, 2000, Monsanto

accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $7 million as
assumed responsibility of such health care and life insurance

of Aug. 31, 2003.
plan benefits for its retirees and certain former employees of

The status of the postretirement health care, life insur-
Pharmacia allocated to Monsanto under the terms of the

ance, and employee disability benefit plans in which Monsanto
agreements. Total postretirement benefit costs for Monsanto

employees participated was as follows for the periods
employees and the former employees included in Monsanto’s

indicated:
Statement of Consolidated Operations in the transition period
and calendar years 2002, 2001, and 2000 were $23 million, Eight Months Year

Ended Aug. 31, Ended Dec. 31,$28 million, $25 million, and $18 million, respectively.
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001Substantially all regular full-time U.S. employees hired prior
Change in Benefit Obligation:to May 1, 2002, and certain employees in other countries

Benefit obligation at beginning of period $292 $261 $250become eligible for these health care benefits if they reach
Service cost 7 9 8

retirement age while employed by Monsanto and have the Interest cost 13 19 18
requisite service. Employees retiring from Monsanto prior to Plan amendments — (10) —
Jan. 1, 2003, were eligible for retiree life insurance benefits. Actuarial loss 33 29 7

Plan participant contributions 1 1 1These postretirement benefits are unfunded and generally are
Benefits paid (15) (17) (19)based on the employees’ years of service and/or compensation
Benefit obligation transferred to 

levels. The costs of postretirement benefits are accrued by the Pharmacia plans — — (4)
date the employees become eligible for the benefits.

Benefit Obligation at End of Period $331 $292 $261
The following information pertains to the Monsanto- and

Unfunded Status $331 $292 $261Pharmacia-sponsored postretirement benefit plans in which
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost 11 3 3Monsanto employees and certain former employees of
Unrecognized Subsequent Loss (69) (30) (11)

Pharmacia allocated to Monsanto participated, principally
Accrued Postretirement Liability $273 $265 $253

health care and life insurance. The cost components of these
plans were:

For Aug. 31, 2003, Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001,
Eight Months amounts recognized in the Statement of Consolidated Finan-

Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31, cial Position were as follows:
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

Aug. 31, Dec. 31,Plan Sponsor Monsanto Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001Monsanto &
Plan Participant Monsanto Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia Miscellaneous Accruals $ 25 $ 23 $ 17

Postretirement Liabilities 248 242 236Service Cost for Benefits
Earned During the Year $ 7 $ 9 $ 8 $13

Interest Cost on Benefit
Obligation 13 19 18 25

Amortization of
Unrecognized Net Gain 3 — (1) (8)

Total $23 $28 $25 $30
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NOTE 16. EMPLOYEE SAVINGS PLANS santo ESOP from 2001 to Aug. 31, 2003 (including the
portion of the Pharmacia ESOP attributable to Monsanto

For some company employee savings and investment plans,
employees for the period Jan. 1 to June 30, 2001), and the

employee contributions are matched in part by the company.
Pharmacia ESOP plan in 2000, in which Monsanto and

Monsanto matches employee contributions to the U.S.
Pharmacia employees participated.

tax-qualified savings and investment plan with shares that are
released from the Monsanto ESOP component of the Mon- Eight Months

Year Ended Dec. 31,Ended Aug. 31,santo Savings and Investment Plan (Monsanto SIP). As of
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000Aug. 31, 2003, the Monsanto ESOP held 7.2 million shares of
Plan Sponsor Monsanto Monsanto Monsanto PharmaciaMonsanto common stock.

Monsanto &In connection with the separation of Monsanto’s busi-
Plan Participant Monsanto Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacianesses from those of Pharmacia, and pursuant to the
Total ESOP Expense $ 2 $5 $6 $18Employee Benefits and Compensation Allocation Agreement
Interest Portion of Totalbetween Pharmacia and Monsanto dated Sept. 1, 2000, certain

ESOP Expense 1 2 3 8
assets and liabilities of the Pharmacia Corporation Savings Net Cash Contribution 3 5 6 21
and Investment Plan (Pharmacia SIP — formerly known as the Dividends Paid on ESOP

Shares Held 2 4 2 4Monsanto SIP) were transferred to the new Monsanto SIP as
of July 1, 2001. Assets and liabilities of a trust (the Pharmacia
ESOP Trust) established under the Pharmacia SIP were NOTE 17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
restructured and divided between the Pharmacia ESOP Trust

Monsanto grants its employees stock options under two fixed
and a trust established under the Monsanto SIP (the

stock option plans it established in 2000. Under the Monsanto
Monsanto ESOP Trust). In connection with this restructuring,

Company Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), formerly known
the portion of guaranteed debt attributed to Monsanto was

as the Monsanto 2000 Management Incentive Plan, the
retired, and Monsanto loaned $42.8 million to the new

company may grant awards to key officers, directors, and
Monsanto ESOP Trust. Certain costs associated with this debt

employees of Monsanto, including stock options, of up to
restructuring were allocated to Monsanto, which resulted in a

22.6 million shares of Monsanto common stock. Other employ-
pretax expense of $4 million ($2 million aftertax) in calendar

ees were granted options under the Monsanto Company
year 2001.

Broad-Based Stock Option Plan (Broad-Based Plan), which
At its inception, the Pharmacia ESOP Trust acquired

permits the granting of a maximum of 2.7 million shares of
Pharmacia shares by using proceeds from the issuance of

Monsanto common stock to employees other than officers and
long-term notes and debentures guaranteed by Pharmacia and

other employees subject to special reporting requirements. In
a loan from Pharmacia. Shares released from the Monsanto

February 2003, the LTIP was amended to increase the
ESOP are allocated each year to employee savings accounts

number of shares available for awards by 16.7 million, for a
as matching contributions. Prior to the spinoff on Aug. 13,

collective total of 42 million shares under the LTIP and the
2002, the Monsanto ESOP held Pharmacia shares. After the

Broad-Based Plan. Under the plans, the grant price of any
spinoff, the Pharmacia shares held were gradually converted

option is the average of the high price and low price of the
to shares of Monsanto stock through open-market transactions

company’s common stock on the day before the grant date.
and through the exchange of Pharmacia stock for Monsanto

The plans provide that the term of any option granted may
stock with certain Pharmacia employee benefit plans at

not exceed 10 years and that each option may be exercised
market rates. During the transition period, 650,925 Monsanto

for such period as may be specified by the People and
shares were released from the Monsanto ESOP and allocated

Compensation Committee of the board of directors or by the
specifically to Monsanto participants, leaving 4.6 million

delegate who administers the plans.
shares of Monsanto common stock remaining in the Monsanto

The Monsanto Non-Employee Director Equity Incentive
ESOP and unallocated as of Aug. 31, 2003.

Compensation Plan (Director Plan) was established in 2000
Compensation expense is equal to the cost of the shares

for directors who are not employees of Monsanto or its
allocated to participants, less cash dividends paid on the

affiliates. Half of the annual retainer for each nonemployee
shares held by the Monsanto ESOP. Dividends on the

director is automatically paid in the form of deferred stock —
common stock owned by the Monsanto ESOP are used to

shares of common stock to be delivered at a specified future
repay the Monsanto ESOP borrowings, which were $27 million

time. The remaining half of the director’s annual retainer may
as of Aug. 31, 2003. Compensation expense for Monsanto

be taken in the form of nonqualified stock options, restricted
employees included in the Statement of Consolidated Opera-

common stock, deferred common stock, or cash. The exercise
tions in the transition period and calendar years 2002, 2001

price of any stock option is the fair market value of the
and 2000 was $1 million, $3 million, $3 million and $6 million,

company’s common stock on the grant date. The term of any
respectively. The following information relates to the Mon-
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options granted under the Director Plan is 10 years, and the In connection with the IPO on Oct. 23, 2000, Monsanto
options vest in installments over the life of the director’s issued a one-time founder’s grant of stock options to all
term. The Director Plan is administered by a committee of employees under the LTIP and the Broad-Based Plan.
company executives. Compensation expense recognized for Approximately 22 million options were granted on that date,
the stock-based component of the Director Plan was $561,000 each with an exercise price of $20 per share, and vested in
for the transition period. Compensation benefit recognized for increments of 50 percent in March 2002 and 50 percent in
the stock-based component of the Director Plan was $44,000 March 2003. Additional grants were made to new hires
in calendar year 2002. Compensation expense recognized for eligible for option grants under the LTIP on a monthly basis,
the stock-based component of the Director Plan was $774,000 and to new hires eligible for option grants under the Broad-
in calendar year 2001 and $359,000 in calendar year 2000. Based Plan on a quarterly basis, with an exercise price equal

The LTIP also authorizes Monsanto to grant awards of to the fair market value of Monsanto common stock on the
restricted or unrestricted shares. During the transition period, grant date. These options vested in increments of 50 percent
25,000 restricted shares were granted; 8 percent of those on the one-year anniversary of the grant date and 50 percent
shares vest in calendar year 2005 and the remaining 92 per- in 2003, except for options granted in 2002, which vest
cent in calendar year 2006. In calendar year 2002, 147,000 100 percent in 2003, but in no event less than one year from
restricted shares were granted; 15 percent vest in calendar the grant date. The maximum term is 10 years.
year 2003 and the remaining 85 percent in calendar year Prior to the IPO, Monsanto employees participated in
2005. In calendar year 2001, 45,500 restricted shares were Pharmacia incentive plans. Any related outstanding options
granted; they vest in increments: 5 percent vested in calendar held by Monsanto employees will be exercised, canceled or
year 2002, and 51 percent will vest in calendar year 2003, forfeited under the provisions of the Pharmacia plans. A
36 percent in calendar year 2004, 4 percent in calendar year summary of the status of the Monsanto plans for the periods
2005, and 4 percent in calendar year 2006. In calendar year from Oct. 23, 2000, through Aug. 31, 2003, follows:
2000, 10,000 restricted shares were granted: 33 percent

Outstanding
vested in calendar year 2001 and 67 percent in calendar year Weighted-Average
2002. Compensation expense is based on the market price of Shares Exercise Price

Monsanto’s common stock at the grant date and is recognized
Oct. 23, 2000 — $ —

over the vesting period. Compensation expense recognized for Granted 22,607,420 20.07
these restricted shares was $753,000 for the transition period, Exercised — —
$920,000 for calendar year 2002, $455,000 for calendar year Forfeited (40,600) 20.00

2001, and $20,000 for calendar year 2000.
Balance Outstanding Dec. 31, 2000(1) 22,566,820 20.07

In 2000, four executives signed Phantom Share Agree- Granted 1,588,986 33.37
ments. These agreements provided each executive with a Exercised (23,908)(2) 20.00
number of phantom shares of common stock equal to the Forfeited (1,312,740) 20.15

cash severance and value of benefits continuation they would
Balance Outstanding Dec. 31, 2001(1) 22,819,158 20.98

have received under a prior change-of-control agreement with Granted 508,840 26.12
Pharmacia, divided by the IPO offering price. The phantom Exercised (3,153,400) 20.04
shares, which gave the holders the opportunity to earn a cash Forfeited (662,747) 21.88

award equal to the fair value of the company’s common stock
Balance Outstanding Dec. 31, 2002(1) 19,511,851 21.24

upon the attainment of a certain performance goal, vested on Granted 8,691,381 16.55
Oct. 1, 2002. In calendar year 2002, 825,796 phantom shares Exercised (1,378,060) 19.97
were settled for cash payments of $13 million. Monsanto Forfeited (476,467) 19.99
recognized $4 million in compensation benefit in calendar

Balance Outstanding Aug. 31, 2003 26,348,705 $ 19.78
year 2002, and $14 million and $3 million in compensation

(1) The number of options exercisable and weighted-average exercise price
expense in calendar year 2001 and calendar year 2000, thereof were 9,256,582 and $21.31 as of Dec. 31, 2002; 22,819,158 and
respectively, related to the phantom shares. Compensation $20.99 as of Dec. 31, 2001; and 22,566,820 and $20.07 as of Dec. 31, 2000.

The following table contains this information for Aug. 31, 2003.expense was based on the market price of Monsanto’s
(2) In accordance with the provisions of the plans, shares exercised related to

common stock and recognized over the 24-month vesting those of former employees who were separated.
period.
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Monsanto stock options outstanding as of Aug. 31, 2003, are summarized as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Remaining Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercise Price
Shares (Years) per Share Shares per Share

$14.66 - $20.00 23,872,764 7.98 $18.73 15,461,344 $19.99
$20.01 - $30.00 940,545 8.67 $23.28 417,311 $26.11
$30.01 - $37.61 1,535,396 7.85 $34.06 1,501,197 $34.08

26,348,705 17,379,852 $21.35

As permitted by SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, the company merger of Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. with the former
has elected to follow the guidance of APB Opinion 25, for Monsanto Company on March 31, 2000, the rights from the
measuring and recognizing its stock-based transactions with Pharmacia plan vested. For the transition period, the com-
employees. Accordingly, no compensation expense was recog- pany recognized $537,000 in compensation expense associ-
nized in relation to any of the Monsanto or Pharmacia option ated with these rights. The company recognized net
plans in which Monsanto employees participate. Note 2 — compensation benefit of $415,000 in calendar year 2002 and
Significant Accounting Policies — shows what the pro forma $4 million in calendar year 2001 associated with these rights.
net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share would have The company recognized compensation expense of $13 million
been if compensation expense for these plans had been based in calendar year 2000 associated with these rights.
on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under these

NOTE 18. CAPITAL STOCKplans, consistent with the method of SFAS 123 and SFAS 148.
Pro forma compensation expense for years presented may not The company is authorized to issue 1.5 billion shares of
be representative of compensation expense that will be common stock, $0.01 par value, and 20 million shares of
incurred on a pro forma basis in future years. undesignated preferred stock, $0.01 par value. The board of

In computing the pro forma compensation expense (refer directors has the authority, without action by the shareown-
to Note 2), Monsanto used the Black Scholes option-pricing ers, to designate and issue preferred stock in one or more
model to estimate the fair value of each option on the date it series and to designate the rights, preferences, and privileges
was granted. The weighted-average fair value of options of each series, which may be greater than the rights of the
granted to Monsanto employees during the transition period, company’s common stock. It is not possible to state the actual
calendar year 2002, and calendar year 2001 was $5.45, $9.53 effect of the issuance of any shares of preferred stock upon
and $8.46, respectively, per Monsanto stock option. The the rights of holders of common stock until the board of
weighted-average fair values of options granted to Monsanto directors determines the specific rights of the holders of
employees during calendar year 2000 were $7.24 for Mon- preferred stock.
santo stock options and $15.73 for Pharmacia stock options. The authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes
The following weighted-average assumptions were used for it possible for Monsanto’s board of directors to issue preferred
grants: stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could

impede the success of any attempt to change control of the2003 2002 2001 2000

company. These and other provisions may deter hostileMonsanto Monsanto Monsanto Monsanto Pharmacia
Plans Plans Plans Plans Plans takeovers or delay attempts to change management control.

Expected Dividend There were no shares of preferred stock outstanding as of
Yield 2.28% 1.88% 1.46% 1.96% 1.00% Aug. 31, 2003. As of that date, 262.7 million shares of common

Expected Volatility 40.4% 44.6% 45.3% 43.7% 26.0% stock were outstanding, and 42 million shares of common stock
Risk-Free Interest

were reserved for employee and director stock options.Rates 2.4% 3.8% 4.4% 5.7% 6.75%
On July 31, 2003, the Executive Committee of the boardExpected Option Life

(in years) 4.0 3.5 3.5 3.5 5.0 of directors authorized the purchase of up to $500 million of
the company’s common stock over a three-year period. No

Certain Monsanto employees received stock appreciation shares were repurchased as of Aug. 31, 2003. Monsanto has
rights as part of Monsanto’s and Pharmacia’s stock purchased 2.2 million shares for approximately $55 million
compensation plans. These rights entitle those employees to through Nov. 14, 2003.
receive a cash amount determined by the appreciation in the
fair market value of the company’s common stock between
the date of the award and the date of exercise. Upon the
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NOTE 19. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
(258 million shares) immediately after the IPO. Diluted

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all nonshareowner
earnings per pro forma share in calendar year 2000 were

changes in equity and consists of net income (loss), foreign
calculated using the common shares outstanding, plus the

currency translation adjustments, unrealized gains and losses
dilutive effect of common share equivalents totaling 0.5 mil-

on available-for-sale securities, additional minimum pension
lion shares, based on outstanding stock options. The options

liability adjustments, and accumulated derivative gains or
expire from 2010 through 2012.

losses on cash flow hedges not yet realized. Information
regarding comprehensive income (loss) is as follows: NOTE 21. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Eight Months The effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

equivalents was not material. Cash payments for interest and
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000

taxes during the transition period, calendar year 2002, and
Accumulated foreign

calendar year 2001 were as follows:currency translations $ (882) $ (987) $(714) $(504)
Net unrealized gains on

Eight Months Year
investments, net of taxes 10 4 15 39 Ended Aug. 31, Ended Dec. 31,

Net accumulated derivative
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

loss, net of taxes (14) (8) (8) —
Interest $73 $81 $113Minimum pension liability,
Taxes 70 75 174net of taxes (282) (211) (9) (14)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income Monsanto made no cash payments for interest or taxes
(Loss) $ (1,168) $(1,202) $(716) $(479) during the eight months ended Aug. 31, 2000, because all

interest and tax payments during this period were made for it
NOTE 20. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE AND PER PRO FORMA SHARE by Pharmacia. For the last four months of calendar year 2000,

cash payments for interest and taxes were $21 million andBasic earnings per share (EPS) for the transition period,
$8 million, respectively.calendar year 2002, and calendar year 2001 were computed

Noncash transactions with Pharmacia included approxi-using the weighted-average number of common shares out-
mately $(80) million, $180 million and $200 million instanding during the period (261.7 million shares, 260.7 million
calendar years 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Seeshares, and 258.1 million shares, respectively). Because
Statement of Consolidated Shareowners’ Equity for furtherMonsanto reported a loss before cumulative effect of account-
details.ing change in the transition period, generally accepted

Noncash transactions for 2000 included a reclassificationaccounting principles required diluted loss per share to be
of $1.1 billion of long-term debt to short-term debt. Incalculated using weighted-average common shares outstand-
addition, $2.2 billion of debt transferred to Pharmacia ining, excluding common stock equivalents. Diluted EPS were
exchange for additional equity in Monsanto was partiallycomputed taking into account the effect of dilutive potential
offset by net obligations of approximately $500 millioncommon shares, calculated to be 1.9 million shares and
assumed by Monsanto.5.5 million shares in calendar year 2002 and calendar year

In connection with the acquisition of biotechnology2001, respectively. These dilutive potential common shares
intellectual property assets from Ceres, the company recordedconsisted of 17.5 million and 21.8 million outstanding stock
intangible assets and the related obligations, in excess ofoptions in calendar year 2002 and calendar year 2001,
amounts paid, of $35 million in noncash transactions in therespectively. Two million and one million outstanding stock
second quarter of 2002. See Note 9 — Goodwill and Otheroptions were excluded from the computation in calendar year
Intangible Assets — for further details. Payments on the2002 and calendar year 2001 diluted EPS, respectively,
related obligation will be included in vendor financing pay-because the effect was antidilutive. Basic earnings per pro
ments as they are made.forma share for calendar year 2000 were computed using the
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NOTE 22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Contractual obligations: The following table sets forth the company’s current estimates of future payments under contracts.

Payments Due by (12-Month) Fiscal Year Ending Aug. 31,

2009 and
(Dollars in millions) Total 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 beyond

Long-Term Debt $1,258 $ — $201 $ 18 $ 1 $243 $ 795
Operating Lease Obligations 89 32 20 12 8 4 13
Purchase Obligations:

Uncompleted additions to property 10 10 — — — — —
Commitments to purchase inventories 393 258 35 33 25 18 24
Commitment to purchase breeding research 410 45 45 52 45 45 178
R&D alliances and joint venture obligations 272 63 62 58 52 37 —
Other purchase obligations 285 51 51 51 51 21 60

Other Liabilities Reflected on the Balance Sheet:
Payments on other financing 18 5 5 5 3 — —

Total Contractual Obligations $2,735 $464 $419 $229 $185 $368 $1,070

Rent expense was $53 million for the 2003 transition approximately $10 million with respect to principal, plus
period, $87 million for calendar year 2002, and $99 million for additional amounts with respect to interest and related
calendar year 2001. expenses. Monsanto believes that it is not likely to incur a

loss under this guarantee, and it has therefore not recorded
Guarantees: In November 2002, FIN 45 was issued. FIN 45 any liability related to its obligation under this guarantee. If
elaborates on the disclosures a guarantor must make in its Monsanto were to incur a loss under this guarantee, Monsanto
interim and annual financial statements about its obligations would have recourse against the supplier and the shareowners
under certain guarantees that it has issued. FIN 45 also of the supplier’s parent company pursuant to an agreement
requires that a guarantor recognize, at the inception of a entered into by the parties.
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation Monsanto guarantees minimum revenues for certain
undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition community programs that promote civic progress. If the
and measurement provisions of this interpretation are applica- programs do not earn a specified minimum level of revenue,
ble on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified Monsanto would incur a liability to perform under this
after Dec. 31, 2002. guarantee. The maximum aggregate potential amount of

Monsanto provides guarantees to certain banks that future payments under these guarantees is approximately
provide loans to Monsanto customers in Brazil. Terms of the $5 million. These guarantees were established prior to
guarantees are equivalent to terms of the bank loans, calendar year 2003 and will expire from calendar year 2004
generally six months. When a customer fails to pay an through calendar year 2010. As of Aug. 31, 2003, based on
obligation that is due, Monsanto incurs a liability to make current levels of revenue earned by these programs, Monsanto
these payments. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the maximum potential has not recorded any liability related to these guarantees.
amount of future payments under these guarantees is approx- Monsanto has no recourse under these guarantees.
imately $13 million. Based on the company’s current assess- Monsanto provides guarantees to certain banks that make
ment of credit exposure, Monsanto has recorded a liability of loans to joint ventures in which Monsanto is a partner. Terms of
less than $1 million related to these guarantees. Monsanto’s the guarantees vary but in every case Monsanto is liable for
recourse under these guarantees is limited to the customer, 50 percent of the joint venture’s obligations. When a joint
and it is not currently estimable. venture fails to pay an obligation that is due, Monsanto incurs a

Monsanto provides guarantees on behalf of certain suppli- liability to make the payment. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the
ers. As of Aug. 31, 2003, a guarantee is outstanding to a bank maximum potential amount of future payments under these
that is financing construction of a supplier’s plant. This guarantees is approximately $2 million. In addition, Monsanto
guarantee was established prior to calendar year 2003. This has recognized a liability of approximately $2 million as of
plant will supply certain raw materials to a Monsanto facility Aug. 31, 2003, for the settlement of a loan guarantee because a
in Brazil. The term of this guarantee is equivalent to the term joint venture was unable to honor its loan obligation. Monsanto
of the financing agreements, which are scheduled to be paid also guarantees 50 percent of the noncancelable lease obligation
during calendar year 2008. If the supplier fails to pay the of a joint venture. The maximum potential amount of future
obligations when due, Monsanto would incur a liability to payments under this guarantee is approximately $1 million.
make these payments. As of Aug. 31, 2003, the maximum
potential amount of future payments under this guarantee is
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Monsanto may provide and has provided guarantees on Monsanto’s financial position, profitability or liquidity. Mon-
behalf of its consolidated subsidiaries for obligations incurred santo believes that if it were to incur a loss in any of these
in the normal course of business. Where appropriate, an matters, it would not have a material effect on its financial
obligation for such guarantees would be recorded as a position, profitability or liquidity.
liability; nothing was recorded as of Aug. 31, 2003. Because Monsanto provides a guarantee to a specialty finance
these are guarantees of obligations of consolidated company for certain customer loans. See Note 7 — Customer
subsidiaries, Monsanto’s consolidated financial position is not Financing Program — for additional information.
affected by the issuance of these guarantees. Information regarding Monsanto’s indemnifications relat-

Monsanto warrants the performance of certain products ing to Solutia can be found below in the ‘‘Litigation and
through standard product warranties. In addition, Monsanto Indemnification’’ section of this note.
provides extensive marketing programs to increase sales and

Customer Concentrations in Gross Trade Receivables: The followingenhance customer satisfaction. These programs may include
table sets forth by significant customer concentrationsperformance warranty features, and indemnification for risks
Monsanto’s gross trade receivables as of Aug. 31, 2003,not related to performance, both of which are provided to
Dec. 31, 2002, and Dec. 31, 2001:qualifying customers on a contractual basis. The cost of

payments for claims based on performance warranties has
As of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

been, and is expected to continue to be, insignificant. It is not
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future
U.S. Agricultural Product Distributors $1,207 $ 811 $ 798

payments for indemnification for losses that are not related to European Agricultural Product
the performance of our products (for example, replanting due Distributors 360 274 238

Argentina(1) 299 416 606to extreme weather conditions), because it is not possible to
Brazil(1) 293 226 473predict whether the specified contingencies will occur and if
Mexico(1) 73 67 85so, at what amount.
Asia-Pacific(1) 86 88 101

In various circumstances, Monsanto has agreed to indem- Canada(1) 102 18 50
nify or reimburse other parties for various losses or expenses. Other 130 99 133
For example, like many other companies, Monsanto has Gross Trade Receivables 2,550 1,999 2,484
agreed to indemnify officers and directors for liabilities Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (254) (247) (177)

incurred by reason of their position with Monsanto. Contracts Net Trade Receivables $2,296 $1,752 $2,307
for the sale or purchase of a business or line of business may (1) Represents customer receivables within the specified geography.

require indemnification for various events, including certain
Gross trade receivables as of Aug. 31, 2003, may varyevents that arose before the sale, or tax liabilities arising

from gross trade receivables as of Dec. 31, 2002 and 2001,before, after or in connection with the sale. Certain seed
due to the seasonality of Monsanto’s businesses. Historically,licensee arrangements indemnify the licensee against liability
Monsanto has recorded its highest levels of sales and incomeand damages, including legal defense costs, arising from any
in the first half of the calendar year. For further details onclaims of patent, copyright, trademark, or trade secret
the allowance for doubtful trade receivables see Note 6 —infringement related to Monsanto’s trait technology. Germ-
Trade Receivables. The company’s receivables focus continuesplasm licenses generally indemnify the licensee against claims
to center on the key agricultural markets of Argentina andrelated to the source or ownership of the licensed germplasm.
Brazil. Net trade receivables in Argentina and Brazil were:Credit agreements and other financial agreements frequently

require reimbursement for certain unanticipated costs result-
Aug. 31, Dec. 31,

ing from changes in legal or regulatory requirements or
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001

guidelines. These agreements may also require reimbursement
Argentina $229 $332 $573

of withheld taxes, and additional payments adequate to allow Brazil 256 196 437
the recipient to receive an amount equal to the sum it would
have received had no such withholding been made. Provisions As a result of the economic crisis and related reforms in
like those in this paragraph may be found in many types of Argentina throughout 2002 and the devaluation of the
agreements, including, for example, operating agreements, Argentine peso, Monsanto established an allowance of
leases, purchase or sale agreements, and other licenses. It is $154 million pretax in the second quarter of calendar year
not possible to predict the maximum future payments 2002 for estimated uncollectible receivables in Argentina. Of
possible under these or similar provisions because it is not that amount, approximately $120 million had been written off
possible to predict whether any of these contingencies will against receivables as of Aug. 31, 2003. Although the company
come to pass and if so, at what amounts. Historically, these cannot determine how government actions and economic
types of provisions did not have a material effect on conditions in Argentina will affect the value of net receivables
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outstanding, the company continues to pursue customer Pharmacia prior to the Solutia spinoff, to the extent that
collections aggressively to minimize exposure. Management’s Solutia fails to pay, perform or discharge those liabilities. In
current assessment of the situation is that the allowance connection with Monsanto’s indemnification obligation, and
balance for Argentine receivables is adequate. pursuant to an agreement with Pharmacia and Solutia, in

2002 Monsanto posted a $71.4 million appeal bond on
Remediation Obligations: Monsanto’s Statement of Consolidated Solutia’s behalf, in connection with litigation that Solutia is
Financial Position includes accrued liabilities of $15 million as currently defending in Pennsylvania state court. Solutia has
of Aug. 31, 2003, $12 million as of Dec. 31, 2002, and provided a $20 million bank letter of credit to secure a
$12 million as of Dec. 31, 2001, for the remediation of portion of Monsanto’s obligations in connection with the
existing and former manufacturing facilities and certain off- appeal bond.
site disposal and formulation facilities. There is currently no The liabilities that Solutia assumed from Pharmacia include
material range of loss in excess of the amount recorded for certain liabilities related to polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs).
these sites. It is possible that new information about the sites Solutia had been defending significant PCB litigation, including
for which the accrual has been established, such as results of Sabrina Abernathy et al. v. Monsanto Company et al. (a
investigations by regulatory agencies, Monsanto, or other group of consolidated cases in the Circuit Court of Etowah
parties, could require Monsanto to reassess its potential County, Alabama) and Antonia Tolbert et al. v. Monsanto

exposure related to environmental matters. Monsanto’s future Company et al. (in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
remediation expenses are affected by a number of uncertain- District of Alabama). In September 2003, the state and federal
ties. These uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the courts approved a global settlement of the Abernathy and
method and extent of remediation, the percentage of material Tolbert cases. Monsanto provided $150 million to the settle-
attributable to Monsanto at the sites relative to that attributa- ment fund during August 2003, and $400 million during
ble to other parties, and the financial capabilities of the other September 2003, and expects to receive approximately
potentially responsible parties. Monsanto does not expect the $155 million in reimbursement from commercial insurance.
resolution of such uncertainties to have a material adverse Monsanto and the insurer responsible for approximately
effect on its financial position, profitability, or liquidity. $140 million of the reimbursement have agreed to mediation of

a dispute regarding the amount due. Miscellaneous receivables
Litigation and Indemnification: Monsanto is defending and prose- of $155 million have been recorded for the anticipated
cuting litigation in its own name. In addition, Monsanto is insurance reimbursement, approximately $140 million of which
defending and prosecuting certain cases that were brought in the company expects to receive during fiscal year 2004,
Pharmacia’s name and for which Monsanto assumed responsi- notwithstanding the mediation. In connection with this settle-
bility upon the separation of its businesses from those of ment, Solutia has agreed to issue warrants to Monsanto for the
Pharmacia. Such matters relate to a variety of issues. Some of purchase of up to 10 million shares of Solutia common stock,
the lawsuits seek damages in very large amounts, or seek to at an exercise price of $1.104 per share (the average closing
restrict the company’s business activities. The litigation that price for the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange
Monsanto is defending and prosecuting does not include for the five trading days immediately prior to the announce-
litigation that Solutia assumed from Pharmacia, which is ment of the settlement). The warrants will be issued upon the
discussed below. Although the results of litigation cannot be execution of a final warrant agreement between Solutia and
predicted with certainty, it is management’s belief that the Monsanto. The company will estimate and record the fair value
final outcome of the lawsuits that Monsanto is defending or of the warrants after the final agreement has been signed and
prosecuting (which do not include the Solutia matters it has received the warrants.
discussed below), will not have a material adverse effect on Notwithstanding the PCB settlement, Solutia has stated
Monsanto’s financial position, profitability, or liquidity. that it still faces significant business and liquidity risks.

In addition to the litigation that Monsanto is defending or Therefore, Monsanto may still be called upon to indemnify
prosecuting pursuant to the Separation Agreement between Pharmacia. Monsanto may also determine that it is in its best
Monsanto and Pharmacia, as amended, Monsanto was interest to take additional action to further reduce the
required to indemnify Pharmacia for liabilities that Solutia likelihood or amount of any indemnification. Therefore, it is
assumed from Pharmacia in connection with the spinoff of still reasonably possible that Monsanto’s obligation to indem-
Solutia on Sept. 1, 1997, to the extent that Solutia fails to nify Pharmacia could result in a material adverse effect on
pay, perform or discharge those liabilities. In general, this Monsanto’s financial position, profitability and/or liquidity. At
indemnification obligation applies to Pharmacia liabilities that this time, Monsanto is unable to reasonably estimate the
were assumed by Solutia and which Pharmacia would other- potential future cost, if any, to the company.
wise be required to pay. These liabilities may include, among
others, litigation, environmental remediation, and certain
retiree liabilities relating to individuals who were employed by
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NOTE 23. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA A reconciliation of earnings before cumulative effect of
accounting change, interest, and income taxes (EBIT) to

Monsanto manages its business in two segments: Seeds and
income before cumulative effect of accounting change for

Genomics, and Agricultural Productivity. The Seeds and
each year follows:

Genomics segment consists of the global seeds and related
traits businesses and biotechnology technology platforms. The Eight Months

Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,Agricultural Productivity segment consists of the crop protec-
(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000tion products, animal agriculture, residential lawn-and-garden
EBIT $ 8 $261 $ 532 $ 518products, and environmental technologies businesses. Sales
Interest Expense — Net (46) (59) (73) (184)between segments were not significant.
Income Tax (Provision)

Benefit 27 (73) (164) (159)Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31, Income (Loss) Before

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000 Cumulative Effect of
Accounting Change $ (11) $129 $ 295 $ 175Net Sales(1)

Seeds and Genomics $ 1,165 $1,585 $ 1,707 $ 1,608
Agricultural Productivity 2,208 3,088 3,755 3,885 Although inflation is relatively low in most of Monsanto’s
Total $ 3,373 $4,673 $ 5,462 $ 5,493 major markets, it continues to affect operating results. To

EBIT (2) mitigate the effect of inflation, Monsanto implemented mea-
Seeds and Genomics $ 18 $ (105) $ (240) $ (581) sures to control costs, to improve productivity, to manage
Agricultural Productivity (10) 366 772 1,099 capital expenditures and working capital, and to raise selling
Total $ 8 $ 261 $ 532 $ 518 prices when government regulations and competitive condi-

Depreciation and Amortization tions permit. In addition, the current costs of replacing
Expense certain assets are estimated to be greater than the historical
Seeds and Genomics $ 146 $ 223 $ 328 $ 337

costs presented in the financial statements. Accordingly, theAgricultural Productivity 156 237 226 209
depreciation expense reported in the Statement of Consoli-

Total $ 302 $ 460 $ 554 $ 546
dated Operations would be greater if it were stated on a

Restructuring and Other
current-cost basis.Special Items

Seeds and Genomics $ (2) $ 72 $ 76 $ 239
Agricultural Productivity (6) 52 137 22

Total $ (8) $ 124 $ 213 $ 261

Equity Affiliate Expense
Seeds and Genomics $ (26) $ (43) $ (41) $ (31)
Agricultural Productivity — — — (3)

Total $ (26) $ (43) $ (41) $ (34)

Total Assets
Seeds and Genomics $ 4,635 $3,775 $ 5,506 $ 5,622
Agricultural Productivity 4,826 5,115 5,923 6,104

Total $ 9,461 $8,890 $11,429 $11,726

Property, Plant and Equipment
Purchases
Seeds and Genomics $ 77 $ 89 $ 103 $ 143
Agricultural Productivity 37 135 279 439

Total $ 114 $ 224 $ 382 $ 582

Investment in Equity Affiliates
Seeds and Genomics $ 40 $ 37 $ 49 $ 66
Agricultural Productivity 2 1 1 17

Total $ 42 $ 38 $ 50 $ 83
(1) As discussed in Note 2 — Significant Accounting Policies — Monsanto

changed its marketing approach for certain trait fees, which resulted in
certain trait revenue being recognized earlier — in the second half of
calendar year 2001 rather than in the first half of calendar year 2002.

(2) Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting change, interest, and
income taxes; see the following table for reconciliation.
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Net sales and long-lived assets are attributed to the geographic areas of the relevant Monsanto legal entities. For example, a sale
from the United States to a customer in Latin America is reported as a U.S. export sale.

Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers
Excluding Inter-area Sales Long-Lived Assets

Eight Months As of
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31, Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2003 2002 2001 2000 2003 2002 2001 2000

United States $1,975 $2,986 $3,358 $3,089 $2,896 $2,965 $4,853 $5,127
Latin America 554 571 923 1,103 605 554 857 801
Europe-Africa 498 619 626 635 413 417 597 656
Asia-Pacific 162 316 370 449 118 112 128 131
Canada 184 181 185 217 43 34 37 14

Total $3,373 $4,673 $5,462 $5,493 $4,075 $4,082 $6,472 $6,729

NOTE 24. OTHER EXPENSE — NET

During the transition period, the company recorded $396 mil- Operations. Further description of the Solutia PCB litigation
lion for the Solutia PCB litigation settlement in other expense settlement is provided in this note. The significant components
that was called out separately in the Statement of Consolidated of other expense (income) were:

Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,

Dollars in millions 2003 2002 2001 2000

Litigation Matters — Net $— $ 17 $ 60 $ —
Equity Affiliate Expense — Net (see Note 25 — Equity Affiliates) 26 43 41 34
Foreign-Currency Transaction Losses — Net 21 36 32 22
Loss (Gain) on Sale of Businesses and Assets (1) (24) — 2
Gains Realized Upon Sale of Equity Securities — (12) (8) —
Deferred Payout Provision Related to Past Business Divestiture — — (8) —
Impairments of Equity Investments and Securities — — 8 —
Early Extinguishment of Debt — — 4 —
Banking and Other Related Fees 11 10 8 5
Other Miscellaneous Expense (Income) 10 (12) (10) (14)

Other Expense — Net $ 67 $ 58 $127 $ 49

Other miscellaneous expense for the transition period Statement of Consolidated Financial Position as of Dec. 31,
comprises numerous items that are less than $5 million 2001, and it was paid during calendar year 2002.
individually.

( In January 2002, Monsanto and Central Garden and Pet
Charges for litigation matters in calendar year 2002 (Central Garden) announced the settlement of all litiga-

related primarily to an agreement among Monsanto and tion related to Central Garden’s distributorship of lawn-
certain subsidiaries, DuPont, and DuPont’s Pioneer subsidiary. and-garden products during the 1990s for a divested
Under the agreement, the parties agreed to resolve a number business of the former Monsanto. As a result, the
of business and patent disputes among the parties. The company recorded a net pretax charge of $32 million in
agreement also included new royalty and business arrange- other expense in calendar year 2001; Central Garden has
ments, including the granting of technology licenses. paid Monsanto $5.5 million for products shipped to

Litigation matters in calendar year 2001 included charges Central Garden under the distribution agreement; and,
of $82 million and a gain of $22 million related to the three Central Garden’s Pennington subsidiary also agreed to
matters discussed below. purchase $2 million of Monsanto’s glyphosate material

( In November 2001, a federal appeals court upheld a 1999 under an existing supply agreement with Monsanto.
judgment against DEKALB Genetics (now a wholly owned

( In October 2001, Monsanto and DuPont announced the
subsidiary of Monsanto) in a licensing dispute brought by resolution of issues related to Monsanto’s MON810
Aventis CropScience S.A. (now Bayer CropScience). As a

YieldGard insect-protected corn trait used in corn
result, a reserve of $50 million for punitive damages was hybrids sold by Pioneer. The resolution includes the
recorded in other expense in 2001. The reserve was dismissal of several lawsuits regarding the development,
included in miscellaneous short-term accruals in the licensing and sale of MON810 YieldGard products. Under

79



M O N S A N T O  C O M P A N Y 2 0 0 3  F O R M  1 0 - K

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

this agreement, Pioneer will continue to sell MON810 Eight Months
Ended Aug. 31, Year Ended Dec. 31,YieldGard insect-protected corn hybrids under a royalty-

Dollars in millions 2003 2002 2001 2000bearing license from Monsanto. In addition, Monsanto
received a one-time fee of approximately $56 million. The Net Sales $ 6 $ 2 $ 1 $ —
major components of this fee relate to Pioneer’s past use of Gross Margin — (1) — —

Research and Development Expenses 40 61 64 49Monsanto’s MON810 YieldGard product and to royalties
Net Loss (53) (82) (82) (63)related to Pioneer’s sales of MON810 YieldGard products

During the transition period and calendar year 2002,during calendar year 2001. The portion of the fee related to
Monsanto performed services which were fair valued atPioneer’s past use of the product and to the settlement of
$33 million and $47 million, respectively, of R&D for Renessenother issues ($22 million) was recorded as other income.
LLC, which was recovered at cost.The royalties related to MON810 YieldGard products sold

during calendar year 2001 were recorded as trait revenues
NOTE 26. ADVERTISING COSTSin the fourth quarter of calendar year 2001.

Costs for producing and communicating advertising for the
PCB Litigation Settlement: As discussed in Note 22 — Commit- various brands and products were charged to selling, general
ments and Contingencies — Monsanto participated in a global and administrative expenses as they were incurred, or
settlement, which included Solutia and Pharmacia, relating to expensed ratably during the year in relation to revenues or
certain Solutia PCB litigation in Alabama. Monsanto paid certain other performance measures. Advertising costs were
$150 million of its share of the $550 million cash settlement $37 million for the transition period and $70 million, $96 mil-
in August 2003, and the remaining $400 million was paid in lion and $103 million for the calendar years 2002, 2001 and
September 2003. Receivables of $155 million have been 2000, respectively.
recorded for the insurance proceeds, the majority of which
Monsanto expects to receive during fiscal year 2004. As a NOTE 27. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
result, Monsanto recorded a pretax charge of $396 million

On Sept. 1, 2000, Monsanto entered into a master transition($252 million aftertax, reflecting a tax benefit of $144 million)
services agreement with Pharmacia, which was then itsin August 2003. The net charge of $396 million includes
majority shareowner. Some terms under this master agree-$1 million of related legal expenses.
ment expired on Dec. 31, 2001. New terms were negotiated in
calendar year 2002, which do not differ materially fromNOTE 25. EQUITY AFFILIATES
previously agreed terms. Under these agreements, Monsanto

Equity affiliate expense includes investments in a number of provides certain administrative support services to Pharmacia;
affiliates that are accounted for using the equity method. and Pharmacia primarily provides information technology and
Equity affiliate expense from Renessen LLC, a 50-50 owned human resources support to Monsanto. These agreements
and funded joint venture by Monsanto and Cargill, was continue to be effective after Pharmacia’s Aug. 13, 2002,
$26 million in the transition period, $41 million in calendar spinoff of Monsanto. During the period from Jan. 1, 2002, to
year 2002, $41 million in calendar year 2001, and $31 million Aug. 13, 2002, Monsanto recognized expenses of $22 million,
in calendar year 2000, and represented substantially all of and it recorded a reimbursement of $27 million for costs
equity affiliate expense. Due to the change in fiscal year end, incurred on behalf of Pharmacia. During 2001, Monsanto
Renessen is in the process of preparing its business plan for recognized expenses of $70 million, and it recorded a
the remainder of fiscal year 2004 for presentation to Mon- reimbursement of $48 million for costs incurred on behalf of
santo and Cargill. Summarized financial information related to Pharmacia. During the last four months of 2000, Monsanto
Renessen LLC is as follows: recognized expenses of $25 million, and it recorded a

reimbursement of $24 million for costs incurred on behalf ofAs of Aug. 31, As of Dec. 31,

Pharmacia. As of Dec. 31, 2002, the company had a netDollars in millions 2003 2002 2001 2000

receivable balance of $2 million with Pharmacia. As of
Current Assets $ 3 $ 6 $— $— Dec. 31, 2001, the company had a net payable balance
Noncurrent Assets 3 3 3 3

(excluding dividends payable) of $43 million with Pharmacia.Current Liabilities 13 13 11 12
Noncurrent Liabilities 1 1 — — Transition services, employee benefits, capital project costs,

and information technology costs comprised both balances.
From the IPO closing date through November 2002,

Pharmacia provided loan and deposit management services to
Monsanto’s ex-U.S. subsidiaries. Since November 2002, Monsanto
has maintained its cash-management strategy by working with
third-party banks. Until Aug. 13, 2002, Pharmacia was also the
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counterparty to some of Monsanto’s foreign-currency exchange Senior Notes. As of Dec. 31, 2001, Monsanto was in a net
contracts. Since Aug. 13, 2002, Monsanto has maintained its borrowing position of $224 million with Pharmacia. Interest
foreign-currency exchange strategies by working with third-party rates were comparable to those that Monsanto would have
banks. As of Dec. 31, 2001, the fair value of the company’s incurred with a third party.
outstanding foreign-currency exchange contracts with Pharmacia Monsanto and Pharmacia entered into an agreement
was a loss of $7 million. In addition, Monsanto pays a fee to whereby Pharmacia paid Monsanto approximately $40 million,
Pharmacia because Pharmacia is the named party on a for certain expenses incurred by Monsanto relating to the
guarantee of debt of a Monsanto subsidiary issued prior to spinoff of Monsanto by Pharmacia effective Aug. 13, 2002.
Monsanto’s separation from Pharmacia on Sept. 1, 2000. Fees Monsanto expects to use these funds to pay for the
for these services are comparable to those that Monsanto separation of the Monsanto and Pharmacia research and
would have incurred with a third party. development organizations, legal activities required to defini-

On Aug. 13, 2002, Monsanto repaid its outstanding short- tively separate the ownership of certain intellectual property,
term debt to Pharmacia and entered into a new short-term and other types of activities that arose directly as a result of
debt arrangement with Pharmacia for $150 million. This new the spinoff. Funds unspent as of Aug. 31, 2003, are recorded
short-term debt was repaid in August 2002 with a portion of in short-term accruals and the company expects to use these
the proceeds received from Monsanto’s issuance of 73/8% funds for their designated purposes by December 2003.

NOTE 28. QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table includes financial data for the calendar year quarters as indicated. Because of the change in fiscal year to
August 31, only the first two quarters were reported in the transition period.

Dollars in millions, except per share amounts

Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share (1)

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect Net Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect Net
Net Gross Cumulative Effect of Accounting Income Cumulative Effect of Accounting Income

2003 Sales (2) Profit of Accounting Change Change (Note 9) (Loss) of Accounting Change Change (Note 9) (Loss)

1st Quarter $ 1,147 $ 533 $ 107 $ (12) $ 60 $ 0.28 $ (0.05) $ 0.23

2nd Quarter 1,682 894 437 — 295 1.12 — 1.12

2002

1st Quarter $1,221 $ 604 $ 86 $(1,822) $(1,736) $ 0.33 $(6.92) $(6.59)

2nd Quarter 1,553 818 147 — 147 0.56 — 0.56

3rd Quarter 679 201 (165) — (165) (0.63) — (0.63)

4th Quarter 1,220 557 61 — 61 0.23 — 0.23

Total Year $4,673 $2,180 $ 129 $(1,822) $(1,693) $ 0.49 $(6.94) $(6.45)

2001

1st Quarter $1,306 $ 607 $ 55 $ 55 $ 0.21 $ 0.21

2nd Quarter 2,011 1,189 389 389 1.47 1.47

3rd Quarter 936 384 (45) (45) (0.17) (0.17)

4th Quarter 1,209 465 (104) (104) (0.40) (0.40)

Total Year $5,462 $2,645 $ 295 $ 295 $ 1.12 $ 1.12
(1) Because of the quarterly changes in the effects of dilutive stock options in 2002, correlated with the average quarterly stock price, quarterly earnings (loss) per

share do not total to the full-year amount. Additionally, because Monsanto reported a loss before cumulative effect of accounting change in the third and fourth
quarters of 2001, generally accepted accounting principles required diluted loss per share to be calculated using weighted-average common shares outstanding,
excluding common stock equivalents. As a result, the quarterly earnings (loss) per share do not total to the full-year amount.

(2) Historically, Monsanto generates the majority of its sales during the first half of the year, primarily because of the timing of the planting season in the Northern
Hemisphere.
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NOTE 29. SUBSEQUENT EVENT program. These actions will require charges of up to $155 mil-
lion aftertax in fiscal year 2004. Decisions surrounding the

In October 2003, Monsanto announced plans to continue to
European wheat and barley business will also require a

reduce the costs associated with its agricultural chemistry
reevaluation for potential impairment of goodwill related to

business as that segment matures globally. The company will
the company’s global wheat business. Goodwill for this

further concentrate its resources on its seeds and traits
business was recorded at approximately $80 million pretax as

businesses. These plans include: (1) reducing costs associated
of Aug. 31, 2003; currently, Monsanto anticipates $69 million

with the company’s Roundup herbicide business, (2) exiting
of this goodwill will be written off in the first quarter of fiscal

the European breeding and seed business for wheat and
year 2004.

barley; and (3) discontinuing the plant-made pharmaceuticals

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

We maintain a comprehensive set of disclosure controls and upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date,
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act)) the design and operation of these disclosure controls and
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance of
in our filings under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, the achievement of the objectives described above.
summarized and reported accurately and within the time During the transition period that ended on the Evaluation
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. As of Aug. 31, Date, there was no change in internal controls over financial
2003 (the Evaluation Date), an evaluation was carried out reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
under the supervision and with the participation of our the Exchange Act) that materially affected, or is reasonably
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and financial reporting.
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT. 

The following information appearing in Monsanto Company’s regarding the membership and function of the Audit and
definitive proxy statement, to be filed with the SEC pursuant Finance Committee, and the financial expertise of its
to Regulation 14A not later than Dec. 29, 2003 (Proxy members.
Statement), is incorporated herein by reference: Monsanto has adopted a Code of Ethics for Chief

( information appearing under the heading ‘‘Information Executive and Senior Financial Officers (Code), which applies
Regarding Board of Directors and Committees — Compo- to its Chief Executive Officer and the senior leadership of its
sition of Board of Directors,’’ including biographical finance department, including its Chief Financial Officer and
information regarding nominees for election to, and Controller. This Code is available on our Internet Web site at
members of, the Board of Directors http://www.monsanto.com, at the tab ‘‘Our Pledge.’’ Any

amendments to, or waivers from, the provisions of the Code
( information appearing under the heading ‘‘Certain Other

will be posted to that same location within five business days,Information Regarding Management — Section 16(a) Ben-
and will remain on the Web site for at least a 12-montheficial Ownership Reporting Compliance’’
period.

( information appearing under the heading ‘‘Board Meetings The following information with respect to the executive
and Committees — Audit and Finance Committee,’’ officers of the Company on Nov. 1, 2003, is included pursuant

to Instruction 3 of Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K:

Year First
Became

Present Position an Executive
Name — Age with Registrant Officer Other Business Experience since Jan. 1, 1998*

Brett D. Begemann, 42 Executive Vice President, 2003 Regional Director, North Central Region — Pharmacia Corporation,
International Commercial 10/97-7/99; Vice President, U.S. Branded Products — Pharmacia

Corporation, 7/99-10/01; Vice President, Asia-Pacific — Monsanto
Company, 11/01-6/03; present position, 6/03

Charles W. Burson, 59 Executive Vice President, 2001 Counsel to the Vice President of the United States, 1997-1999; Assistant
Secretary, General Counsel to the President and Chief of Staff and Counselor to the Vice President,

the White House, Office of the Vice President, 1999-2001; present
position, 4/01

Carl M. Casale, 42 Executive Vice President, 2000 Co-Lead, U.S. Markets — Pharmacia Corporation, 7/97-8/99; Vice
North America Commercial President, North America — Pharmacia Corporation, 9/99-6/00; Vice

President, North America — Monsanto Company, 6/00-6/03; present
position, 6/03

Richard B. Clark, 51 Vice President and 2001 Controller, Integrated Financial Services — Pharmacia Corporation,
Controller 1997-1999; Vice President and Controller — Pharmacia Corporation,

1999-2000; Vice President, Financial Shared Services — Pharmacia
Corporation, 2000-2001; present position, 2001

Terrell K. Crews, 48 Executive Vice President 2000 General Auditor — Pharmacia Corporation, 6/97-12/98; Global Finance
and Chief Financial Officer Lead, Global Seed Group — Pharmacia Corporation, 12/98-7/99; Chief

Financial Officer, Agricultural Sector — Pharmacia Corporation, 7/99-
2/00; Chief Financial Officer — Monsanto Company, 2/00-8/00, present
position, 8/00

Robert T. Fraley, 50 Executive Vice President 2000 Co-President, Agricultural Sector — Pharmacia Corporation, 1997-2000;
and Chief Technology Vice President and Chief Technology Officer — Monsanto Company,
Officer 2/00-8/00; present position, 8/00

Hugh Grant, 45 Chairman of the Board, 2000 Co-President, Agricultural Sector — Pharmacia Corporation, 1998-2000;
President and Chief Vice President and Chief Operating Officer — Monsanto Company, 2/00-
Executive Officer 8/00; Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, 8/00-5/03;

President and Chief Executive Officer, 5/03; present position, 10/03

Janet M. Holloway, 49 Vice President and Chief 2000 Co-Lead, Information Technology, Agricultural Sector — Pharmacia
Information Officer; Corporation, 1997-1999; Chief Information Officer — Pharmacia
Responsible for Human Corporation, 1999-2000; Chief Information Officer, 8/00-6/03; Vice
Resource Matters President and Chief Information Officer — Monsanto Company, 6/03;

present position, 7/03
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Year First
Became

Present Position an Executive
Name — Age with Registrant Officer Other Business Experience since Jan. 1, 1998*

Mark J. Leidy, 47 Executive Vice President, 2001 Director of Manufacturing, Roundup — Pharmacia Corporation, 1996-
Manufacturing 1998; Director of Manufacturing, Global Seed Supply — Monsanto

Company, 1998-2000; Vice President, Manufacturing, 2/01-6/03; present
position, 6/03

Cheryl P. Morley, 49 Senior Vice President, 2000 President, Animal Agricultural Group — Pharmacia Corporation, 1997-
Corporate Strategy 2000; President of Animal Agricultural Group — Monsanto Company,

8/00-6/03; present position, 6/03

Robert A. Paley, 55 Vice President and 2002 Director of Asia-Pacific Monsanto Company Entities — Monsanto
Treasurer Company, 1997-2000; Assistant Treasurer — Monsanto Company, 2000-

2002; present position, 9/02

Gerald A. Steiner, 43 Executive Vice President, 2001 Director, Global Chemistry Strategy — Pharmacia Corporation, 1996-
Commercial Acceptance 1998; General Manager, Europe-Africa Ag Business — Pharmacia

Corporation, 1998-2000; Senior Vice President, Ag & Pharma Discovery
Services — Celera Genomics, 2000-2001; Vice President, Strategy —
Monsanto Company, 2001-6/03; present position, 6/03

* Prior to Sept. 1, 2000, the businesses of the current Monsanto Company were the agricultural division of Pharmacia Corporation.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED
TRANSACTIONS.

The following information, appearing under the following
headings of the Proxy Statement, is incorporated herein by The following information, appearing under the following
reference: ‘‘Information Regarding Board of Directors and headings of the Proxy Statement, is incorporated herein by
Committees — Compensation of Directors’’; ‘‘Information reference: ‘‘Information Regarding Our Formation’’; ‘‘Informa-
Regarding Board of Directors and Committees — Other Com- tion Regarding Board of Directors and Committees — Other
pensation Arrangements’’; ‘‘Information Regarding Board of Compensation Arrangements’’; ‘‘Arrangements Between Mon-
Directors and Committees — Compensation Committee Inter- santo and Pharmacia’’; ‘‘Certain Other Information Regarding
locks and Insider Participation’’; ‘‘Executive Compensation’’; Management — Transactions and Relationships’’; ‘‘Appen-
‘‘Approval of Amendments to the Monsanto Long-Term (Proxy dix A — Information Regarding Our Formation’’; and ‘‘Appen-
Item No. 3)’’; and ‘‘Certain Agreements.’’ dix D — Summary Description of Agreements Between

Monsanto and Pharmacia.’’

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. SERVICES.

Information appearing in the Proxy Statement, under the Information regarding fees paid to Monsanto’s independent
headings ‘‘Stock Ownership of Management and Certain auditor, appearing in the Proxy Statement under the heading
Beneficial Owners’’ and ‘‘Equity Compensation Plan Informa- ‘‘Report of the Audit and Finance Committee,’’ is incorporated
tion,’’ is incorporated herein by reference. herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K. 

(a) Documents filed as part of this Report:

1. The following financial statements appearing in Item 8: ‘‘Statement of Consolidated Operations’’; ‘‘Statement of
Consolidated Financial Position’’; ‘‘Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows’’; ‘‘Statement of Consolidated Shareowners’
Equity’’; and ‘‘Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income (Loss).’’

2. Financial Statement Schedules: Consolidated Financial Statements of Renessen LLC. This Schedule will be filed with the
SEC but will not be included in the printed version of the Annual Report to Shareowners.

3. Exhibits: The list of exhibits in the Exhibit Index to this Report is incorporated herein by reference. The following
Exhibits are management contracts and compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as exhibits to this
Form 10-K: Exhibits 10.15 through 10.29. The exhibits will be filed with the SEC but will not be included in the printed
version of the Annual Report to Shareowners.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K during the quarter ended Aug. 31, 2003:

Date Filed or Furnished Item No. Description

July 23, 2003 Item 8 The company filed a report on Form 8-K (Item 8), providing: a press release dated July 23, 2003,
announcing the company’s new fiscal year end; and a copy of the Amended and Restated By-Laws
amended to reflect the change in fiscal year end.

July 31, 2003 Items 9 and 12 The company furnished a report on Form 8-K (Item 9 and Item 12), pursuant to Regulation FD and in
connection with the release of information regarding results of operations and financial condition,
providing: (i) a press release announcing Monsanto Company’s second quarter 2003 financial and operating
results; (ii) first-half 2003 unaudited supplemental data; (iii) 1996-2003 Monsanto Biotechnology U.S. Trait
Acreage; and (iv) a slide presentation to accompany the company’s webcast financial results conference
call held on July 31, 2003.

Aug. 4, 2003 Item 9 The company furnished a report on Form 8-K (Item 9), pursuant to Regulation FD, providing a slide
presentation prepared for use by the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer at
investor meetings in New York and Boston on Aug. 4, 5 and 6, 2003.

Aug. 15, 2003 Item 12 The company furnished a report on Form 8-K (Item 12), pursuant to Regulation FD and in connection with
the posting of certain historical pro forma financial information based on the new fiscal year to the
company’s Web site on Aug. 14, 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MONSANTO COMPANY

(Registrant)

By: /s / RICHARD B. CLARK

Richard B. Clark
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: Nov. 25, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(Frank V. AtLee III)

* Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Nov. 25, 2003
Officer, Director (Principal Executive Officer)(Hugh Grant)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(Gwendolyn S. King)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(Sharon R. Long)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(C. Steven McMillan)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(William U. Parfet)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(George Poste)

* Director Nov. 25, 2003
(Robert J. Stevens)

* Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Nov. 25, 2003
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)(Terrell K. Crews)

/s/ RICHARD B. CLARK Vice President and Controller Nov. 25, 2003
(Principal Accounting Officer)(Richard B. Clark)

* Charles W. Burson, by signing his name hereto, does sign this document on behalf of the above noted individuals, pursuant to powers of attorney duly executed by
such individuals which have been filed as an Exhibit to this Report.

/s / CHARLES W. BURSON

Charles W. Burson
Attorney-in-Fact
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EXHIBIT INDEX

These Exhibits are numbered in accordance with the Exhibit Table of Item 601 of Regulation S-K.

Exhibit Exhibit
No. Description No. Description

2 1. Separation Agreement, dated as of Sept. 1, 2000, between 6.1. Amendment to Distribution Agreement, dated July 1,
the company and Pharmacia (incorporated by reference 2002, among Pharmacia, Solutia and the company
to Exhibit 2.1 of Amendment No. 2 to Registration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Form 8-K,
Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000, File filed July 30, 2002, File No. 1-16167).
No. 333-36956). 7. Protocol Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, among

2. First Amendment to Separation Agreement, dated July 1, Pharmacia, Solutia and the company, relating to litigation
2002, between Pharmacia and the company (incorporated in Alabama (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of
by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of Form 8-K, filed July 30, Form 8-K, filed July 30, 2002, File No. 1-16167).
2002, File No. 1-16167). 8. Protocol Agreement dated Nov. 15, 2002, among

3 1. Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation Pharmacia, Solutia and the company (the Pennsylvania
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Amendment Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of
No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed Form 8-K, filed Nov. 18, 2002, File No. 1-16167).
Aug. 30, 2000, File No. 333-36956). 8.1. Amendment to Protocol Agreement, dated March 3, 2003,

2. Amended and Restated By-Laws effective Oct. 14, 2003. among Pharmacia, Solutia and the company, amending the
Pennsylvania Agreement (incorporated by reference to4 Form of Indenture between the company and The Bank of New
Exhibit 10.8.1 of Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31,York, as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of
2002, File No. 1-16167).Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed May 17, 2002, File

No. 333-88542). 8.2 Second Amendment to Protocol Agreement, dated Aug. 4,
2003, further amending the Pennsylvania Agreement9 Omitted — Inapplicable.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.2 of Form 10-Q

10 1. Tax Sharing Agreement, dated July 19, 2002, between the for the period ended June 30, 2003, File No. 1-16167).
company and Pharmacia (incorporated by reference to

9. U.S. $150,000,000 Promissory Note issued by the companyExhibit 10.4 of Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,
to Pharmacia, dated Aug. 13, 2002 (incorporated by2002, File No. 1-16167).
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Form 10-Q for the period

2. Employee Benefits and Compensation Allocation ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-16167).
Agreement between Pharmacia and the company, dated

10. Letter Agreement between the company and Pharmacia,as of Sept. 1, 2000 (incorporated by reference to
effective Aug. 13, 2002 (incorporated by reference toExhibit 10.7 of Amendment No. 2 to Registration
Exhibit 10.6 of Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000, File
2002, File No. 1-16167).No. 333-36956).

11. Creve Coeur Campus Lease between the company and2.1. Amendment to Employee Benefits and Compensation
Pharmacia, dated Sept. 1, 2000 (incorporated byAllocation Agreement between Pharmacia and the
reference to Exhibit 10.22 of Form 10-K for the periodcompany, dated Sept. 1, 2000 (incorporated by reference
ended Dec. 31, 2001, File No. 1-16167).to Exhibit 2.1 of Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31,

2001, File No. 1-16167). 12. Chesterfield Village Campus Lease between Pharmacia
and the company, dated Sept. 1, 2000 (incorporated by3. Intellectual Property Transfer Agreement, dated Sept. 1,
reference to Exhibit 10.23 of Form 10-K for the period2000, between the company and Pharmacia (incorporated
ended Dec. 31, 2001, File No. 1-16167).by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Amendment No. 2 to

Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000, 13. 364-Day Credit Agreement dated July 2, 2003
File No. 333-36956). (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Form 10-Q

for the period ended June 30, 2003, File No. 1-16167).4. Services Agreement, dated Sept. 1, 2000, between the
company and Pharmacia (incorporated by reference to 14. Five Year Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.9 of Amendment No. 2 to Registration Exhibit 10.12 of Amendment No. 1 to Registration
Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000, File Statement on Form S-1, filed Aug. 30, 2000, File
No. 333-36956). No. 333-36956).

5. Corporate Agreement, dated Sept. 1, 2000, between the 15. Monsanto Non-Employee Director Equity Incentive
company and Pharmacia (incorporated by reference to Compensation Plan, amended Dec. 18, 2002, and effective
Exhibit 10.10 of Amendment No. 2 to Registration Sept. 19, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15
Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000, File of Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31, 2002, File
No. 333-36956). No. 1-16167).

6. Distribution Agreement between Pharmacia and Solutia, 16. Monsanto Company Long-Term Incentive Plan, amended
as of Sept. 1, 1997 (incorporated by reference to and restated effective April 24, 2003 (formerly known as
Exhibit 2.1 of the Form 8-K filed by Pharmacia Monsanto 2000 Management Incentive Plan) (incorporated
Corporation (f/k/a Monsanto Company) on Sept. 16, 1997, by reference to Appendix C to Notice of Annual Meeting
File No. 1-2516). and Proxy Statement dated March 13, 2003, File

No. 1-16167).
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Exhibit Exhibit
No. Description No. Description

17. 2003 Annual Incentive Plan Summary, as approved by the 28. Excerpt of a resolution adopted by the People and
People and Compensation Committee of the Board of Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on
Directors on Dec. 17, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Sept. 18, 2002, terminating Split-Dollar Life Insurance
Exhibit 10.17 of Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31, arrangements for certain key executives (incorporated by
2002, File No. 1-16167). reference to Exhibit 10.11.1 of Form 10-Q for the period

ended Sept. 30, 2002, File No. 1-16167).18. 2004 Annual Incentive Plan Summary, as approved by the
People and Compensation Committee of the Board of 29. Form of Phantom Share Agreement (incorporated by
Directors on Oct. 27, 2003. reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Amendment No. 2 to

Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed Sept. 22, 2000,19. Annual Incentive Program for certain executive officers
File No. 333-36956).(incorporated by reference to the description appearing

under the sub-heading ‘‘Annual Incentive Program’’ on 30. Agreement among Solutia, Pharmacia and the company,
pages 10 through 11 of Notice of Annual Meeting and relating to settlement of certain litigation.
Proxy Statement dated March 16, 2001). 31. Global Settlement Agreement, executed Sept. 9, 2003, in

20. Form of Change-of-Control Employment Security the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of
Agreement, amended effective Dec. 18, 2002 Alabama, and in the Circuit Court of Etowah County,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of Form 10-K Alabama.
for the period ended Dec. 31, 2002, File No. 1-16167). 11 Omitted — Inapplicable; see Item 8 — Note 20 — Earnings

21. Letter Agreement with Frank V. AtLee III (incorporated (Loss) per Share and per Pro Forma Share.
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Amendment No. 1 to 12 Omitted — Inapplicable.
Registration Statement on Form S-1, filed Aug. 30, 2000,

13 Omitted — Inapplicable.File No. 333-36956).
14 Omitted — Inapplicable. Monsanto’s Code of Ethics for Chief21.1. Amendment to Letter Agreement with Frank V. AtLee III,

Executive and Senior Financial Officers is available on oureffective Dec. 18, 2002 (incorporated by reference to
Internet Web site at http://www.monsanto.com.Exhibit 10.22.1 of Form 10-K for the period ended

16 Omitted — Inapplicable.Dec. 31, 2002, File No. 1-16167).

18 Omitted — Inapplicable.21.2 Amendment to Letter Agreement with Frank V. AtLee III,
effective May 29, 2003 (incorporated by reference to 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Exhibit 10.22.2 of Form 10-Q for the period ended

22 Omitted — Inapplicable.
June 30, 2003, File No. 1-16167).

23 1. Consent of Independent Auditors (Monsanto Company).
22. Severance and Consulting Agreement and General Release

2. Consent of Independent Auditors (Renessen LLC).between the Company and Hendrik A. Verfaillie, effective
Feb. 20, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 24 1. Powers of Attorney.
of Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31, 2002, File 2. Certified copy of Board resolution authorizing Form 10-K
No. 1-16167). filing utilizing powers of attorney.

23. Supplemental Retirement Plan Letter Agreement for 31. 1 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification (pursuant to
Charles W. Burson, dated April 7, 2001 (incorporated by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed
reference to Exhibit 10.20 of Form 10-K for the period by Chief Executive Officer).
ended Dec. 31, 2001, File No. 1-16167).

2. Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification (pursuant to
24. Supplemental Retirement Plan Letter Agreement for Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed

Steven L. Engelberg, dated April 22, 1994 (incorporated by Chief Financial Officer).
by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Form 10-K for the period

32 Section 1350 Certifications (pursuant to Section 906 of theended Dec. 31, 2000, File No. 1-16167).
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, executed by Chief Executive

25. Form of Employment Agreement for Executive Officers Officer and the Chief Financial Officer).
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the

99 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.Pharmacia Corporation (f/k/a Monsanto Company)
Form 10-Q for the period ended Sept. 30, 1997, File
No. 1-2516).

26. Amendment to Vesting Schedule of Previously Approved
Supplemental Retirement Benefits, approved by the
People Committee of Pharmacia, Oct. 23, 1997
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the
company’s Form 10-K for the period ended Dec. 31, 2000,
File No. 1-16167).

27. Executive (Split Dollar) Life Insurance Program of
Pharmacia Corporation (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 of the company’s Form 10-K for the period
ended Dec. 31, 2000, File No. 1-16167).
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Trademarks and service marks owned or licensed by Monsanto and its sub-
sidiaries are indicated by special type throughout this publication.

Unless otherwise indicated by the context, references to Roundup products in
this report mean Roundup branded herbicides and other glyphosate-based 
herbicides; all such references exclude lawn-and-garden products.

© 2003 Monsanto Company

Footnotes to 2003 Financial Highlights and charts

(1) Free cash flow represents the total of cash flows from operations and investing
activities.  For 2003, free cash flow was $646 million, with $1,128 million pro-
vided by operations and $(482) million required by investing activities. For
2002, free cash flow was $581 million, with $855 million provided by opera-
tions and $(274) million required by investing activities. For 2001, free cash
flow was $75 million, with $740 million provided by operations and $(665) mil-
lion required by investing activities. Cash provided (required) by financing
activities was $(502) million in 2003, $(711) million in 2002, and $123 million
in 2001. The financial information contained in this footnote refers to the 
12-month periods ended Aug. 31 for the respective years.  

(2) EBIT is earnings (loss) before the cumulative effect of accounting change, inter-
est and income taxes. For 2003, income before the cumulative effect of account-
ing change was $80 million. With net interest expense of $69 million and income
taxes of $34 million, total company EBIT for 2003 was $183 million. For 2002,
income before the cumulative effect of accounting change was $66 million. With
net interest expense of $54 million and income taxes of $17 million, total com-
pany EBIT for 2002 was $137 million. For 2001, income before the cumulative
effect of accounting change was $300 million. With net interest expense of 
$67 million and income taxes of $187 million, total company EBIT for 2001 was
$554 million. The financial information contained in this footnote refers to the
12-month periods ended Aug. 31 for the respective years.  
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